

NOTICE: This opinion is subject to formal revision before publication in the bound volumes of NLRB decisions. Readers are requested to notify the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, Washington, D.C. 20570, of any typographical or other formal errors so that corrections can be included in the bound volumes.

Quickway Transportation, Inc. and Geoffrey Brummett and Donald Ray Hendricks and Warren Tooley and Brent Wilson and General Drivers, Warehousemen and Helpers, Local Union No. 89, affiliated with The International Brotherhood of Teamsters. Cases 09–CA–251857, 09–CA–254584, 09–CA–255813, 09–CA–257750, 09–CA–257961, 09–CA–270326, and 09–CA–272813

August 25, 2023

DECISION AND ORDER

BY MEMBERS KAPLAN, WILCOX, AND PROUTY

On January 4, 2022, Administrative Law Judge Arthur J. Amchan issued the attached decision. The General Counsel and Charging Party General Drivers, Warehousemen and Helpers, Local Union No. 89, affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the Union) filed exceptions and supporting briefs, Quickway Transportation, Inc. (the Respondent) filed answering briefs, and the General Counsel and the Union filed reply briefs. Additionally, the Respondent filed cross-exceptions and a supporting brief, the General Counsel and the Union filed answering briefs, and the Respondent filed reply briefs.

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated its authority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

The Board has considered the decision and the record in light of the exceptions and briefs and has decided to affirm

the judge's rulings,¹ findings,² and conclusions only to the extent consistent with this Decision and Order.³

The primary issue in this case is whether the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5), (3), and (1) of the National Labor Relations Act on December 9, 2020, when it ceased operations at its Louisville, Kentucky terminal and discharged all its drivers at that terminal without bargaining with the Union over the decision. The judge dismissed the allegations that the Respondent's conduct violated the Act because he found that the General Counsel failed to establish that the cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal was an unlawful partial closure under *Textile Workers Union of America v. Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 380 U.S. 263 (1965). For the reasons discussed below, we reverse the judge and find that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal and discharging the drivers and violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to bargain with the Union over its decision to do so and the effects of that decision. Because these unfair labor practices occurred shortly after the Respondent had entered into two informal settlement agreements, we find, contrary to the judge, that the General Counsel properly vacated and set aside those settlement agreements, and, for the reasons discussed below, we find that the Respondent committed a number of unfair labor practices by engaging in conduct covered by those settlement agreements. Finally, for the reasons discussed below, we reverse the judge's finding that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by condoning prior surveillance of employees' union activities and sanctioning further surveillance, but we affirm the judge's finding that the

¹ The Respondent has excepted to several of the judge's rulings excluding testimony and other evidence offered by the Respondent and argues that the judge hampered the development of its defense. However, the Respondent has not shown why the excluded evidence was relevant or how it was prejudiced by the exclusion of that evidence, nor has it alleged that the judge's evidentiary rulings demonstrate bias or prejudice against it. We therefore reject the Respondent's exceptions to the judge's evidentiary rulings. For the same reasons, we also reject the Respondent's exception to the judge's failure to allow the Respondent to subpoena certain evidence from the Union and the other Charging Parties. Finally, we reject the Respondent's exception to the judge's denial of its motion to compel the General Counsel to disclose all exculpatory evidence in her possession because "both the Board and reviewing courts have held that the General Counsel is under no general obligation to disclose any exculpatory evidence uncovered during the pretrial investigation." *Caterpillar, Inc.*, 313 NLRB 626, 627 fn. 4 (1994).

Member Prouty joins in rejecting the Respondent's evidentiary exceptions for the reasons stated above. In addition, he agrees with the judge that evidence regarding if/when a strike authorized by the Respondent's drivers on December 6, 2020, was to occur, what was discussed during the December 6 strike-authorization meeting, and what the Union knew about the media inquiries that raised the possibility of a strike is irrelevant because the Respondent was not aware of such information when it made the decision to cease operations at its Louisville, Kentucky

terminal. See *Philips Industries*, 295 NLRB 717, 718 (1989) ("The issue here turns on employer motivation. An employer cannot be motivated by facts of which it is not aware."); *Levingston Shipbuilding Co.*, 249 NLRB 1, 10 (1980) ("[A] determination of the employer's actual motive can only be based upon facts known to the employer at the time that the decision was made and not upon facts which were later brought to the employer's attention, but had not been taken into consideration in arriving at that decision." (internal quotations omitted)).

² The General Counsel, the Union, and the Respondent have excepted to some of the judge's credibility findings. The Board's established policy is not to overrule an administrative law judge's credibility resolutions unless the clear preponderance of all the relevant evidence convinces us that they are incorrect. *Standard Dry Wall Products*, 91 NLRB 544 (1950), enfd. 188 F.2d 362 (3d Cir. 1951). The judge based his credibility findings on the weight of the evidence, established or admitted facts, inherent probabilities, and reasoned inferences drawn from the record as a whole. We have carefully examined the record and find no basis for reversing these findings.

³ We shall amend the judge's conclusions of law consistent with our findings herein. We shall amend the remedy and modify the judge's recommended order to conform to our findings and legal conclusions herein and to the Board's standard remedial language. We shall substitute a new notice to conform to the Order as modified.

Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by interrogating employees about their union activities.

I. BACKGROUND

A. *The Respondent's Operations*

The Respondent is a commercial motor carrier that is owned as part of an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP). Paladin Capital, Inc. (Paladin) is the holding company for all the business entities that are part of the ESOP. The Respondent is thus an affiliate of Paladin. All employees of Paladin and its affiliates, including the Respondent, are members of the ESOP, which functions as a retirement trust, and those employees receive annual stock distributions to their ESOP accounts. William Prevost is the Chairman of Paladin's Board of Directors and its Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Prevost also serves as the CEO of all of Paladin's affiliates, including the Respondent. Joe Campbell is Paladin's President and Chief Operating Officer (COO).

The Respondent is part of Paladin's Quickway Group of trucking companies, which also includes Paladin affiliates Quickway Services, Inc. and Quickway Carriers, Inc. Chris Cannon is the Vice President of Operations for the Quickway Group. The Quickway Group operates 17 terminals nationwide, 13 of which belong to the Respondent. Approximately 75 to 80 percent of the revenue generated by the Quickway Group comes from services provided to The Kroger Company (Kroger), and nine of the Quickway Group terminals service Kroger exclusively. At some terminals, the Quickway Group affiliates service Kroger without a formal contract.

In 2014, Quickway Logistics, Inc., which is a Paladin affiliate that functions as a third-party logistics service provider, entered into a dedicated contract carrier services agreement with Kroger to provide services at the Kroger Distribution Center in Louisville (the KDC), which supplies 242 Kroger-owned grocery stores in Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, and Tennessee.⁴ Quickway Logistics contracted with the Respondent to perform the services required by the KDC agreement. Pursuant to the KDC agreement, the Respondent, through drivers at its

Louisville terminal,⁵ primarily delivered bulk grocery items from the KDC to Kroger grocery stores but also provided limited inbound delivery services to the KDC. Transervice, whose drivers are represented by the Union, and the Respondent were the primary and secondary dedicated carriers, respectively, at the KDC. Zenith Logistics, whose employees are also represented by the Union, performs the warehouse operations at the KDC. Approximately 96.5 percent of the Respondent's total revenue generated at the Louisville terminal came from the KDC agreement, as that terminal exclusively serviced Kroger.

The Respondent leased the tractors and trailers that it used at the Louisville terminal from fellow Paladin affiliate Capital City Leasing (CCL). CCL maintained a shop of mechanics at the Louisville terminal to perform maintenance and repair work on the equipment leased by the Respondent as well as for the public. The Respondent and CCL shared the cost for leasing the Louisville terminal. That lease expires on August 31, 2024.

B. *The Union's Organizing Drive*

In June 2019, the Union began an organizing campaign at the Louisville terminal by soliciting drivers to sign union authorization cards. The Respondent learned of this campaign shortly thereafter. Over the next several months, the Respondent's managers began discussing the campaign amongst themselves and with employees. In a July 26, 2019 email, Louisville Operations Manager Kerry Evola informed Terminal Manager Chris Higgins and Edwin Marcellino, Vice President of Operations for that terminal and three other terminals, that three employees had separately approached him about the Union within the last week.⁶ The next day, Evola told prounion driver Warren Tooley and two other drivers, "If this place goes union, Bill Prevost will shut it down. He's not going to have another terminal go to the union."⁷ In August 2019, Marcellino asked dispatcher Donald Hendricks if he knew anything about the Union's campaign and for a list of anyone whom Hendricks knew was involved in the union organizing or was a union supporter. Hendricks declined Marcellino's request, noting that he did not think that Marcellino could request such a list.⁸ In an August 15, 2019

⁴ The term of the most recent KDC agreement was from February 4, 2018, to February 3, 2021.

⁵ In early December 2020, the Respondent employed 62 drivers at the Louisville terminal and at that terminal's satellite locations in Versailles and Franklin, Kentucky. References to the Louisville terminal include the satellite locations, and references to the Louisville drivers include the drivers at the satellite locations.

⁶ The Respondent terminated Marcellino in January 2020 and terminated Higgins in June 2020. Evola resigned in June 2020.

⁷ Employees at Quickway Service's terminal in Livonia, Michigan are represented by Teamsters Local 614. Employees at Quickway Carriers' terminals in Lynchburg, Virginia and Shelbyville, Indiana are

represented by Teamsters Local 171 and Teamsters Local 135, respectively. Those three terminals were organized prior to Prevost assuming his current position in 2004. In 2006, employees at the Respondent's terminal in Landover, Maryland selected Teamsters Local 639 as their representative in a Board-conducted election. There are currently collective-bargaining agreements in effect at all four of the unionized terminals mentioned above.

Teamsters Local 135 previously represented employees at the Respondent's terminal in Indianapolis, Indiana, but those employees decertified Teamsters Local 135 in 2008.

⁸ In a December 10, 2019 email explaining to Cannon, Higgins, and Paladin's Human Resources Director, Randy Harris, that Louisville

email to Harris, Quickway Group Vice President of Operations Cannon wrote that they needed to discuss with Marcellino, Higgins, and Evola the “union chatter within our driver ranks” at the Louisville terminal. In September 2019, Higgins told Tooley that if the Louisville terminal went union, the Respondent would have to raise its prices and would probably lose its contract with Kroger, which would probably result in all employees at the terminal losing their jobs. In October 2019, Cannon again emailed other managers that the Respondent needed to address the union talk at the Louisville terminal.

On January 22, 2020,⁹ the Union informed the Respondent that a majority of the Louisville drivers had signed union authorization cards and requested voluntary recognition. The Respondent refused and insisted that the Union file an election petition with the Board.

Over the next few weeks, the Respondent reacted to the Union’s request for voluntary recognition. On January 24, Evola told driver Brent Wilson, three other drivers, and a dispatcher that the Respondent would no longer contribute new shares to the drivers’ ESOP accounts if they selected the Union as their collective-bargaining representative.¹⁰ On January 31, Higgins attached photographs of employees’ personal vehicles with union signs and stickers to an email that he sent to Cannon and other managers.

On March 5, the Union filed with the Board an election petition to represent a unit of drivers and dispatchers at the Respondent’s Louisville terminal.¹¹ In response, on March 11, Cannon sent an email to Prevost requesting permission to use Labor Relations Institute and/or National Labor Relations Advocates—whom he described as ““union busters””—to “help keep our Louisville terminal non-union.” Cannon explained, “The advantage of using these companies is they have the legal right to say what our company cannot say during a union campaign.” Prevost approved Cannon’s request. The Respondent used National Labor Relations Advocates only for a short time but used Labor Relations Institute for the entire campaign. On March 18, Louisville office manager Lori Brown¹² sent an email to Higgins summarizing a conversation about the

management wanted to terminate Hendricks, Marcellino reminded them that the Respondent thought that Hendricks was behind “all the union talk” when it started. By email sent to Prevost on March 18, 2020, Harris referred to Hendricks as “the Louisville Dispatcher who is working with the Union.”

⁹ Hereafter, dates are in 2020 unless otherwise noted.

¹⁰ In response to this statement, Wilson filed an unfair labor practice charge with the Board on February 14 alleging that the Respondent, through Evola, violated Sec. 8(a)(1) by threatening to retaliate against employees if they joined or supported a union. On March 9, Wilson recorded a conversation that he had with Evola, which occurred in the presence of two other employees. During this conversation, Evola stated, “You said I was gonna, uh, retaliate against you if you said something to the Union, you went to the Labor Board about it, yeah you did, so, when

Union that she had with three drivers. Higgins forwarded Brown’s email to Cannon, who responded, “Let Lori know to observe and take notes of the conversations. She does not need to engage and ask questions as she did.”

On May 15, the Acting Regional Director for Region 9 directed a mail-ballot election in the stipulated unit of drivers, with the ballots to be mailed on May 22 and returned by June 19. In a May 28 email, Cannon instructed managers at the Louisville and Murfreesboro, Tennessee terminals to “disconnect any and all Murfreesboro drivers from picking up loads from the KDC” by the following week because “[a]ny Murfreesboro driver that comes on the lot at the KDC is being approached by the union, and we certainly do not want the union to infect our Murfreesboro fleet.”¹³ Louisville and Murfreesboro managers exchanged a series of emails addressing the logistics of transferring to Louisville drivers the KDC loads normally transported by Murfreesboro drivers. By follow-up email on June 8, Cannon requested confirmation from the managers that the Respondent no longer had Murfreesboro drivers going to the KDC.

C. Election Results and Postelection Developments

On June 22, the mail ballots returned by the drivers were counted, and the tally of ballots showed that out of the approximately 69 eligible voters, 25 votes were cast for the Union, and 17 votes were cast against the Union, with 1 challenged ballot, an insufficient number to affect the results of the election.

That same day, Paladin’s President and COO Campbell told Harris and Prevost that the results were a “[t]ough blow” and that he was “[s]urprised and disappointed by the margin of defeat”—which he attributed to “weak leadership at the local level” and lack of attention by higher-level managers. A day later, Prevost sent an email to Cannon and Harris suggesting that the Respondent could ask Kroger to have the loads assigned to the Respondent shuttled from the KDC to the Louisville terminal by a different carrier or a towing company to prevent the Union from picketing at the KDC.

its all over, make sure you’ve got an attorney, because I’m coming back You could’ve got me fired for what you said.” On March 10, the Region dismissed Wilson’s initial charge because Wilson failed to cooperate in the investigation.

¹¹ The Respondent and the Union subsequently stipulated to a unit of only drivers. On May 6, the Union filed a second petition to represent a separate unit of dispatchers, but a majority of the dispatchers did not vote for union representation in the ensuing election.

¹² No party has specifically alleged that Brown is a Sec. 2(11) supervisor, and there is no evidence in the record of her job duties. Thus, we will treat her as an employee.

¹³ Drivers from the Respondent’s Murfreesboro and Indianapolis terminals regularly picked up loads from and/or delivered loads to the KDC.

On June 26, the Respondent filed objections to the election. On July 10, the Regional Director for Region 9 overruled the Respondent's objections and certified the Union as the representative of the unit of drivers at the Louisville terminal. On July 23, the Respondent filed a request for review with the Board.

Prior to the election, Charging Parties Geoffrey Brummett, Donald Ray Hendricks, Warren Tooley, and Brent Wilson filed a series of charges and amended charges against the Respondent alleging, among other things, that the Respondent committed several unfair labor practices during the Union's campaign based on conduct described above. On September 16, the Regional Director approved a bilateral informal settlement agreement between the Respondent and Brummett, Tooley, and Wilson, which settled the allegations in Cases 09-CA-251857, 09-CA-255813, 09-CA-257750, 09-CA-257961, and a unilateral informal settlement agreement, which settled the allegations in Case 09-CA-254584 (collectively, the September 16 settlement agreements).

Also on September 16, Hendricks, who had resigned from his dispatcher position in August, sent an email with the subject "Teamsters is coming for Hebron!" to Cannon, Harris, the new Louisville Terminal Manager Jeff McCurry,¹⁴ and another manager. Hebron, Kentucky, was the location of a new terminal that the Respondent was planning to open in October. Hendricks' email stated that Marcellino had targeted Hendricks for termination because Marcellino mistakenly believed that he was involved with the Union's campaign at the Louisville terminal and that while he was not responsible for that campaign, he was "damn well responsible for Hebron." Harris forwarded Hendricks' email to Prevost and Campbell, and Campbell responded that "[Hendricks] needs a cease and desist order sent or we will sue him for threatening to harm our business."¹⁵

On September 18, while the Respondent's request for review was still pending before the Board, the Union held a "job action" in front of the Louisville terminal. The Union set up a 12-foot inflatable "Fat Cat," spoke with drivers as they entered and exited the terminal, handed out union shirts and informational packets about the status of the Respondent's request for review, and solicited signatures from drivers who were not already union members. McCurry emailed a photograph of the Union's job action to Cannon and other managers, noting that the Union was talking to drivers and that he would "try to find out what

the discussion [was]." Cannon responded that McCurry should also photograph any future union activity at the terminal to document and memorialize it and document any feedback that he received from the drivers regarding what the Union was discussing with them that day. In a follow-up email sent later that day, McCurry wrote, "As far as what [the Union was] discussing with drivers, all of the drivers I spoke with shut them down. The drivers that were coming in this morning were not interested in talking with the [U]nion."

On October 26, the Board denied the Respondent's request for review. The next day, the Union sent a letter to the Respondent requesting available bargaining dates. On November 6, the Respondent agreed to begin bargaining. At their first bargaining session on November 19, the parties exchanged proposals and reached several tentative agreements. They did not discuss economics, but the Union's President and lead negotiator, Fred Zuckerman, informed the Respondent that the Union was adamant about maintaining area standards at the KDC, i.e., the standards set by the Union's collective-bargaining agreement with Transervice. Both parties agreed that this session went well, and they scheduled a second bargaining session for December 10.

D. The Respondent Ceases Operations at the Louisville Terminal

At a December 6 meeting with unit employees to conduct a strike-authorization vote, the Union stated that, if it were to call a strike, Transervice's and Zenith's union-represented employees at the KDC would honor a picket line. A majority of the Louisville drivers present voted to authorize a strike, if the Union deemed it necessary. The Union stated that it had authorized strike benefits for the unit employees of the Respondent, Transervice, and Zenith working at the KDC in the event of a strike by the Respondent's drivers.

On the morning of December 7, Kroger informed the Respondent that it had received an inquiry from a local Louisville television station, WHAS11, about a possible strike by the Respondent's Louisville drivers later in the week.¹⁶ That afternoon, Cannon and Campbell participated in a conference call with five Kroger officials and Zenith's Operations Manager at the KDC, Eddie Byers. They discussed potential mitigation measures, including establishment of a reserved gate or dedicated lane for the Respondent's drivers, and Kroger requested that Byers reach out to the Union about the possible strike. After the

¹⁴ McCurry replaced Higgins as the terminal manager following Higgins' June termination.

¹⁵ The Hebron terminal opened in October. The Respondent temporarily assigned at least two Louisville drivers to that terminal to help get the operations started. One of the two Louisville drivers, Will Arms, was

still working out of the Hebron terminal when the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal, but he was discharged at that time along with the rest of the Louisville drivers.

¹⁶ The WHAS11 inquiry did not contain any additional details about the strike.

conference call, Kroger forwarded to Cannon an inquiry from another local Louisville television station, WDRB, which included the following email that WDRB had received:

On October 26, 2020 truck drivers for quickway Carriers, a contract carrier for Kroger grocery stores, located at 2827 S. English Station Rd., Louisville, KY had their majority vote to unionize with Teamsters local 89 as their representative was formally recognized. This was after a nearly a year of stalling and retaliatory practice implemented by Quickway Carriers against their employees.

To date the company has not negotiated in good faith and today a strike authorization was held with a unanimous decision of drivers present to strike on December 10th, 2020 if the company does not concede to the drivers negotiations efforts.

The next meeting between Teamsters Local 89, Drivers and company officials will be held at the Hilton Garden Inn 2735 Crittenden Dr. Louisville, Ky starting at 0800 on December 10, 2020. At the conclusion of this meeting if company officials refuse to ratify a contract Quickway Carrier Truck Drivers in Louisville will strike.

In recognition, the Teamsters Local 89 Truck Drivers and Warehousemen who work for Transervice and Zenith Logistics which are responsible for the majority of the Kroger Transportation and 100% of warehouse operations will also strike in support of Quickway Carrier drivers.

THIS WILL SHUT DOWN KROGER DISTRIBUTION OPERATIONS IN THEIR ENTIRETY.

(Emphasis and errors in original.) WDRB stated in the inquiry that it could not confirm if the individual who sent this email was involved with the Union.¹⁷

Cannon and the Respondent's attorney, Michael Oesterle, reviewed the Union's collective-bargaining agreement with Transervice and concluded that a reserved gate would not be effective because of the following "Protection of Rights" provision therein:

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement, and it shall not be cause for discharge, disciplinary action or permanent replacement in the event an employee refuses to enter upon any property involved in a primary labor

dispute, or refuses to go through or work behind any primary picket line, including the primary picket lines at the Employer's places of business.

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement and it shall not be cause for discharge, disciplinary action or permanent replacement if any employee refuses to perform any service which his/her Employer undertakes to perform as an ally of an Employer or person whose employees are on strike and which service, but for such strikes, would be performed by the employees of the Employer or person on strike.

Cannon shared this conclusion with Kroger and confirmed that the collective-bargaining agreement between the Union and Zenith contained similar language.

On the morning of December 8, Prevost, Campbell, and Cannon met to discuss the liability that the Respondent could face if the KDC were shut down because of a strike by its drivers. They discussed their beliefs that under the KDC agreement, the Respondent would be responsible for replacing not only its own striking drivers but also any Transervice and Zenith employees who refused to cross a picket line at the KDC—i.e., potentially more than 800 employees among the three employers—and that the Respondent would relatedly be liable for not only any spoiled cargo that may result from its own drivers abandoning loads but also any spoiled cargo resulting from Transervice drivers doing the same or Zenith warehouse workers failing to unload trailers.¹⁸ Based on those beliefs, they estimated that the Respondent potentially could face liability of between \$2–4 million the first day of the strike and more than \$1 million per day thereafter. Prevost and Campbell expressed concern that this potential liability could exceed Paladin's available line of credit and could bankrupt not just the Respondent but also Paladin and all of its other affiliates. Thus, also on December 8, the Respondent requested that Kroger terminate the KDC agreement.¹⁹ Kroger initially refused and said that it expected the Respondent to continue to fulfill its obligations under the KDC agreement. However, on December 9, after a series of back-and-forth telephone calls and emails,

¹⁷ Prior to ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal, the Respondent never learned who alerted WHAS11 and WDRB about a possible strike. At the hearing, Hendricks testified that he sent emails that were substantially similar to the email above to several media outlets and that he based those emails on information that he received from drivers, as he neither attended the December 6 strike-authorization meeting nor received any strike information directly from the Union's representatives.

¹⁸ They claim to have held these beliefs despite that the KDC agreement obligated the Respondent to receive, transport, and deliver only the loads of goods assigned to it and that, according to Campbell, Kroger never indicated that the Respondent would be responsible for the entire KDC operation in the event of a strike by its drivers.

¹⁹ Prevost, Campbell, and Cannon were the only management officials involved in the decision to make this request.

Kroger accepted the Respondent's resignation from the KDC agreement, effective as of 11 p.m. that day.²⁰

In a December 9 email sent at 9:56 p.m., the Respondent informed the Union that it was ending the KDC agreement and would "cease all operations associated with [the KDC] at 11:00 p.m. today." Around the same time, the Respondent informed the Louisville drivers, via email and text message, of the cessation of operations and that they should not report to work. Nonetheless, on December 10, the Respondent and the Union met for their previously scheduled second bargaining session. The Respondent informed the Union that because of its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal, it had permanently laid off all the Louisville drivers as of 11 p.m. the previous day and that it was willing to bargain over only the effects of its decision. The Union insisted on continuing to bargain for a collective-bargaining agreement. Thereafter, the parties had no further bargaining sessions.

Also on December 10, the Respondent dispatched drivers from its Indianapolis terminal to retrieve trailers that it had failed to remove from the KDC the previous day. Two Indianapolis drivers retrieved trailers from a parking lot leased by Kroger at the Kentucky State Fairgrounds, and they were temporarily blocked from exiting that parking lot by Louisville drivers who were picketing there. Indianapolis driver Lewis Johnston retrieved a trailer from the KDC and, after noticing that no Louisville drivers were present there, contacted a Louisville driver, who told him that the Respondent had ceased operations at the Louisville terminal.²¹ At that time, Johnston and two other Indianapolis drivers were working with Teamsters Local 135 organizer Dustin Roach to start a new organizing campaign at the Indianapolis terminal. When Johnston informed those drivers that the Respondent had ceased operations at the Louisville terminal, they both responded, "There goes our campaign." Thereafter, Johnston was the only Indianapolis driver willing to speak with Roach.

Shortly after the cessation of operations, the Respondent returned the 44 trucks that it used at the Louisville terminal to CCL, who sold four of them and transferred the rest to terminals operated by the Respondent or other Paladin affiliates. CCL closed its mechanic shop at the Louisville terminal in February 2021 because it failed to replace the business that it had lost from the Respondent. Thereafter, the Respondent began an effort to sublease the

Louisville terminal building, and on September 30, 2021, it entered into an agreement to sublease that building for the remainder of the term of the lease.

II. CESSATION OF OPERATIONS AT THE LOUISVILLE TERMINAL—8(A)(3) ALLEGATION

A. *The Judge's Decision*

The judge dismissed the allegation that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by ceasing operations at its Louisville terminal and discharging all its Louisville drivers. The judge found that although the Respondent's decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was motivated by a desire to stop recognizing the Union and to avoid further bargaining and would have had a chilling effect on employees at other Paladin affiliates, the General Counsel failed to establish that the Respondent's decision was motivated by a desire to chill unionization at other locations, as required for a partial closure to be unlawful under *Textile Workers Union of America v. Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 380 U.S. 263 (1965). The judge stated that were it not for *Darlington*, he would have found that the Respondent unlawfully ceased its Louisville operations under *Wright Line*, 251 NLRB 1083 (1980) (subsequent history omitted).

B. *The Parties' Contentions*

The General Counsel and the Union argue that the judge erred by finding that *Darlington* applies here. Specifically, the General Counsel claims that the Respondent merely "chose to cease doing business at the Louisville KDC and discharge its unit employees, **not** to close the Louisville terminal" (emphasis in original) and points to *Associated Constructors*, 325 NLRB 998 (1998), enf. sub nom. *O'Dovero v. NLRB*, 193 F.3d 532 (D.C. Cir. 1999), as instructive given the circumstances here. The Union contends that the present case is akin to a "runaway shop" situation. The General Counsel and the Union urge the Board to apply *Wright Line* and/or *NLRB v. Great Dane Trailers, Inc.*, 388 U.S. 26 (1967), and find the Respondent's decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal unlawful. Alternatively, the General Counsel and the Union assert that even if *Darlington* applies, the judge erred by failing to find that the Respondent's decision was motivated at least in part by a desire to chill

²⁰ Kroger's Vice President of Supply Chain Operations, Joe Obermeier, testified that during discussions regarding the possible strike, Cannon stated that he was worried that the Union would insist on terms similar to the Transervice collective-bargaining agreement, as it would have been a problem for the Respondent to agree to such terms. According to Obermeier, in August, Prevost and Cannon similarly informed him that they did not think that the Respondent could agree to terms substantially similar to the Transervice collective-bargaining agreement.

Obermeier also testified that at one point after the election, Cannon suggested having a different Paladin affiliate put in a bid for the Respondent's work at the KDC, but Obermeier rejected this idea.

²¹ Johnston had been the lead employee organizer in Teamsters Local 135's recent campaign to organize the Respondent's Indianapolis drivers, which culminated in a November 2019 election loss for Teamsters Local 135.

unionization at its remaining facilities and at other Paladin affiliates.

The Respondent agrees with the judge that its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was not motivated by a desire to chill unionism at its other terminals and was therefore lawful under *Darlington*.²² However, the Respondent cross-excepts to the judge’s findings that it ceased operations for antiunion reasons and that it was foreseeable that this action would have a chilling effect at other locations. The Respondent argues that it decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal solely because of the potentially catastrophic financial liability and damages that it could have faced under the KDC agreement if the possible strike, raised in the media inquiries that Kroger provided to the Respondent, occurred.

C. *Darlington* Applies to the Present Case

We agree with the judge that the Supreme Court’s decision in *Darlington* applies here. In *Darlington*, the Supreme Court held that “when an employer closes his entire business, even if the liquidation is motivated by vindictiveness toward the union, such action is not an unfair labor practice.” 380 U.S. at 273–274. The Court held further that when an employer closes *part* of its business for antiunion reasons, such a partial closing violates Section 8(a)(3) only “if [it was] motivated by a purpose to chill unionism in any of the remaining plants of the single employer and if the employer may reasonably have foreseen that such closing would likely have that effect.” *Id.* at 275. The Court distinguished complete and partial closings from situations where an employer who has closed a plant or department for antiunion reasons transfers the work to a new or existing employer facility (i.e., a “runaway shop” situation) or begins to use independent contractors to perform the work. See *id.* at 272–273 & fn. 16. Thus, “[b]oth discriminatory relocation of work—the ‘runaway shop’ gambit—and discriminatory subcontracting . . . have been found consistently to violate Section 8(a)(3) when motivated by antiunion animus,” without the need for an

analysis under *Darlington*. *Lear Siegler, Inc.*, 295 NLRB 857, 860 (1989).

The judge correctly found that the Respondent’s cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal constituted a partial closing governed by *Darlington*.²³ Contrary to the assertions of the General Counsel and the Union, the Respondent took steps to permanently close the Louisville terminal. As discussed above, the Respondent’s operations at the Louisville terminal were dedicated exclusively to servicing Kroger under the KDC agreement, and approximately 96.5 percent of the revenue it generated at that terminal came from the KDC agreement. Thus, the Respondent has not performed any work out of the Louisville terminal since it resigned from the KDC agreement. Further, the Respondent returned its 44 leased trucks at the Louisville terminal to CCL, and CCL transferred most of those trucks to terminals operated by the Respondent or other Paladin affiliates and sold the rest. Finally, after CCL ceased its operations at the Louisville terminal in February 2021, the Respondent began to attempt to sublease the terminal building and succeeded in doing so in September 2021.

This case clearly does not, as the Union claims, present a “runaway shop” situation. The Respondent has not transferred or relocated the work that it previously performed out of the Louisville terminal to a new or existing terminal. Neither the Respondent nor any other Paladin affiliate currently performs any of the work previously covered by the KDC agreement.²⁴

Contrary to the General Counsel’s claim, the present case is not analogous to *Associated Constructors*, 325 NLRB 998. That case involved two construction companies—one union and one nonunion—that were a single employer and were intertwined to such an extent that “it [was] not entirely clear what it mean[t] to say that one of them, but not the other, ha[d] ceased operations.” *Id.* at 999. Moreover, one of the owners testified that the union company “was still in existence and could do a project immediately.” *Id.* The Board found that after unlawfully diverting work from the union company to the nonunion

²² The Respondent also asserts that the issue of whether it intended to chill union activity at other terminals is not properly before the Board because the complaint does not allege that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at its Louisville terminal was intended to achieve that end. However, “[t]he complaint need not plead a specific legal theory, as long as it contains ‘a clear and concise description of the acts which are claimed to constitute unfair labor practices.’” *Hawaiian Dredging Construction Co.*, 362 NLRB 81, 82 fn. 6 (2015) (citing Board’s Rules and Regulations, Sec. 102.15), enf. denied and remanded on other grounds 857 F.3d 877 (D.C. Cir. 2017). We find that the complaint here clearly satisfies this requirement.

²³ The Respondent does not claim that its cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal constituted a complete closing under *Darlington*,

as it and other Paladin affiliates still operate numerous terminals across the United States.

²⁴ The Union also asserts that the Board’s decision in *Real Foods Co.*, 350 NLRB 309 (2007), supports applying *Wright Line* here. In *Real Foods*, the Board applied *Wright Line* to an employer decision to close one of its stores, allegedly for remodeling, while the employees at that store were in the midst of a union organizing campaign. See *id.* at 311–312. The remodeling was expected to take 6 months to complete, and the employer planned to reopen the store after its completion. See *id.* at 311. Unlike in *Real Foods*, there is no evidence in the present case that the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal with the understanding that it planned to reopen the terminal at some point in the future. Thus, *Real Foods* does not support applying *Wright Line*, rather than *Darlington*, in the present case.

company, the companies “temporarily stopped doing the kind of work traditionally performed by [the union company’s] employees,” and that the record merely established “a hiatus between projects, not a complete cessation of [the union company’s] operations.” *Id.* at 1000. As discussed above, the record in the present case establishes that the Respondent took steps to permanently close the Louisville terminal. The Respondent is not simply experiencing a temporary hiatus between projects at the Louisville terminal, and it would not be able to immediately resume operations there, as it does not currently have trucks at that location and has subleased the facility.

D. The Respondent Violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) under Darlington

As stated above, under *Darlington*, a partial closure violates Section 8(a)(3) if it was motivated by a purpose to chill unionism in any of the remaining parts of the employer’s business and such a chilling effect was reasonably foreseeable. 380 U.S. at 275. In explaining the standard to be applied for partial closings, the Supreme Court stated as follows:

If the persons exercising control over a plant that is being closed for antiunion reasons (1) have an interest in another business, whether or not affiliated with or engaged in the same line of commercial activity as the closed plant, of sufficient substantiality to give promise of their reaping a benefit from the discouragement of unionization in that business; (2) act to close their plant with the purpose of producing such a result; and (3) occupy a relationship to the other business which makes it realistically foreseeable that its employees will fear that such business will also be closed down if they persist in organizational activities, we think that an unfair labor practice has been made out.

Id. at 275–276. Thus, the General Counsel must satisfy the foregoing elements to establish that a partial closing violated Section 8(a)(3) under *Darlington*, with the threshold element being that the employer closed the relevant part of its

²⁵ The September 16 settlement agreements resolved the allegations that the Respondent violated the Act by engaging in the conduct described above. However, in the complaint, the General Counsel vacated and set aside the September 16 settlement agreements based on the Respondent’s alleged postsettlement unfair labor practices and alleged that the conduct described above violated the Act. “[T]he Board has long held that ‘evidence involved in a settled case may properly be considered as background evidence in determining the motive or object of a respondent in activities occurring either before or after the settlement, which are [currently] in litigation.’” *St. Mary’s Nursing Home*, 342 NLRB 979, 980 (2004) (quoting *Black Entertainment Television*, 324 NLRB 1161, 1163 (1997)) (alteration in original), *affd. mem. sub nom. St. Mary’s Acquisition Co.*, 240 F. App’x 8 (6th Cir. 2007). Thus, at this stage in our analysis, we consider the conduct described above as background

business for antiunion reasons. See *RAV Truck & Trailer Repairs, Inc. and Concrete Express of NY, LLC*, 372 NLRB No. 25, slip op. at 2–3 (2022). The Board will also consider any legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the partial closing offered by the employer. See, e.g., *San Luis Trucking, Inc.*, 352 NLRB 211, 236 (2008) (rejecting the employer’s claim that a partial closure occurred because of financial losses), *reaffd.* and incorporated by reference 356 NLRB 168 (2010), *enfd. mem.* 479 F. App’x 743 (9th Cir. 2012); *Chariot Marine Fabricators*, 335 NLRB 339, 354–357 (2001) (rejecting the employer’s claims that it closed a plant for economic reasons, because it had no work, and because its lease was not going to be extended); *Spring City Knitting Co.*, 285 NLRB 426, 429 (1987) (finding that the employer lawfully closed a plant for economic reasons).

For the reasons discussed below, we find that the General Counsel has established that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all the Louisville drivers violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) under *Darlington*.

1. The Respondent Ceased Operations at the Louisville Terminal for Antiunion Reasons

We agree with the judge that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was motivated by union animus. The Respondent subjected employees to numerous instances of coercive conduct in response to the Union’s organizing campaign at the Louisville terminal, including threatening that if the employees unionized, it would close the Louisville Terminal, lose its contract with Kroger, and stop contributing shares to the employees’ ESOP accounts; asking an employee to make a list of union supporters; and threatening legal action against an employee for filing an unfair labor practice charge with the Board.²⁵ The Respondent’s coercive conduct did not cease after the election. As discussed in more detail below, while the Respondent’s request for review was pending before the Board, it coercively interrogated drivers about their union activities in violation of Section 8(a)(1).²⁶

evidence in determining the Respondent’s motive in ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal. We will address whether the General Counsel properly set aside the September 16 settlement agreements after we determine if the Respondent committed the alleged postsettlement unfair labor practices on which the General Counsel relied to set them aside. See *YMCA of Pikes Peak Region*, 291 NLRB 998, 1010 (1988) (explaining that the alleged postsettlement unfair labor practices must first be considered before determining whether the settlement agreement was properly set aside but that “presettlement conduct may be considered as background evidence in determining the motive for postsettlement conduct”), *enfd.* 914 F.2d 1442 (10th Cir. 1990), *cert. denied* 500 U.S. 904 (1991).

²⁶ The Respondent’s coercive conduct in response to the Union’s organizing campaign at the Louisville terminal was consistent with the

Additionally, the record contains evidence of other conduct by the Respondent that exhibited union animus. “It is well settled that conduct that exhibits animus but that is not independently alleged or found to violate the Act may be used to shed light on the motive for other conduct that is alleged to be unlawful.” *Meritor Automotive, Inc.*, 328 NLRB 813, 813 (1999). Shortly after the Union requested voluntary recognition, Louisville Terminal Manager Higgins took photographs of employees’ personal vehicles that displayed union stickers and signs and emailed those photographs to Quickway Group Vice President of Operations Cannon and other managers. See *The Independent*, 319 NLRB 349, 350 (1995) (finding that by taking photographs of cars that were parked near a union rally, the employer intended to identify union supporters and “reasonably tended to coerce and intimidate employees in the exercise of their right to show their union support”). Soon after the Union filed the election petition to represent the unit of drivers, the Respondent engaged in conduct that signaled its willingness to violate the Act to thwart the drivers’ union activities. Specifically, in a March 11 email to Paladin’s and the Respondent’s CEO, Prevost, requesting permission to hire “union busters,” Cannon expressed his mistaken belief that those “union busters” would be able to engage in conduct that the Act prohibits the Respondent from engaging in itself. Also, around the same time, Cannon directed Higgins to instruct Louisville employee Brown to observe and take notes of employees’ conversations about the Union.²⁷

Finally, the timing of the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal, which occurred only a few weeks after the parties’ first bargaining session, supports a finding that the decision was motivated by union animus. See *Lucky Cab Co.*, 360 NLRB 271, 274 (2014) (finding that the timing of an employer’s adverse action shortly after union activity has occurred may raise an inference of animus and unlawful motivation), *enfd. mem. per curiam* 621 F. App’x 9 (D.C. Cir. 2015). While the parties agreed that the first bargaining session

went well, the Union informed the Respondent during that session that it was adamant about maintaining at the KDC the area standards set by its collective-bargaining agreement with Transervice. Both in August and during discussions regarding the potential strike in December, the Respondent indicated to Kroger that it would have been a problem for it to agree to terms like those in the Union’s collective-bargaining agreement with Transervice. Cannon admitted that the Transervice collective-bargaining agreement “did not fit [the Respondent’s] business model.” Furthermore, Prevost and Paladin’s President and COO, Campbell, both testified that the Respondent’s goal in bargaining was to reach a contract that would allow the Respondent to use its business model to grow its business at the KDC and potentially become the primary carrier there.²⁸ The Respondent would have viewed the Union’s insistence on maintaining area standards at the KDC as having the potential to prevent it from achieving this goal by disrupting its preferred business model. Thus, the timing of the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal just a few weeks after the Union insisted on maintaining area standards, combined with high-level managers’ statements regarding the Transervice collective-bargaining agreement and the Respondent’s business model, support a finding that the Respondent’s decision was made to avoid bargaining with the Union and was thus discriminatorily motivated. See, e.g., *M. Yoseph Bag Co.*, 128 NLRB 211, 213–217 (1960) (finding that the “real motivation” for an employer’s decision to close its plant “was to evade dealing with the [union]” and that the decision was thus discriminatorily motivated where the employer told the union and its employees that it was unable “to meet the wage rates that [the union] would demand”) *enfd. denied and remanded on other grounds* sub nom. *Retail, Wholesale & Department Store Union District 65 v. NLRB*, 294 F.3d 364 (3d Cir. 1961), *reaffd. sub nom. M. Yoseph Bag Co.*, 139 NLRB 1310 (1962).²⁹

Respondent’s conduct in response to an earlier organizing campaign at its terminal in Landover, Maryland. See *Quickway Transportation, Inc.*, 354 NLRB 560 (2009) (finding that both before and after Teamsters Local 639’s successful organizing campaign at the Landover terminal, the Respondent committed numerous unfair labor practices—many of which involved Cannon and/or Prevost—including surveilling employees because of their union activities, creating the impression of surveillance of an employee’s union activities, coercively interrogating an employee, transferring unit work to nonunit owner operators without bargaining with the union, refusing to reinstate former unfair labor practice strikers, and engaging in a retaliatory lockout), *reaffd. and incorporated by reference* 355 NLRB 678 (2010).

²⁷ As discussed in more detail in Sec. V below, the General Counsel amended the complaint at the hearing to allege that Cannon’s instruction to Higgins violated Sec. 8(a)(1), and the judge found the violation.

While, for the reasons discussed below, we reverse the judge’s finding of a violation, we find that this conduct evidenced the Respondent’s willingness to violate the Act to thwart the drivers’ union activities—see, e.g., *ABC Liquors, Inc.*, 263 NLRB 1271, 1278 (1982) (finding that an employer unlawfully “instructed an employee to surveil the union activities of its other employees and to submit reports on the same”)—and thus exhibited union animus on the Respondent’s part.

²⁸ The Respondent acted as the primary carrier at all of its terminals that serviced Kroger except at Louisville and Indianapolis.

²⁹ Our dissenting colleague claims that we misunderstand the impact of the “area standards” statement made by the Union’s President, Zuckerman, at the parties’ lone bargaining session. Specifically, he argues that “the compelling inference to be drawn from Zuckerman’s insistence on maintaining area standards and Quickway’s unwillingness to agree to those terms is that Quickway—and Kroger—knew that Quickway and

Overall, we agree with the judge, for the reasons discussed above, that the possible strike raised in the media inquiries “presented [the Respondent] with the opportunity to do what it preferred to do in any event[:] withdraw its recognition of the Union, terminate its contract with Kroger and lay-off all of its Louisville drivers.” Accordingly, we find that the General Counsel has established that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons.³⁰

2. Persons Exercising Control Over the Louisville Terminal Had Interests in Other Businesses

As required by *Darlington*, the General Counsel has established that “the persons exercising control over” the Louisville terminal had “an interest in another business . . . of sufficient substantiality to give promise of their

Local 89 would not conclude a collective-bargaining agreement at their December 10 meeting, and therefore the threatened strike and shutdown of the KDC *was almost certainly going to happen*” (emphasis in original). This “compelling inference” is part of a novel personal theory that our dissenting colleague has concocted to justify the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal—which we will address below. At this juncture, it is sufficient to point out that this “compelling inference” regarding how the Respondent interpreted Zuckerman’s “area standards” statement is contrary to both the record and the Respondent’s arguments on exceptions. Paladin’s President and COO, Campbell, testified that the Respondent’s negotiations with the Union were not “a factor at all” in its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal, and the Chairman of Paladin’s Board of Directors and Paladin’s and the Respondent’s CEO, Prevost, along with the Quickway Group’s Vice President of Operations, Cannon, testified that they never told Kroger’s Vice President of Supply Chain Operations, Obermeier, that the Respondent could not agree to terms similar to those in the Union’s collective-bargaining agreement with Transervice. Consistent with this testimony by its top management officials, who made the decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal, the Respondent argues vociferously that this decision could not have been influenced by a fear that the Union would insist on maintaining the areas standards set by its collective-bargaining agreement with Transervice. The Respondent’s dogged insistence that such a fear could not have influenced its decision demonstrates that our dissenting colleague’s preferred inference is anything but compelling. Our colleague’s observation that the judge credited Obermeier’s testimony that Prevost and Cannon told him that the Respondent could not agree to terms similar to those in the Union’s agreement with Transervice misses the mark. The point is that the Respondent is arguing (and its top management officials testified) that this did not happen and that the decision to cease operations was not influenced by concerns about the Union’s bargaining demands. Accordingly, we simply cannot reasonably draw an inference that Obermeier’s credited testimony supports a finding that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal for a nondiscriminatory reason.

³⁰ Our dissenting colleague disagrees with our reliance on the evidence of extensive union animus exhibited by the Respondent prior to the election to find that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons. Our dissenting colleague’s arguments are not persuasive.

First, our dissenting colleague argues that the Respondent’s “*post*-election statements and conduct demonstrate that it had turned the page after the Union’s win and was intent on negotiating in good faith for an initial collective-bargaining agreement” (emphasis in original). In support, he relies significantly on statements made by Cannon and Campbell

reaping a benefit from the discouragement of unionization in that business.” 380 U.S. at 275. The Respondent operates several other terminals nationwide. Additionally, the Respondent’s CEO, Prevost, is also the CEO of Paladin and each of the other Paladin affiliates. Further, Cannon, as Vice President of Operations for the Quickway Group, is responsible for not only the Respondent but also Quickway Carriers and Quickway Services.

3. The Respondent was Motivated by a Desire to Chill Unionism at Other Locations

We disagree with the judge that the General Counsel failed to establish a violation under *Darlington* because she did not show that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was motivated, at

immediately after the election that suggested that the Respondent’s next step would be to begin bargaining with the Union. However, the Respondent did not immediately recognize the Union and begin to bargain; instead, it filed objections to the election, and, after the Regional Director overruled those objections, it filed a request for review with the Board. The Respondent was well within its rights to take both actions, but we cannot find, as our dissenting colleague does, any support in the record that the Respondent had “turned the page” and embraced its duty to bargain in good faith when it was challenging the Union’s certification. To the contrary, as discussed in more detail below, while the request for review was pending, the Respondent continued to violate the Act, when, during a “job action” outside the Louisville terminal, Terminal Manager McCurry coercively interrogated employees about their interactions with the Union. Cannon was not only aware of McCurry’s unlawful conduct, but he approved it and encouraged McCurry to document any similar future union activity at the terminal. As a result, Cannon’s and Campbell’s statements immediately after the election do not show that the Respondent had “turned the page” on its animus toward the union at that time. The earliest that it can be said that the Respondent displayed an intent to bargain with the Union was when the Respondent agreed to begin bargaining a little over a month before it decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal. We simply cannot find that in that short period of time the extensive union animus demonstrated by the Respondent’s conduct discussed above dissipated and that the Respondent “turned the page” on its contempt for the Union’s presence at the Louisville terminal, particularly in light of the Union’s insistence on maintaining area standards during the parties’ lone bargaining session.

Second, our dissenting colleague asserts that the events that unfolded in December “severed any linkage” between the extensive union animus demonstrated by the Respondent’s preelection conduct and its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal. We will analyze separately the Respondent’s purported nondiscriminatory reason for deciding to cease operations at the Louisville terminal in Sec. II.D.5 below. It is enough for us to note at this point that the events in December did not sever the link between the Respondent’s union animus and its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal because, as discussed in detail below, the Respondent’s claim that it ceased operations at the Louisville terminal to avoid catastrophic financial liability and damages under the KDC agreement that it feared could have resulted from a potential strike by the Union in December is false and pretextual, which further supports our finding that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was discriminatorily motivated. See, e.g., *Lucky Cab*, 360 NLRB at 274–275 (explaining that evidence of pretext supports a finding of discriminatory motivation).

least in part, by a purpose to chill unionism at the Respondent's other terminals and at other Paladin affiliates.

The Board has specified that an employer's desire to chill unionism at other plants or locations need only be a partial motive—not its “‘primary’ or ‘predominant’ motive.” *Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 165 NLRB 1074, 1084 & fn. 19 (1967), *enfd.* 397 F.2d 760 (4th Cir. 1968), *cert. denied* 393 U.S. 1023 (1969). The Board has also specified that while proof of one antiunion motive for a partial closing does not ipso facto establish the existence of a second antiunion purpose to chill unionism at the employer's other plants or locations, “depending on all the facts and circumstances, it would indicate a disposition toward the other and be sufficient to support a logical inference.” *George Lithograph Co.*, 204 NLRB 431, 431 (1973) (citing *Darlington*, 165 NLRB 1074). Additionally, “in determining whether or not the proscribed ‘chilling’ motivation and its reasonably foreseeable effect can be inferred” in the absence of direct evidence, the Board considers “the presence or absence of several factors including, *inter alia*, contemporaneous union activity at the employer's remaining facilities, geographic proximity of the employer's facilities to the closed operation, the likelihood that employees will learn of the circumstances surrounding the employer's unlawful conduct through employee interchange or contact, and, of course, representations made by the employer's officials and supervisors to the other employees.” *Bruce Duncan Co.*, 233 NLRB 1243, 1243 (1977), *enfd. denied in part on other grounds* 590 F.2d 1304 (4th Cir. 1979).

As discussed above, the General Counsel has convincingly established that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons. We find that this discriminatory motive indicates a disposition toward a second antiunion purpose to chill unionism at its other terminals and at other Paladin affiliates and supports a logical inference of the existence of that second purpose in light of the circumstances discussed below.

We recognize that there is no credited evidence that the Respondent had actual knowledge of an active union campaign at any of its other terminals or at any other Paladin affiliate when it decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal.³¹ However, the Board has explained that just as an employer's knowledge of actual union activity aimed at employees in other parts of its operations can

provide a basis for inferring an intention to chill those employees, so can an employer's belief that such union activity may be imminent. *Darlington*, 165 NLRB at 1084 (“If employer knowledge of actual union activity aimed at other employees can provide a legitimate foundation for inferring an intention to chill those employees, it would seem that the inference would be no less warranted where the evidence establishes a strong employer belief that the union is intending imminently to organize the employees in his other operations. Since our central concern is with the employer's motive, the *fact* of impending organization is not significant; his *belief* in the existence of that fact is what matters.” (emphasis in original)). At the time that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal, it was aware that drivers at its Indianapolis terminal had tried to unionize a little over a year earlier, and it was on notice that those drivers could petition for a new election.³² Additionally, less than 3 months before the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal, former Louisville dispatcher Hendricks sent an email to the Respondent warning that the Union was “coming for” the Respondent's Hebron terminal and that he would be responsible for the Union initiating a campaign there. The record shows that the Respondent suspected that Hendricks was behind the Union's summer 2019 campaign activity at the Louisville terminal and later identified him as “the Louisville Dispatcher who is working with the Union.”³³ Thus, we find that the Respondent would have treated Hendricks' warning as credible.

More importantly, the General Counsel has shown that the Respondent feared that the union organizing campaign at the Louisville terminal would “infect” its drivers at other terminals and was determined to prevent the spread of the union “infect[ion].” Specifically, in May, this fear prompted Cannon to order that the Respondent's Murfreesboro terminal drivers stop picking up loads at the KDC. The Union had been approaching Murfreesboro drivers at the KDC, and according to Cannon, the Respondent “certainly [did] not want the [U]nion to infect [its] Murfreesboro fleet.” Cannon was so concerned about the union “infect[ion]” spreading to the Murfreesboro terminal that he instructed the managers at the Louisville and Murfreesboro terminals to work out the logistics of transferring to Louisville drivers the loads normally picked up from the KDC by Murfreesboro drivers by the following

³¹ The judge did not credit the testimony of Indianapolis driver Johnston that he had told the Indianapolis terminal manager about the renewed organizing campaign there. As stated above, we have found no basis for reversing the judge's credibility findings.

³² In August, Labor Relations Institute emailed the Respondent to inquire whether the Respondent was interested in its services at the Indianapolis terminal since the “union [could] come knocking again” in November. Quickway Group Vice President of Operations Cannon

forwarded that email to Paladin's HR Director, Harris, who responded that he was not impressed with Labor Relations Institute's performance in Louisville but did not indicate that he was unconcerned about a renewed organizing drive at the Indianapolis terminal.

³³ The Respondent describes Hendricks as “an ardent union supporter . . . who remained actively involved in Local 89's ongoing activity with Respondent's employees” in its Brief in Support of Cross-Exceptions.

week—in other words, within only a few days, as Cannon gave this instruction on a Thursday. Cannon followed up a little over a week later to make sure that Murfreesboro drivers were no longer going to the KDC.

Nothing in the record suggests that the Respondent’s desire to prevent the spread of the union activity beyond the Louisville terminal abated by December. To the contrary, the record evidence suggests that the Respondent’s awareness that the Indianapolis drivers could file a new election petition and its receipt of Hendricks’ warning that the Union was “coming for” the Hebron terminal would have strengthened its resolve to stop the spread of the union activity. The Respondent was clearly not happy about the election results at the Louisville terminal, as evidenced by Paladin’s President and COO, Campbell, describing those results as a “[t]ough blow” and stating that he was “[s]urprised and disappointed.” The Respondent continued to commit unfair labor practices following the election, as Louisville Terminal Manager McCurry coercively interrogated drivers about their union activities in September when the Union conducted a job action outside the Louisville terminal. Cannon did not discourage those coercive interrogations; he instead endorsed McCurry’s unlawful conduct by instructing him to document what he learned about the drivers’ interactions with the Union during the job action and encouraged him to document any similar union activity in the future. The Respondent was also displeased with Hendricks’ warning about organizing the Hebron terminal, as Campbell suggested that in

response the Respondent should threaten to sue Hendricks for harming its business.³⁴

As to geographic proximity, the Respondent’s Louisville terminal was only 90 to 110 miles away from the Hebron and Indianapolis terminals. More significantly, Paladin affiliate CCL, whose CEO is also Prevost, maintained a mechanic shop in the Louisville terminal building and performed maintenance and repair work on the trucks and other equipment used by the Louisville drivers. In *George Lithograph*, the Board found that it could reasonably infer that an employer’s closure of its mailing division for the purpose of blocking a union from organizing the division was also intended to chill its remaining employees particularly because “the mailing division was located in the same building as [the employer’s] other business operations, was serviced by several other departments, and was operated under the same immediate management.” 204 NLRB at 431. The fact that CCL’s Louisville mechanic shop was located in the Louisville terminal, combined with the proximity of that terminal to other terminals, similarly supports such a reasonable inference here.³⁵

Finally, the Respondent would have known that employees at its other terminals would learn of its cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal. On the day after its closure of the Louisville terminal, the Respondent sent at least three Indianapolis drivers—one of whom was the lead employee organizer and Teamsters Local 135’s election observer during the 2019 organizing campaign at the

³⁴ We note that the Board’s decision in *Darlington*, 165 NLRB 1074, does not require a showing that the Respondent believed that the Union was targeting a specific terminal in order to establish a basis for inferring that the Respondent’s closing of the Louisville terminal was intended to chill employees in other parts of its operations. In *Darlington*, the Board found that the General Counsel established a basis to infer that the employer intended to chill employees in other parts of its operations where the employer’s owner’s speeches and written messages established his belief that, as a general matter, “the unions were in the process of mounting a ‘tremendous’ campaign throughout the Southern area, and his grave concern about that campaign.” *Id.* at 1080, 1084. There was no indication in the Board’s decision that the employer’s owner believed that any union was targeting a specific textile factory in his operations or was even targeting his operations in particular, as opposed to the textile industry in the southern United States in general. Here, Cannon’s statements in May establish that the Respondent feared that unionization would spread beyond the Louisville terminal and “infect” its other terminals and that it intended to prevent union activity from spreading beyond the Louisville terminal. As discussed above, nothing in the record suggests that the Respondent’s desire to prevent its feared spread of union “infect[ion]” beyond Louisville abated by December. Instead, the Respondent’s awareness that the Indianapolis drivers could file a new election petition, along with its receipt of Hendricks’ warning that the Hebron terminal would also be organized, reinforced its resolve to prevent this spread. The decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal presented the Respondent with the opportunity to not only extinguish its obligation to bargain with the Union at that terminal but to also rid itself of the fear of union activity spreading beyond Louisville by

clearly displaying to its nonunion terminals the consequences of unionization. The Respondent seized that opportunity.

³⁵ Our dissenting colleague suggests that “were Quickway to file a petition for review” in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, “it is hard to fathom that the court would infer a purpose to chill unionism among CCL’s employees based on nothing more than the fact that CCL and Quickway shared the same facility” given its decision in *RAV Truck & Trailer Repairs, Inc. v. NLRB*, 997 F.3d 314 (D.C. Cir. 2021). But the issue of what conclusion can be drawn from nothing more than the sharing of a facility was not an issue the court opined on in *RAV*, nor will it be at issue here in the event of enforcement proceedings. In *RAV*, the D.C. Circuit merely remanded for further explanation of the Board’s determination that the employer violated Sec. 8(a)(3) under *Darlington* by closing a portion of its business. See *id.* at 327. On remand, the Board, including our dissenting colleague, reaffirmed its conclusion that the employer violated Sec. 8(a)(3) under *Darlington* by closing a portion of its business, and the Board relied, in part, on the fact that the employees in the closed portion of its business shared a facility with employees in another part of the employer’s business in finding that the employer was motivated by a purpose to chill unionism among its remaining employees—just as we do here. See *RAV Truck & Trailer Repairs, Inc. and Concrete Express of NY, LLC*, 372 NLRB No. 25, slip op. at 3–5 (2022). We rely on the fact that the Respondent and CCL shared the Louisville terminal, along with all of the other evidence discussed in this subsection of our decision, to find that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was motivated by a purpose to chill unionism among the remaining employees of the Respondent and Paladin.

Indianapolis terminal—to Louisville to pick up trailers. The drivers who retrieved trailers from the Kentucky State Fairgrounds had to cross the Union’s picket line there. See *Plastics Transport Inc.*, 193 NLRB 54, 58 (1971) (finding that “by the closure of the Waterman plant [the employers] must have succeeded in ‘chilling’ unionism among the Portage drivers it brought down to cross the picket line and remove the equipment”). Moreover, Indianapolis drivers regularly delivered and picked up loads at the KDC, and nothing in the record suggests that they stopped doing so after the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal. Those drivers would have noticed that Louisville drivers were no longer picking up loads at the KDC and likely would have inquired to find out why. Accordingly, the Respondent clearly would have known that drivers from the Indianapolis terminal—including Johnston, the most prominent union supporter at that terminal—would learn of the closure of the Louisville terminal.³⁶ In addition, a Louisville driver was temporarily working at the Hebron terminal in December, so the Respondent would have been aware that the Hebron drivers would learn of the cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal when that Louisville driver abruptly stopped reporting to work at the Hebron terminal. Because the Respondent knew that employees at its other terminals would learn of its cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal, the chilling effect of that conduct on those employees was entirely foreseeable, which further supports an inference that this chilling effect was an intended consequence of its actions. See *George Lithograph*, 204 NLRB at 431–432 (inferring that the chilling effect of the employer’s closure of its mailing division on its remaining employees was “an intended consequence of that conduct” where the chilling effect was “entirely foreseeable”).

For all the reasons discussed above, we find that the General Counsel established that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was motivated, at least in part, by a desire to chill unionism at its other terminals and at other Paladin affiliates.

³⁶ In arguing that there was little likelihood that drivers at the Indianapolis terminal would learn of the circumstances of the closure of the Louisville terminal, our dissenting colleague primarily focuses on what the Indianapolis drivers, whom the Respondent sent to pick up trailers, actually learned while in Louisville on December 10. We do not find that evidence to be particularly relevant to this inquiry, as the Respondent was not aware of what the drivers learned when they travelled to Louisville on December 10. In our view, by simply sending Indianapolis drivers to Louisville to pick up trailers the day after ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal, the Respondent would have known that those drivers were likely to learn what had happened there. In any event, the record does indeed establish that Indianapolis drivers learned what happened at the Louisville terminal as a result of the Respondent sending certain drivers to Louisville to pick up trailers. Our dissenting colleague asserts that

4. Chilling Effect at Other Locations was Reasonably Foreseeable

We agree with the judge that it was foreseeable that the Respondent’s decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal would have had the effect of chilling unionism at the Respondent’s other terminals and at other Paladin affiliates. Although the Board does not require evidence of an actual chilling effect on the remaining employees to establish this element,³⁷ in fact, the closure of the Louisville terminal extinguished the renewed organizing campaign at the Indianapolis terminal. As discussed above, a few Indianapolis drivers were working with a Teamsters Local 135 organizer to start a new campaign at the Indianapolis terminal. However, after the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal, two of the three Indianapolis drivers involved in this budding unionization effort dejectedly concluded that “[t]here goes our campaign,” and Johnston was the only driver willing to continue speaking to the organizer.

Additionally, as explained above, it was not just reasonably foreseeable but entirely foreseeable that the drivers at the Indianapolis and Hebron terminals would learn of the cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal and be chilled by it. Further, the fact that the Respondent and CCL’s Louisville mechanic shop shared the Louisville terminal building would have made the chilling effect on CCL’s mechanics reasonably foreseeable as well. See *Chariot Marine Fabricators*, 335 NLRB at 353–354 (finding that a chilling effect was reasonably foreseeable where the closed business shared a facility with a closely related business); *George Lithograph*, 204 NLRB at 431–432 (finding that a chilling effect was reasonably foreseeable where the closed mailing division was in the same building as the employer’s other business operations).

5. The Respondent Did Not Cease Operations at the Louisville Terminal for a Nondiscriminatory Reason

The Respondent claims that its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal had nothing to do with union activity at that terminal or at any other facility under

“Johnston learned nothing about the ‘circumstances surrounding’ the terminal’s closure” from the “bare news” that it had closed. However, he concedes, as he must, that “Johnston learned more during a subsequent conference call.” After calling a Louisville driver to inquire why no Louisville drivers were present at the KDC, Johnston joined a conference call with six or seven Louisville drivers and their union business agent to discuss the situation. Johnston relayed what he learned to two of his Indianapolis colleagues who were working with him to start a new union campaign at their terminal. The record establishes that Johnston and those two drivers understood all too well the circumstances surrounding the closure of the Louisville terminal, as only Johnston was willing to speak to the Teamsters Local 135 organizer after December 10.

³⁷ See *George Lithograph*, 204 NLRB at 431.

the Paladin umbrella. The Respondent claims instead that this decision was the only way to ensure that it would not face the potentially catastrophic financial liability and damages under the KDC agreement that it feared could have resulted from the strike raised in the media inquiries that Kroger received from two local television stations in Louisville.³⁸ As explained below, we find that the record evidence does not establish that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal for this reason.

As an initial matter, the Respondent did not have a reasonable belief based solely on the media inquiries that the Union had threatened that the Respondent's Louisville drivers would strike on December 10 if the Respondent did not agree to the Union's bargaining proposal. Neither of the media inquiries indicated from whom the local Louisville television stations received the information about the possible strike, and the WDRB inquiry specifically stated that WDRB could not confirm if the person who provided the information was involved with the Union. In fact, Paladin's and the Respondent's CEO, Prevost, admitted that he did not know where the information in the media inquiries came from. The Respondent did not contact the Union to determine if the Union was the source of the information in the media inquiries or to verify if the information was accurate, nor did the Respondent attempt to verify the accuracy of the information in any other

manner.³⁹ Thus, the Respondent did nothing to verify the source or accuracy of the information on which it allegedly relied to close a profitable terminal. In these circumstances—even considering the level of specificity in the WDRB inquiry—the Respondent did not have a reasonable belief that the Union made the threat to strike raised in the media inquiries. See *Alstyle Apparel*, 351 NLRB 1287, 1287–1288 (2007) (finding that the employer “did not discharge the employees based on a reasonable belief of misconduct” where it conducted only a limited investigation and did not give the discharged employees an opportunity to explain the allegations against them); *Midnight Rose Hotel & Casino*, 343 NLRB 1003, 1005 (2004) (rejecting the employer's reasonable-belief defense where the employer did not conduct a fair investigation or give the employee the opportunity to explain her actions), *enfd.* mem. 198 F. App'x 752 (10th Cir. 2006).⁴⁰

Regardless, even assuming *arguendo* the Respondent had a reasonable belief that the Union made the threat to strike raised in the media inquiries, the record evidence does not establish that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal to avoid the potential liability and damages that it feared could have resulted from that possible strike.

The Respondent claims that it resigned from the KDC agreement and removed itself completely from the KDC premises because that was the *only* way to avoid the

³⁸ The Respondent argues that the media inquiries contained a threat to strike by the Union that was designed to achieve a secondary objective proscribed by Sec. 8(b)(4) and that was therefore unprotected by the Act. See *Teamsters Local 126 (Ready Mixed Concrete)*, 200 NLRB 253, 253 fn. 2 (1972) (“A threat to an employer to picket is itself coercive, whether or not the picketing is subsequently instituted, and if the threat is intended to achieve an object prohibited by Sec[.] 8(b)(4)(B), . . . it is violative of Sec[.] 8(b)(4)(ii)(B).”). We find it unnecessary to pass on the Respondent's argument. Even assuming the message contained in the media inquiries would have constituted an unprotected threat, for the reasons discussed below, the record evidence does not establish that the Respondent had a reasonable belief that the Union was the source of the information in the media inquiries or that the Respondent decided to cease operations at the Louisville terminal to avoid potentially catastrophic liability and damages that it feared could have resulted from a strike.

³⁹ The Respondent asserts that the Union should have reached out to the Respondent if the information in the media inquiries was inaccurate. However, the Respondent did not know if the television stations had sent inquiries to the Union. Moreover, the Union had no obligation to reach out to the Respondent about the inquiries.

Our dissenting colleague argues that the Respondent was correct to assume that the television stations contacted the Union because they could not have run news stories about the potential strike unless they sought confirmation from the Union. However, there is no evidence that either WDRB or WHAS11 ran news stories about the potential strike prior to the Respondent ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal or that the Respondent was aware of such news stories. The only evidence of contemporaneous news coverage of the events in this case is a transcript of WHAS11's news broadcast at 5:30 p.m., on December 10,

which discussed the Respondent's decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal.

The Respondent also claims that it was concerned that if it contacted the Union about the media inquiries, the Union may have initiated the strike sooner. Putting aside the doubtful idea that the Respondent believed that the Union announced the strike to local television stations but was trying to keep it secret from the Respondent, the Respondent knew of, but did not take issue with, Kroger asking Zenith to reach out to the Union about the possible strike.

⁴⁰ Our dissenting colleague argues that these cases are inapposite because employees facing discharge have an incentive to exculpate themselves, while the Union had an incentive to maintain the element of surprise. We find this argument unpersuasive because our dissenting colleague simply has not explained how the Respondent could have reasonably believed that the Union informed local Louisville news media of its plan to strike while it simultaneously sought to maintain the element of surprise. If the Respondent did not believe that the Union provided this information to the local news media, then it was even more imperative that the Respondent contact the Union to verify if the Union had indeed threatened to strike in a manner designed to achieve a secondary objective proscribed by Sec. 8(b)(4). Our colleague calls it “naïve” to believe that the Respondent could have expected to get a truthful answer if it had asked the Union about the media's strike inquiries, and contends that the Respondent reasonably believed that the failure of the Union to reach out and deny that there was going to be a strike suggested to the Respondent “that a strike was indeed imminent.” We do not agree. To the contrary, we believe it naïve to accept that an employer closed down a profitable facility employing 62 drivers to avoid a potential strike that it heard about through media inquiries without making any effort to contact the union in order to assess the secondhand reports.

catastrophic liability and damages that it feared could have resulted from the possible strike. The Respondent asserts that it considered using a reserved gate but concluded that a reserved gate would not have prevented the Union from shutting down the KDC because the “Protection of Rights” provisions in the Union’s collective-bargaining agreements with Transervice and Zenith gave the Transervice and Zenith employees working out of the KDC the right to refuse to cross or work behind a picket line. However, on June 23, Prevost sent an email to Quickway Group Vice President of Operations Cannon and Paladin HR Director Harris suggesting that the Respondent could ask Kroger to have the loads assigned to the Respondent shuttled from the KDC to the Louisville terminal by a different carrier or a towing company to prevent the Union from picketing at the KDC. However, the Respondent did not even consider this earlier suggestion by Prevost after it became aware of the media inquiries in December.⁴¹ Thus, the Respondent decided to completely cease operations at its profitable Louisville terminal without even considering an alternative course of action that less than 6 months earlier its highest ranking official suggested would have prevented the Union from picketing at the KDC—and therefore would have prevented the Union from shutting down the KDC.⁴² Accordingly, the Respondent’s claim that it believed that its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was the *only* way to ensure that it would avoid the potential liability and damages that it feared could have resulted from the strike raised in the media inquiries is simply inconsistent with the record before us.

⁴¹ Cannon and Paladin’s President and COO, Campbell, testified that they discussed mitigation measures, including the possibility of setting up a reserved gate at the KDC, with Kroger and Zenith officials during a conference call on December 7, and Cannon testified that he discussed the possibility of a reserved gate with the Respondent’s attorney throughout the day on December 7. However, neither of them indicated that they ever considered Prevost’s earlier suggestion to have Kroger arrange for a third party to shuttle the Respondent’s loads from the KDC to the Louisville terminal to prevent the Union from picketing at the KDC. Additionally, Prevost testified that on the morning of December 8, Cannon informed him that a reserved gate would not work at the KDC and that the only option was, therefore, to terminate the KDC agreement, but Prevost did not indicate that they considered his earlier suggestion for preventing the Union from picketing at the KDC. Overall, the record evidence shows that the Respondent reached the conclusion that the only way to prevent the Union from shutting down the KDC was to terminate the KDC agreement merely because it believed that a reserved gate would not work and that it reached that conclusion without considering any other alternatives.

⁴² The Respondent asserts in its brief in support of cross-exceptions that Prevost’s suggestion would not have prevented the Union from shutting down the KDC because the entity shuttling the Respondent’s loads from the KDC to the Louisville terminal would have been considered the Respondent’s “ally” and thus would have been subject to primary picketing. However, the Respondent failed to provide any support for this

assertion. More importantly, the record evidence does not show that the feared catastrophic liability and damages—which the Respondent claims would have jeopardized the viability of the whole Paladin enterprise and thus motivated it to close the Louisville terminal—could have resulted from the potential strike raised in the media inquiries. In estimating the possible liability and damages, the Respondent made a number of assumptions, including (1) that all of its drivers and all of the Transervice and Zenith employees at the KDC would have refused to work as a result of the strike; (2) that those employees would have abandoned loads of cargo, causing them to spoil on the first day of the strike; and (3) that the Respondent would have been responsible for replacing all of its employees and all Transervice and Zenith employees that refused to work at the KDC and for any losses suffered by Kroger as a result of those employees refusing to work. The judge found these assumptions to be unreasonable and unwarranted, but the Respondent argues that it was simply considering the downside risks of the strike. In a worst-case scenario, the first two assumptions could have possibly come to pass—even if such a scenario was highly unlikely. However, the Respondent has failed to show how it could have been responsible for replacing any Transervice or Zenith employees who refused to work or for any losses that Kroger would have suffered because of their refusal to work.

During the discussions regarding the possible strike raised in the media inquiries, Kroger Vice President of Supply Chain Operations Obermeier told the Respondent that Kroger expected the Respondent to uphold the KDC agreement and continue to service Kroger’s stores. In a

assertion. Our dissenting colleague has attempted to remedy this deficiency in the Respondent’s argument by providing a rationale in support of this unsupported assertion. Unlike our dissenting colleague, we will not engage in a hypothetical analysis of factual circumstances that are not before the Board in this case. It is beside the point whether a third party shuttling the loads assigned to the Respondent from the KDC to the Louisville terminal would have qualified as an “ally” under relevant Board precedent. As discussed above, what is important is that, in June, Prevost—who oversaw the entire Paladin enterprise and was ultimately responsible for making the decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal—*believed* that the Respondent could prevent the Union from picketing at the KDC by asking Kroger to have a third party shuttle the loads assigned to the Respondent from the KDC to the Louisville terminal. When the Respondent was actually presented with the possibility of the Union picketing at the KDC less than 6 months later and had discussions about how to mitigate the potential effects if it were to occur, there is no evidence that Prevost or any other Paladin or Respondent official even considered this option, let alone concluded that this option would not have prevented the Union from picketing at the KDC. Contrary to our dissenting colleague, given those circumstances, we find the lack of such evidence relevant to assessing the veracity of the Respondent’s claim that it resigned from the KDC agreement because it believed that this was the *only* way to avoid the liability and damages that it claimed could have resulted from a strike.

December 8 letter that was emailed to Prevost, Obermeier similarly stated that “Kroger is requesting that you immediately provide assurances that [the Respondent] can and will meet all of its contractual commitments and obligations for any assignments Kroger may choose to make under the [KDC] agreement.” The KDC agreement obligated the Respondent to receive, transport, and deliver the loads of goods assigned to it. The Respondent has not identified any provision in the KDC agreement that would have made it liable for the failure of Transervice and Zenith to satisfy their obligations at the KDC. Further, there is no evidence that the Respondent would have been obligated to hire replacements if Transervice’s or Zenith’s employees refused to work because of a strike by the Respondent’s drivers. To the contrary, Obermeier testified that in the event of a strike, it would have been up to the providers to continue servicing Kroger’s stores and to hire replacements; he did not single out the Respondent. In fact, Paladin’s President and COO, Campbell, admitted that Obermeier never said that the Respondent would be responsible for the entire KDC operation if a strike by the Respondent’s drivers prompted all of Transervice’s and Zenith’s employees at the KDC to refuse to work.

While our dissenting colleague implicitly acknowledges that the Respondent may have overestimated its predicted losses, he nonetheless puts forward several arguments in an attempt to show that the Respondent’s fears that it could have been liable for Transervice’s and Zenith’s failures to perform their obligations at the KDC were not completely unfounded. We find his arguments unpersuasive for the following reasons.

First, our dissenting colleague speculates that if Transervice’s drivers had refused to cross a picket line initiated by the Respondent’s drivers, Transervice likely would have assigned as many loads as possible to the Respondent, with the apparent implication that the Respondent would have been overwhelmed by the number of loads assigned to it in those circumstances. As an initial matter, the Respondent does not argue that it feared being overwhelmed if Transervice were to assign loads to the Respondent that Transervice normally would have delivered itself. The Respondent instead argues, without support, that it would have been responsible for replacing Transervice’s drivers and for any losses suffered by Kroger as a result of those employees refusing to work. We are unsurprised that the Respondent has failed to advance our dissenting colleague’s implicit argument, as the terms of the KDC agreement foreclose that argument.

Paragraph 3.1 of the KDC agreement obligated the Respondent to “transport and deliver” loads of goods “to and between those points designated by [Kroger],” as required by Kroger, and specified that the Respondent would

perform those services in accordance with the service standards set forth in Schedule B, which was attached to the KDC agreement. Schedule B did state, under the “Dispatch and backhaul” heading, that “[e]very load is assigned by Transervice” at the KDC. However, Schedule B stated further, under the “Capacity commitment” heading, that the Respondent “is required to accept all shipments up to the forecasted volume” provided by Kroger 1–2 weeks prior to the ship date (with an accompanying chart displaying the average loads and miles per day) and that “[f]or all shipments over the [Respondent’s] driver commitment, [the Respondent] will receive the surge premium laid out in the rate sheet.” Thus, while the Respondent *could* transport loads in excess of its capacity limit and receive a surge premium for doing so, it was only *required* to accept all assigned loads up to its capacity limit. Kroger’s delegation of the assignment function at the KDC to Transervice did not give Transervice authority to require the Respondent to accept loads in excess of its capacity limit because the “Capacity commitment” section of Schedule B would have otherwise been rendered superfluous. Further, Kroger could not have delegated to Transervice assignment authority that the KDC agreement did not reserve to Kroger in the first place.

That our interpretation of the KDC agreement is the only reasonable one is reinforced by Schedule A of the agreement, which stated, under the “Capacity guarantee” heading, that the Respondent “will guarantee capacity . . . to meet forecasted volume up to the agreed capacity limit,” which was a percentage of average daily volume, and that the Respondent was responsible for any additional costs incurred by Kroger if it failed to meet the forecasted demand. Schedule A stated further that “[s]hipments tendered in excess of the forecast or beyond the capacity limit may still be moved by [the Respondent] but no penalties will apply.” Accordingly, the Respondent was liable for any loads assigned to it up to its capacity limit, and, while it was able to deliver loads in excess of its capacity limit, it was not liable for any costs incurred by Kroger if it could not deliver the over-capacity loads. Logically then, Transervice could not have simply pushed its loads onto the Respondent to absolve itself of liability in the event that its drivers refused to cross a picket line.

Second, our dissenting colleague speculates that if Zenith did not hire replacement workers, then the Respondent may have had to staff the KDC itself because otherwise there would have been no one to load the trailers assigned to the Respondent. The fatal flaw in this speculation is that the KDC agreement did not require the Respondent to ensure that the trailers were loaded for delivery. In fact, paragraph 3.5 of the KDC agreement specified that the Respondent’s “duties and responsibilities under this

Agreement will commence when [the Respondent] takes possession or control of [Kroger's], or a third party's, property, or upon the execution of a shipping document by [the Respondent], whichever occurs first." The Respondent would not have been able to take possession of Kroger's property if Zenith's warehouse employees did not load the trailers, and, as a result, the Respondent's duties and responsibilities under the KDC agreement would not have commenced in those circumstances. Schedule B of the KDC agreement indicates even more clearly that it was not the Respondent's obligation to load the trailers, as it states, under the "Pickup and delivery" heading, that a "Kroger representative pre-loads and braces all cargo at the [KDC] prior to driver arrival for pickup."

Our dissenting colleague argues that "[i]n estimating its potential losses, Quickway could have reasonably decided that paragraph 3.5 might not provide it a winning defense" (emphasis in original), and that the Respondent would not have risked its overall relationship with Kroger "in doubtful reliance on paragraph 3.5." The Respondent has not raised either of those arguments, however. The Respondent claims that it would have been directly liable for any losses that Kroger suffered as a result of Zenith's KDC employees refusing to cross a picket line, not that it would have had to staff the KDC itself simply to ensure that it could deliver its assigned loads. Moreover, the Respondent has not asserted that its decision to close the Louisville terminal was influenced in any respect by a fear of putting its overall relationship with Kroger in jeopardy. We are, once again, unsurprised that the Respondent has not put forward the speculative arguments raised by our dissenting colleague, as our interpretation of paragraph 3.5 of the KDC agreement is far from doubtful, particularly when read in tandem with Schedule B of the agreement.

Finally, our dissenting colleague argues that the Respondent's drivers could have abandoned their loads on the first day of the strike, and the Respondent would have been liable under the KDC agreement for any spoiled cargo. We do not dispute this premise. However, the Respondent claims that it would have been liable under the KDC agreement for not only any loads abandoned by its drivers but also any loads abandoned by Transervice's or Zenith's employees. This claim is unsupported by the record.

Overall, the record shows that the Respondent would have been responsible only for the replacement of any of

its own drivers that struck and any losses that Kroger suffered due to the Respondent failing to meet its obligations under the KDC agreement. The Respondent does not claim that it would have closed the Louisville terminal to avoid this more limited liability. Because the record does not establish that the feared catastrophic liability and damages could have resulted from the potential strike raised in the media inquiries, we find that the Respondent's purported nondiscriminatory reason for deciding to cease operations at the Louisville terminal is false and pretextual. See *San Luis Trucking*, 352 NLRB at 236 (finding that an employer's claim that it closed part of its business because of financial losses was not proven and was therefore false and pretextual).

6. Response to the Dissent's Personal Theory

As briefly mentioned above, our dissenting colleague has concocted a personal theory, not advanced by the Respondent, in an attempt to show that the Respondent resigned from the KDC agreement and thereafter ceased operations at the Louisville terminal for nondiscriminatory reasons. In his estimation, the Respondent took those actions because "the ultimatum issued to it by Kroger, its main customer, left it no other choice, especially in light of its reasonable fear that a strike and resulting shutdown of the KDC could impose unacceptable costs as well as its likely fear of risking its relationship with Kroger, which was the source of 75 to 80 percent of the Respondent's revenue." What our dissenting colleague refers to as Kroger's "ultimatum" is a letter that Kroger Vice President of Supply Chain Operations Obermeier emailed to Paladin's and the Respondent's CEO, Prevost, at 2:03 p.m. on December 8—which our dissenting colleague describes as requiring the Respondent to "either provide assurances that it would fulfill all its obligations under the [KDC agreement], even if the Union struck, or terminate that agreement."⁴³

The primary, but far from the only, flaw in our dissenting colleague's theory is, as our dissenting colleague himself acknowledges, that the Respondent has not claimed that it resigned from the KDC agreement and ceased operations at the Louisville terminal because of any ultimatum posed by Kroger. Instead, the Respondent has specifically cross-expected to the judge's "failure to find that Respondent's sole motivation for the modification and early termination of the [KDC agreement] was to avoid damages and liability under the [KDC agreement]"

⁴³ We will refer to this letter as Obermeier's December 8 letter. The letter stated that due to the "doubts and concerns" expressed by the Respondent regarding its ability to fulfill its obligations under the KDC agreement, Kroger was "willing to consider waiving any applicable notice provisions for [the Respondent] to terminate [the KDC agreement]," and that Kroger was otherwise requesting that the Respondent

"immediately provide assurances that [it] can and will meet all of its contractual commitments and obligations for any assignments Kroger may choose to make under the [KDC] agreement." The letter ended by requesting that the Respondent "advise on whether [it] wishes to end the agreement or provide the requested assurances" by 5 p.m. that day.

(emphasis added). In its Brief in Support of Cross-Exceptions, the Respondent similarly argues that its “decision to cease operations, close its Louisville terminal, and lay-off all of its employees on December 9, 2020, to avoid catastrophic and ruinous damages and financial ruin for breaching its [KDC agreement] with Kroger were the *sole* motivating reasons for its decision” (emphasis added).⁴⁴ At no point in its Brief in Support of Cross-Exceptions did the Respondent refer to, or even characterize, Obermeier’s December 8 letter as an ultimatum, let alone argue that it resigned from the KDC agreement and ceased operations at the Louisville terminal because of any ultimatum posed by Kroger. Nor has the Respondent ever suggested that it feared that its overall relationship with Kroger was at risk or that its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal was motivated by such a fear. Because the Respondent has never advanced, either before the judge or on exceptions, our dissenting colleague’s theory for why it resigned from the KDC agreement and ceased operations at the Louisville terminal, it is not before us.⁴⁵ See *Hilton Hotel Employer LLC d/b/a Hilton Hawaiian Village Waikiki Beach Resort*, 372 NLRB No. 61, slip op. at 6 (2023); *CP Anchorage Hotel 2 d/b/a Hilton Anchorage*, 371 NLRB No. 151, slip op. at 3 fn. 9 (2022); *IMI South, LLC d/b/a Irving Materials*, 364 NLRB 1373, 1377 (2016); *Avne Systems, Inc.*, 331 NLRB 1352, 1354 (2000). As the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit recently observed, “our ‘adversarial system of

adjudication . . . is designed around the premise that parties represented by competent counsel know what is best for them, and are responsible for advancing the facts and argument[s] entitling them to relief.” *United Natural Foods, Inc. v. NLRB*, 66 F.4th 536, 546 (5th Cir. 2023) (quoting *United States v. Sineneng-Smith*, 140 S.Ct. 1575, 1579 (2020)) (alterations in original). Unlike our dissenting colleague, we decline to “cross the bench to counsel’s table and litigate the case for” the Respondent. *Id.*⁴⁶

Even if our dissenting colleague’s theory for why the Respondent resigned from the KDC agreement and ceased operations at the Louisville terminal were properly before us, it is contrary to the record in this case in two important ways that completely undermine its validity.

First, a key premise of our dissenting colleague’s theory that the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal for nondiscriminatory reasons is that the initiative for terminating the KDC agreement came from Kroger. However, he fails to acknowledge the judge’s finding that “[i]t is uncontroverted that the initiative for cancellation of Respondent’s contract at the KDC came from Respondent, not Kroger,” and no party has excepted to that finding.⁴⁷ In any event, this finding is supported by Obermeier’s testimony that the Respondent sought to have Kroger cancel the KDC agreement. No further support is necessary because the judge credited Obermeier’s testimony, and, as discussed above, we have found no basis for reversing the judge’s credibility determinations.⁴⁸

⁴⁴ As discussed above, the record does not establish that the “catastrophic and ruinous damages” that the Respondent claims motivated its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal could have resulted from the potential strike raised in the media inquiries.

⁴⁵ We further note that the Respondent, having failed to argue this theory in its cross-exceptions, would be barred from raising it to a circuit court on a petition for review. See 29 U.S.C. § 160(e) (“No objection that has not been urged before the Board . . . shall be considered by the court . . .”); see also Board’s Rules and Regulations, Sec. 102.46(f) (“Matters not included in exceptions or cross-exceptions may not thereafter be urged before the Board, or in any further proceeding.”).

⁴⁶ Our dissenting colleague’s citation to *Local 58, International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW), AFL-CIO (Paramount Industries, Inc.)*, 365 NLRB No. 30 (2017), enfd. 888 F.3d 1313 (D.C. Cir. 2018), is misplaced. In that case, the Board reaffirmed that “where all of the underlying facts are undisputed[,] [t]he Board, with court approval, has repeatedly found violations for different reasons and on different *theories* from those of administrative law judges or the General Counsel, even in the absence of exceptions, where the unlawful *conduct* was alleged in the complaint.” *Id.*, slip op. at 4 fn. 17 (emphasis in original). As the Board has previously explained, “[t]hat limited license to find alleged violations based on undisputed facts is far removed from the dissent’s effort here to conjure arguments to dismiss allegations on grounds never advanced by the Respondent.” *Hilton Anchorage*, 371 NLRB No. 151, slip op. at 3 fn. 9. Moreover, the underlying facts are certainly not undisputed here, as the parties are emphatically contesting the Respondent’s motive for ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal.

We note that our dissenting colleague’s pursuit of his personal theory for why the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal is

particularly inappropriate in the context of a *Darlington* analysis, which turns on employer motivation. In the *Darlington* context, when an employer argues that it closed part of its business for legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons—similar to a respondent’s rebuttal burden under *Wright Line*—the question is not whether the employer could have closed part of its business for legitimate reasons but is, instead, whether the employer actually would have closed part of its business for the legitimate reasons that it claims it did, rather than for antiunion reasons and to chill unionism in other parts of its operations, where the employer may reasonably have foreseen that such closing would likely have that effect. See *Darlington*, 380 U.S. at 275–276; cf. *Dish Network, LLC*, 363 NLRB 1307, 1307 fn. 1 (2016) (“Under *Wright Line*, if the General Counsel sustains his initial burden, the burden shifts to the employer to persuade by a preponderance of the evidence, not merely that it could have taken the same action for legitimate reasons, but that it actually would have done so in the absence of the protected conduct.”), enfd. mem. 725 F. App’x 682 (10th Cir. 2018). Our dissenting colleague’s theory is in reality no more than an expression of his belief that the Respondent *could have* ceased operations at the Louisville terminal for legitimate reasons. But the Board cannot, as he would have it, substitute legitimate reasons that he believes the Respondent could have relied upon to decide to cease operations at the Louisville terminal for the actual reasons that the Respondent claims it decided to cease operations.

⁴⁷ See Board’s Rules and Regulations, Sec. 102.46(a)(1)(ii) (“Any exception to a ruling, finding, conclusion, or recommendation which is not specifically urged will be deemed to have been waived.”).

⁴⁸ Although our dissenting colleague has not taken issue with the judge’s decision to credit Obermeier, he has failed to acknowledge that Obermeier repeatedly testified that, during a conversation on December

However, we note that the judge's finding is also consistent with the testimony of the Respondent's highest-ranking management officials, as we agree with the judge that the differences between their testimony and Obermeier's testimony on this point are "for the most part inconsequential." Both Paladin President and COO Campbell and Quickway Group Vice President of Operations Cannon testified that during the conference call with Kroger at 9 a.m. on December 8, Cannon told Obermeier that the only way to prevent a complete shutdown of the KDC was for Kroger to terminate the KDC agreement immediately.⁴⁹ Prevost testified that immediately after he received Obermeier's December 8 letter, Obermeier called and asked him to confirm Cannon's statement during the December 8 conference call that "the only solution was for [the Respondent] to be removed" from the KDC, which Prevost confirmed. Accordingly, the Respondent could not have viewed Obermeier's December 8 letter as an ultimatum when it merely expressed openness to finding a way to achieve the ultimate outcome that the Respondent had requested—or, at the very least, suggested.⁵⁰

Second, the testimony of the Respondent's management officials who were involved in the decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal—i.e., Prevost, Campbell, and Cannon—establishes that the Respondent decided to

seek the termination of the KDC agreement prior to Obermeier sending his December 8 letter. Prevost, Campbell, and Cannon all testified that they had a meeting immediately following the December 8 conference call, during which they estimated the liability that the Respondent could have faced if the KDC were shut down as a result of a strike by its drivers and concluded that the Respondent needed to seek the termination of the KDC agreement to avoid that potential liability.⁵¹ Moreover, they did not testify that the Respondent viewed Obermeier's December 8 letter as an ultimatum or that the letter forced the Respondent to seek to terminate the KDC agreement because it was left with no other choice. To the contrary, Campbell testified that he was "encouraged" by Obermeier's December 8 letter and viewed it as a "potential opening" because Kroger had expressed a willingness to waive provisions in the KDC agreement to allow for the termination of that agreement. Campbell further stated that in crafting the Respondent's response to Obermeier's December 8 letter, he, Prevost, and Cannon focused on "ensuring the proper wording, and references to the modification section in the [KDC] agreement" so that the termination of the KDC agreement would comply with the express terms of the agreement itself.⁵² Thus, while the Respondent believed that some technical changes needed to be made to

8, the Respondent sought to have Kroger terminate the KDC agreement and that this conversation prompted him to send his December 8 letter. Specifically, Obermeier testified that the Respondent "sought out us, Kroger, to relieve them of their duties," "sought out Kroger to cancel the [KDC] agreement," and "requested to cancel the agreement." Our dissenting colleague misleadingly cites only Obermeier's testimony when he was asked if the Respondent requested that he write his December 8 letter, to which he responded, "No, sir." However, immediately following the testimony cited by our dissenting colleague, Obermeier reaffirmed that the Respondent had sought to have "Kroger terminat[e] the agreement." Accordingly, Obermeier's credited testimony, on its own, provides sufficient support for the judge's finding that the initiative for terminating the KDC agreement originally came from the Respondent.

⁴⁹ Specifically, Campbell testified that when asked by Obermeier for the Respondent's plan, Cannon responded that "the only thing I know as a plan is that you've got to fire us and we've got to get our stuff off the lot to keep from shutting down your operation," while Cannon similarly testified that he "told Mr. Obermeier the only way to avoid a complete shutdown of the KDC is you're going to have to get [the Respondent's] equipment off the KDC lot and you're going to have to terminate [the Respondent]."

⁵⁰ Our dissenting colleague asserts that when Cannon suggested that Kroger terminate the KDC agreement during the December 8 conference call, "[i]t is abundantly clear . . . that he did so in response to Obermeier's mandate that under no circumstances could the KDC be shut down." Our dissenting colleague has once again ignored Obermeier's credited testimony. Obermeier did not testify that he told the Respondent that the KDC could not be shut down under any circumstances. Instead, Obermeier testified that when the Respondent sought to have Kroger terminate the KDC agreement on December 8, he initially refused and stated that Kroger expected the Respondent to uphold the KDC agreement and continue to service Kroger's stores.

Our dissenting colleague has apparently relied on Campbell's testimony that Obermeier began the December 8 conference call by stating to Cannon, "You've got a contract, and you can't shut us down. What's your plan?" This difference between Obermeier's and Campbell's testimony is ultimately inconsequential, however, because Prevost testified that prior to the December 8 conference call, Cannon told Prevost that he planned to discuss with Kroger that the only way to avoid the KDC being shut down was to cancel the KDC agreement—to which Prevost responded, "[T]his is our Pearl Harbor moment. We've just been bombed." Thus, even if the testimony of the Respondent's top management officials on this point were to be credited, their testimony establishes that the Respondent would have proposed the termination of the KDC agreement on December 8 regardless of what Obermeier said.

⁵¹ Specifically, Prevost testified that during this meeting, he, Campbell, and Cannon "decided then we had to get out of the [KDC agreement]" because the potential liability "was quickly becoming a number we could not afford," that they determined that the Respondent "had no choice but to end the relationship with Kroger and get off the Kroger property and prevent a shutdown of the KDC," and that "[t]he whole focus became get out of the [KDC agreement]." Campbell similarly testified, "[T]he decision was made, we've got to get out. We have to get out of [the KDC agreement]. We have to mitigate this liability, because it would have bankrupted us." Cannon, who was the Respondent's representative during the hearing, testified that Prevost's and Campbell's testimony regarding this meeting and the reasons the Respondent resigned from the KDC agreement was consistent with his recollection.

⁵² Prevost testified similarly that the Respondent's response to Obermeier's December 8 letter was "trying to accomplish a mutual agreement to where we could resign from the [KDC agreement], and modify [the KDC agreement], where we could mutually agree in writing to modify the [KDC agreement], resign and not expose [the] KDC to the shutdown."

Obermeier's proposal for terminating the KDC agreement, it otherwise viewed Obermeier's December 8 letter as a positive development that made what it had already determined to be its desired outcome more likely to occur. Finally, when asked why the Respondent ultimately accepted the mutual agreement for it to resign from the KDC agreement and be released from its obligations under that agreement, Prevost testified, "[I]t was an economic decision. We could not afford the liability of the KDC being shut down." He did not mention any perceived ultimatum posed by Kroger.⁵³ Accordingly, our dissenting colleague's theory is totally inconsistent with the testimony of Prevost, Campbell, and Cannon.⁵⁴

In sum, for all the reasons discussed above, we reverse the judge and find that the General Counsel has established under *Darlington* that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by ceasing operations at its Louisville terminal and discharging all its Louisville drivers.

III. CESSATION OF OPERATIONS AT LOUISVILLE TERMINAL—8(A)(5) ALLEGATION

The judge dismissed the allegation that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to notify and bargain with the Union about its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all the Louisville drivers because, as discussed above, he found that the Respondent's decision did not violate the Act under *Darlington*. The General Counsel and the Union except.

The Respondent is correct that pursuant to *First National Maintenance Corp. v. NLRB*, 452 U.S. 666 (1981), "[i]t is well established that an employer's decision to close part of its business for purely economic reasons is not a mandatory subject of bargaining." *BC Industries*, 307 NLRB 1275, 1275 fn. 2 (1992); see also *First National Maintenance*, 452 U.S. at 686 ("We conclude that the harm likely to be done to an employer's need to operate freely in deciding whether to shut down part of its business purely for economic reasons outweighs the incremental benefit that might be gained through the union's participation in making the decision . . ."). However, as

demonstrated above, the Respondent did not decide to cease operations at the Louisville terminal for purely economic reasons. Indeed, we have found that the Respondent's purported nondiscriminatory reason for that decision was false and pretextual. Instead, the General Counsel has established that the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons and to chill unionism at its other terminals and at other Paladin affiliates and therefore violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by doing so. The Board has held that "[d]iscrimination on the basis of union animus cannot constitute a lawful entrepreneurial decision." *Delta Carbonate*, 307 NLRB 118, 122 (1992), enfd. mem. 989 F.2d 486 (3d Cir. 1993); see also *Central Transport*, 306 NLRB 166, 167 (1992), enfd. in part 997 F.2d 1180 (7th Cir. 1993). Thus, where an employer's purported entrepreneurial decision is motivated by antiunion reasons in violation of Section 8(a)(3), that decision is not exempt from a bargaining obligation under *First National Maintenance*, and an employer's failure to bargain about that decision violates Section 8(a)(5). See, e.g., *Delta Carbonate*, 307 NLRB at 122 ("[B]ecause the decision to subcontract quarry operations was discriminatorily motivated in violation of Section 8(a)(3), we find that it also violated Section 8(a)(5)."); *Strawsine Mfg. Co.*, 280 NLRB 553, 553 (1986) (finding that an employer "violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to bargain about its decision to close the Corunna facility and relocate its operations" because that decision was "motivated by antiunion reasons" in violation of Section 8(a)(3)); see also *Associated Constructors*, 325 NLRB 998, 999 fn. 4 (1998) ("[A]lthough an employer may close a portion of its business for purely economic reasons without bargaining over the decision, it violates both Sec[ti]on 8(a)(3) and (5) if the decision is motivated by antiunion considerations."). Accordingly, because the Respondent's decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all the Louisville drivers was discriminatorily motivated in violation of Section 8(a)(3), we find that the Respondent

We note that Kroger could not have immediately terminated the KDC agreement without cause because the KDC agreement required that Kroger give the Respondent written notice 30 days prior to doing so. Thus, consistent with the KDC agreement's "Modifications" clause, the Respondent and Kroger had to reach a mutual agreement to terminate the KDC agreement immediately.

⁵³ Our dissenting colleague's bold proclamation that "Obermeier was the real decision-maker" is completely unfounded. As discussed above, Kroger did not have authority under the KDC agreement to terminate that agreement on its own immediately after receiving the media inquiries in December. Instead, the parties had to reach a mutual agreement to terminate the KDC agreement at that time. Moreover, the Respondent decided to seek the termination of the KDC agreement prior to receiving Obermeier's December 8 letter and viewed that letter as a positive development, rather than an ultimatum, since Kroger had expressed openness

to the Respondent's preferred outcome for the first time. Thus, based on the record before us, the Respondent made the decision to resign from the KDC agreement on its own accord, and much to the Respondent's satisfaction, Kroger accepted its resignation.

⁵⁴ We decline to directly address our dissenting colleague's musings on why the Respondent may not have advanced his personal theory for why it resigned from the KDC agreement and ceased operations at the Louisville terminal. We think that the much more straightforward and reasonable explanation for why the Respondent did not advance his theory is that, as demonstrated above, his theory is contrary to the testimony of the Respondent's highest-ranking management officials, and "[w]here . . . an employer provides inconsistent or shifting reasons for its actions, a reasonable inference can be drawn that the reasons proffered are mere pretexts designed to mask an unlawful motive." *GATX Logistics, Inc.*, 323 NLRB 328, 335 (1997), enfd. 160 F.3d 353 (7th Cir. 1998).

violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing and refusing to bargain with the Union about that decision.⁵⁵

IV. ALLEGATIONS COVERED BY SEPTEMBER 16 SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS

As mentioned above, the complaint alleges that the Respondent violated the Act by engaging in certain conduct that is covered by the September 16 settlement agreements, including threatening that it would close the Louisville Terminal if the employees unionized; asking an employee to make a list of union supporters; and threatening that it would lose its contract with Kroger and stop contributing shares to the employees' ESOP accounts if they unionized, and would take legal action against an employee for filing an unfair labor practice charge with the Board. In the complaint, the General Counsel vacated and set aside the September 16 settlement agreements because the Respondent violated certain terms of those settlements by subsequently ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal and discharging all the Louisville drivers in violation of Section 8(a)(5), (3), and (1). The judge found that the General Counsel did not properly set aside the September 16 settlement agreements because he found that the Respondent's decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and to discharge all the Louisville drivers did not violate the Act. He thus dismissed the allegations related to the September 16 settlement agreements.⁵⁶

"The Board has long held that 'a settlement agreement may be set aside and unfair labor practices found based on presettlement conduct if there has been a failure to comply with the provisions of the settlement agreement or if post-settlement unfair labor practices are committed.'" *Twin City Concrete*, 317 NLRB 1313, 1313 (1995) (quoting *YMCA of Pikes Peak Region*, 291 NLRB 998, 1010 (1988)). As discussed above, the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by ceasing operations at the

Louisville terminal and discharging all the Louisville drivers and violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to bargain with the Union about its decision to do so. We find that those postsettlement unfair labor practices warrant setting aside the September 16 settlement agreements. Therefore, the General Counsel properly vacated and set aside the September 16 settlement agreements in the complaint, and unfair labor practices may be found based on the presettlement conduct that the September 16 settlement agreements were meant to resolve. Accordingly, we shall analyze the complaint allegations covered by the September 16 settlement agreements to the extent that they have been raised on exceptions.

A. Threat to Close the Louisville Terminal

On July 26, 2019, Operations Manager Evola told several drivers: "If this place goes union, Bill Prevost will shut it down. He's not going to have another terminal go to the union." Evola's statement constituted a threat that the Respondent would close the Louisville terminal if the drivers selected the Union as their collective-bargaining representative and thus clearly violated Section 8(a)(1). See, e.g., *Atlantic Veal & Lamb, Inc.*, 342 NLRB 418, 427 (2004) (finding that an employer violated Section 8(a)(1) where a supervisor told employees that if the union "came in" the employer's owner would close the business and move to Indiana), *enfd. mem. per curiam* 156 F. App'x 330 (D.C. Cir. 2005); *Tellepsen Pipeline Services Co.*, 335 NLRB 1232, 1232 (2001) (finding that a supervisor's statement that the employer's owner and president "would shut the doors before he would go union" violated Section 8(a)(1)), *enfd. in relevant part* 320 F.3d 554 (5th Cir. 2003).

⁵⁵ We find that the Respondent also violated Sec. 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to give the Union notice and an opportunity to bargain over the effects of its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all the Louisville drivers. The Respondent did not give the Union notice of its decision to cease all operations associated with the KDC until approximately an hour before it implemented that decision and did not inform the Union that all the Louisville drivers had been discharged as a result until the previously scheduled bargaining session the next day. Thus, the Respondent did not give the Union sufficient preimplementation notice to allow for meaningful effects bargaining. See, e.g., *Los Angeles Soap Co.*, 300 NLRB 289, 289 fn. 1, 295–296 (1990) (finding that an employer "fail[ed] to give timely notice to the [u]nion of the sale of its business, thereby making impossible effects bargaining with the [u]nion, in a meaningful manner and at a meaningful time" where the employer gave the union notice on the day that the sale occurred); *Willamette Tug & Barge Co.*, 300 NLRB 282, 282–283 (1990) (finding that an employer "fail[ed] to provide any meaningful prior notice to the [u]nion that it was ceasing business and terminating employees" where it informed the union of its decision to sell its business on the day that it implemented that decision). As discussed above, the Respondent's

purported nondiscriminatory reason for having to immediately implement its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal on December 9 was false and pretextual, and its decision was instead discriminatorily motivated in violation of Sec. 8(a)(3). Moreover, during the December 10 bargaining session, when the Respondent offered to bargain over the effects of its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all the Louisville drivers, it unlawfully failed to bargain over the decision itself. "Where, as here, a union is entitled to bargain over both the decision and its effects, the employer must provide the union a prior or contemporaneous opportunity to bargain over the former to fully satisfy its obligation to bargain over the latter." *DuPont Specialty Products USA, LLC*, 369 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 18 (2020) (internal quotations omitted), *enfd. mem. Nos. 20-3179 & 20-3480*, 2021 U.S. App. LEXIS 24170 (3d Cir. Aug. 13, 2021).

⁵⁶ The judge went on, however, to analyze certain of the allegations covered by the September 16 settlement agreements and stated that he would have found that the Respondent violated the Act by engaging in the conduct alleged if the September 16 settlement agreements had been properly set aside.

B. *Instruction to Provide a List of Union Supporters*

In August 2019, Vice President of Operations Marcelino instructed employee Hendricks to create a list of union supporters. The Board has held generally that “plac[ing] an employee in the position of acting as an informer regarding the union activity of his fellow-employees is coercive.” *Abex Corp.*, 162 NLRB 328, 329 (1966). The Board has found specifically that an employer violated Section 8(a)(1) by asking an employee to “compose a list of employees sympathetic to the [u]nion.” *Stafford Construction Co.*, 250 NLRB 1469, 1469, 1474 (1980); see also *Tidelands Marine Service*, 140 NLRB 288, 290 (1962) (finding that an employer violated Section 8(a)(1) by showing an employee a list of employees’ names and asking him to pick out the union supporters), *enfd.* 338 F.2d 44 (5th Cir. 1964). Accordingly, we find that the Respondent, through Marcellino, violated Section 8(a)(1) by instructing Hendricks to provide it with a list of employees who were involved in the Union’s organizing campaign or who supported the Union.

C. *Threat that the Respondent Would Lose Its Contract with Kroger*

In September 2019, Louisville Terminal Manager Higgins told driver Tooley that if the terminal went union, the Respondent would have to raise its prices and would probably lose its contract with Kroger, which would probably result in all employees at the terminal losing their jobs. The Supreme Court held long ago that if an employer chooses to communicate to its employees a prediction regarding the consequences of unionization, “the prediction must be carefully phrased on the basis of objective fact to convey an employer’s belief as to demonstrably probable consequences beyond his control.” *NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co.*, 395 U.S. 575, 618 (1969). Consistent with *Gissel*, “[i]t is well settled that an employer’s predictions of adverse consequences of unionization arising from sources outside the employer’s control—including the future actions of other employers—violate Section 8(a)(1) if they lack an objective factual basis.” *Wake Electric Membership Corp.*, 338 NLRB 298, 299 (2002). As a result, the Board has found that an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) by predicting that unionization may lead to the loss of customers, which could result in loss of jobs and/or plant closure, without providing an objective factual basis to support such a prediction. See, e.g., *Contempora Fabrics, Inc.*, 344 NLRB 851, 851 (2005) (finding that an employer “unlawfully predicted that unionization would cause the [employer] to lose customers and risk plant closure” where it failed to provide any objective basis for that prediction).

Here, Higgins did not provide any objective factual basis for why the Respondent necessarily would have had to raise its prices to such an extent if the employees unionized that it would have probably lost its contract with Kroger and had to discharge all the employees at the Louisville terminal. See *Pincus Elevator & Electric Co.*, 308 NLRB 684, 691–692 (1992) (finding that an employer’s prediction that the higher costs imposed by a union contract would lead to the loss of customers and plant closure was unlawful where it “produced no evidence, as it was [its] burden to do, to support the claim that higher wages would lead inevitably to the loss of customers”), *enfd.* mem. 998 F.2d 1004 (3d Cir. 1993); *Crown Cork & Seal Co.*, 255 NLRB 14, 14 (1981) (finding unlawful an employer’s prediction that a union victory would cause it to lose Pepsi as a customer and close down “because it does not necessarily follow that a union election victory *per se* would increase [the employer’s] labor costs disproportionately to Pepsi’s willingness to pay increased costs if passed on”), *enfd.* mem. 691 F.2d 506 (9th Cir. 1982). In fact, Higgins did not even provide a reason, let alone an objective factual basis, for why the Respondent would have had to raise its prices at all if the drivers unionized. That Higgins qualified his prediction by stating that job loss would *probably* occur if the employees unionized did not render his statement noncoercive. “A prediction of adverse consequences of unionization, however it is formulated, must have an objective basis.” *Tellepsen Pipeline Services*, 335 NLRB at 1233. Thus, regardless of whether Higgins portrayed his prediction “as a possibility, a probability, or a certainty,” he was required to provide an objective factual basis to support it, and he did not do so here. *Id.* at 1234. Accordingly, we find that the Respondent, through Higgins, violated Section 8(a)(1) by threatening employees with job loss if they selected the Union as their representative.

D. *Threat that the Respondent Would Cease Contributions to Drivers’ ESOP Accounts*

On January 24, Operations Manager Evola told driver Wilson, three other drivers, and a dispatcher that the Respondent would no longer contribute new shares to the drivers’ ESOP accounts if they selected the Union as their representative. As discussed above, the ESOP functions as a retirement trust, and all the Respondent’s employees are members of the ESOP and receive annual stock distributions to their ESOP accounts. It is well established that “[a]n employer’s preelection statement to employees that, should they choose union representation, they will automatically lose a fringe benefit, such as a profit-sharing program or an ESOP, violates Section 8(a)(1).” *DynCorp*, 343 NLRB 1197, 1199 (2004), *enfd.* mem. 233 F. App’x 419 (6th Cir. 2007). In *DynCorp*, the Board found that an

employer violated Section 8(a)(1) when a supervisor stated that “if the [u]nion were elected the employees would immediately lose the [employer’s] 30-cent-an-hour contribution to the Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP).” *Id.* at 1198–1199. We find that, similar to the employer in *DynCorp*, the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) here by threatening to cease making contributions to the drivers’ ESOP accounts if they selected the Union as their representative.

E. Threat to Take Legal Action for Filing a Charge

In response to Evola’s statement regarding ESOP contributions discussed above, driver Wilson filed an unfair labor practice charge with the Board on February 14 alleging that the Respondent, through Evola, violated Section 8(a)(1) by threatening to retaliate against employees if they joined or supported a union. On March 9, Evola told Wilson, “You said I was gonna, uh, retaliate against you if you said something to the Union, you went to the Labor Board about it, yeah you did, so, when its all over, make sure you’ve got an attorney, because I’m coming back You could’ve got me fired for what you said.” Evola did not actually pursue any legal action against Wilson.⁵⁷

Based on those facts, we find that Evola’s statement would have been reasonably interpreted as an implied threat to pursue some unspecified legal action against Wilson—which he would need to hire an attorney to defend against—in retaliation for the unfair labor practice charge that he had filed. For the reasons discussed below, we find that Evola’s statement independently violated both Section 8(a)(1) and 8(a)(4).

The Board has consistently found that threats to take legal action against employees for filing unfair labor practice charges reasonably tend to restrain employees in the exercise of their right to file charges with Board under the Act and therefore violate Section 8(a)(1). See, e.g., *Postal Service*, 350 NLRB at 125–126 (finding that an employer violated Section 8(a)(1) by its remark to an employee about an unfair labor practice charge filed by the employee, stating that the employee “had better get a good attorney, because he [the supervisor] was going to sue [the employee]” (internal quotations omitted)); *Carborundum Materials Corp.*, 286 NLRB 1321, 1321–1322 (1987) (finding that an employer violated Section 8(a)(1) by threatening an employee for filing an unfair labor practice charge where a department foreman stated that “he would get [the employee] and would sue her personally for jeopardizing his job because of her involvement with the unfair labor practice charge” (internal quotations omitted)).

Accordingly, we find that the Respondent, through Evola, violated Section 8(a)(1) by impliedly threatening to take legal action against Wilson for filing an unfair labor practice charge. See *Clyde Taylor Co.*, 127 NLRB 103, 108 (1960) (“[A] threat [to sue for filing unfair labor practice charges], express or implied, is of a harassing nature [and] . . . would normally tend to intimidate an individual contemplating filing a charge, from doing so, or one, who has filed a charge, to withdraw it.”).

Additionally, we find that Evola’s implicit threat to take legal action against Wilson for filing an unfair labor practice charge independently violated Section 8(a)(4). Pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Act, the Board cannot initiate unfair labor practice proceedings in the absence of the filing of a charge alleging a violation of the Act. Thus, “[i]mplementation of the Act is dependent upon the initiative of individual persons who must . . . invoke its sanctions through filing an unfair labor practice charge.” *Nash v. Florida Industrial Commission*, 389 U.S. 235, 238 (1967). Section 7 protects employees’ right to access the Board’s processes, including their right to file unfair labor practice charges. See *Bill Johnson’s Restaurants, Inc. v. NLRB*, 461 U.S. 731, 740 (1983). Section 8(a)(4) specifically makes it an unfair labor practice “to discharge or otherwise discriminate against an employee because he has filed charges or given testimony under [the] Act.” 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(4). The Supreme Court has long recognized that Congress, through its adoption of Section 8(a)(4), “made it clear that it wishes all persons with information about [unfair labor] practices to be completely free from coercion against reporting them to the Board.” *Nash*, 389 U.S. at 238; see also *Prime Healthcare Paradise Valley, LLC*, 368 NLRB No. 10, slip op. at 5 (2019) (“Congress intended employees to be completely free to file charges with the Board, to participate in Board investigations, and to testify at Board hearings.”). The Court has deemed “[t]his complete freedom [] necessary . . . ‘to prevent the Board’s channels of information from being dried up by employer intimidation of prospective complainants and witnesses.’” *NLRB v. Scrivener*, 405 U.S. 117, 122 (1972) (quoting *John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. NLRB*, 191 F.2d 483, 485 (D.C. Cir. 1951)); see also *Metro Networks, Inc.*, 336 NLRB 63, 67 (2001) (explaining that Board investigations “often rely heavily on the voluntary assistance of individuals in providing information” and that “[a]n individual’s refusal voluntarily to provide information in an investigation may result in an otherwise meritorious charge being dismissed”). Accordingly, Section 8(a)(4) “is a fundamental

⁵⁷ The Respondent has not argued that Evola’s threat was merely “incidental” to a lawsuit, as such an argument would clearly lack merit where no lawsuit was filed. See *Security Walls, LLC*, 371 NLRB No.

74, slip op. at 5 (2022); *DHL Express, Inc.*, 355 NLRB 680, 680 fn. 3 (2010); *Postal Service*, 350 NLRB 125, 125–126 (2007), *enfd.* per curiam 526 F.3d 729 (11th Cir. 2008).

guarantee to employees that they may invoke or participate in the investigative procedures of this Board without fear of reprisal and is clearly required in order to safeguard the integrity of the Board's processes." *Filmation Associates, Inc.*, 227 NLRB 1721, 1721 (1977); see also *Airgas USA, LLC v. NLRB*, 916 F.3d 555, 560 (6th Cir. 2019) ("This anti-retaliation provision is central to the purposes of the NLRA because, without some protection for employees attempting to access the Act's protections, the Board cannot assure an effective administration of the Act." (internal quotations omitted)).

The Supreme Court has interpreted the use of "to discharge or otherwise discriminate"—particularly the word "otherwise"—in Section 8(a)(4) to reveal "an intent on the part of Congress to afford broad rather than narrow protection to the employee" and has approved of a liberal approach to Section 8(a)(4) "in order fully to effectuate the section's remedial purpose." *Scrivener*, 405 U.S. at 122, 124. Unlike Section 8(a)(3), the language of Section 8(a)(4) does not limit the prohibited discrimination to "discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term or condition of employment." 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3). The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit has held that "[t]he very lack of specificity in [Section 8(a)(4)] points to a congressional intent to make it even more all-embracing than [Section] 8(a)(3)" and that Congress' use of "the broadest language it could find"—i.e., "otherwise discriminate"—"indicates clearly that Congress sought to extend Board scrutiny to all forms of discrimination." *John Hancock*, 191 F.2d at 485–486. In *Fuqua Homes (Ohio), Inc.*, 211 NLRB 399 (1974), the Board expressed agreement with this interpretation of Section 8(a)(4)—stating that "'discrimination' under Sec[ti]on 8(a)(4) embraces 'all forms of discrimination' including threats of discharge"—and found that an employer violated Section 8(a)(4) by threatening employees with discharge for appearing as union witnesses at a Board representation hearing. *Id.* at 400 & fn. 7 (quoting *John Hancock*, 191 F.2d at 486); see also *Titus Electric Contracting, Inc.*, 355 NLRB 1357, 1386 (2010); *Success Village Apartments*, 348 NLRB 579, 579–580, 594–595 (2006). The Board has also found that employers violated

Section 8(a)(4) by threatening employees with retaliatory actions other than discharge for filing unfair labor practice charges, giving testimony at a Board hearing, or otherwise participating in the Board's processes. See, e.g., *Cardinal Home Products*, 338 NLRB 1004, 1004–1005, 1026 (2003) (threatening an employee with disciplinary action in retaliation for giving testimony at a Board hearing); *Postal Service*, 266 NLRB 467, 472, 473–474 (1983) (threatening an employee with arrest to discourage him from cooperating with the Board's investigation of an unfair labor practice charge); *Shirt Shed, Inc.*, 252 NLRB 292, 301 (1980) (interrogating an employee about her filing of an unfair labor practice charge and communication with a Board agent and threatening her with unspecified reprisals if she did not withdraw the charge).

By singling Wilson out and implicitly threatening to bring legal action against him because he filed an unfair labor practice charge, the Respondent "otherwise discriminate[d]" against Wilson in a manner that falls within the broad scope of Section 8(a)(4)'s prohibition. Like a threat of discharge, a threat to take legal action against an employee presents the potential for serious economic harm, as the employee is faced with both the financial liability that could result from the legal action and the costs to hire an attorney to defend against it. Thus, threats to take legal action against employees because they filed charges with the Board, gave testimony in a Board hearing, or otherwise participated in the Board's processes are exactly the type of employer discrimination that would likely "dry up" the Board's channels of information. Individuals would not feel completely free to report information about unfair labor practices in the face of such threats, which could lead to the Board having to dismiss otherwise meritorious charges.⁵⁸ As discussed above in detail, Section 8(a)(4)'s purpose is to prevent such employer discrimination in order to ensure the effective administration of the Act. Accordingly, we find that the Respondent's implicit threat to take legal action against Wilson because he filed an unfair labor practice charge independently violated both Section 8(a)(4) and 8(a)(1).⁵⁹

⁵⁸ Indeed, in the present case, the Region had to dismiss Wilson's initial charge alleging that Evola's ESOP threat violated the Act because of Wilson's lack of cooperation. Wilson testified that he did not participate in the investigation of his initial charge because he feared retaliation by the Respondent and did not want to cause problems.

⁵⁹ In *Florida Ambulance Service*, 255 NLRB 286 (1981), an administrative law judge found that an employer did not violate Sec. 8(a)(4) by threatening an employee with a lawsuit for giving a statement to the Board because "no evidence was offered showing that [the employer] discharged or otherwise discriminated against [the employee]." *Id.* at 290 & fn. 10. However, the Board never reviewed that finding because

neither the General Counsel nor the charging party filed any exceptions in that case. See *id.* at 286. Accordingly, in the absence of relevant exceptions, the dismissal of that Sec. 8(a)(4) allegation in *Florida Ambulance Service* has no precedential value. See *Watsonville Register-Pajaronian*, 327 NLRB 957, 959 & fn. 4 (1999) ("It is a well-established practice of the Board to adopt, as a matter of course, an administrative law judge's findings to which no exceptions are filed. Findings adopted under such circumstances are not, however, considered precedent for any other case."); see also *Anniston Yarn Mills, Inc.*, 103 NLRB 1495, 1495 (1953).

V. ALLEGATIONS ADDED TO THE COMPLAINT AT
THE HEARING

At the end of the General Counsel’s case-in-chief, the General Counsel moved to amend the complaint to allege that on March 18, the Respondent, through Quickway Group Vice President of Operations Cannon, engaged in surveillance, and that on September 18, the Respondent, through Cannon and Louisville Terminal Manager McCurry, engaged in surveillance of union activities and interrogation of employees. The judge granted the motion to amend the complaint. Based on those allegations, the judge found that the Respondent, through Cannon, violated Section 8(a)(1) in March by condoning prior surveillance of employees’ union activities and sanctioning further surveillance and, through McCurry, violated Section 8(a)(1) on September 18 by interrogating employees about their union activities.⁶⁰ For the reasons discussed below, we reverse the judge’s finding of the March surveillance violation but affirm his finding of the September 18 interrogation violation.

A. *Instruction to Surveil Employees*

On March 18, Louisville employee Brown sent an email to Terminal Manager Higgins summarizing a conversation about the Union that she had with three drivers. Higgins forwarded Brown’s email to Cannon, who responded, “Let [Brown] know to observe and take notes of the conversations. She does not need to engage and ask questions as she did.” There is no evidence that Higgins, or anyone else, relayed Cannon’s instruction to Brown or disclosed Cannon’s instruction to any other employees. There is also no evidence that Brown engaged in further surveillance of the drivers’ union activities after March 18.

While an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) by instructing an employee to surveil their coworkers’ union activities,⁶¹ the Board has held that an employer does not violate the Act by instructing its managers or supervisors to engage in unlawful conduct. See *Resistance Technology*, 280 NLRB 1004, 1006–1007 (1986) (“The mere issuance of instructions, even if to perform unlawful acts, to supervisors to find out the identity of union supporters and the union sympathies of employees cannot in itself interfere with, restrain, and coerce employees in the exercise of

their statutory rights where those instructions are neither carried out nor disclosed to the employees.”), affd. mem. 830 F.2d 1188 (D.C. Cir. 1987). Accordingly, applying *Resistance Technology* as binding precedent, Cannon’s instruction to his fellow manager and an undisputed Section 2(11) supervisor, Higgins, to instruct Brown to surveil the drivers’ union activities did not violate the Act.⁶² We therefore reverse the judge and dismiss the allegation that on March 18, the Respondent, through Cannon, unlawfully engaged in surveillance.⁶³

B. *Interrogation*

On September 18, the Union held a job action in front of the Louisville terminal, during which its representatives set up a 12-foot inflatable “Fat Cat,” spoke with drivers as they entered and exited the terminal, distributed union shirts and informational packets about the status of the Respondent’s request for review, and solicited signatures from drivers who were not already union members. During the job action, Terminal Manager McCurry emailed a photograph of it to Cannon and other managers, noting that he was going to try to find out what the Union was discussing with the drivers. In a follow-up email sent later that day, McCurry stated that all the drivers to whom he had spoken responded that they shut down the union representatives and were not interested in speaking to the Union.⁶⁴

To determine the lawfulness of an employer’s interrogation, the Board evaluates whether, under all the circumstances, the interrogation reasonably tended to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights. See *Rossmore House*, 269 NLRB 1176, 1177 (1984), affd. sub nom. *Hotel & Restaurant Employees Local 11 v. NLRB*, 760 F.2d 1006 (9th Cir. 1985). “Circumstantial factors relevant to the analysis include the background against which the questioning occurred, the nature of the information sought, the identity of the questioner, the place and method of interrogation, the truthfulness of the employee’s reply, and whether the employee involved was an open and active union supporter.” *Kumho Tires Georgia*, 370 NLRB No. 32, slip op. at 5 fn. 14 (2020).

For the reasons discussed below, we find that McCurry coercively interrogated drivers about their union activities

⁶⁰ Neither the General Counsel nor the Union has excepted to the judge’s failure to address the September 18 surveillance allegation.

⁶¹ See, e.g., *ABC Liquors, Inc.*, 263 NLRB 1271, 1278 (1982) (finding that an employer violated Sec. 8(a)(1) where it “instructed an employee to surveil the union activities of its other employees and to submit reports on the same”).

⁶² In dismissing the surveillance allegation, Member Wilcox and Member Prouty apply *Resistance Technology* for institutional reasons. They note that *Resistance Technology* reversed prior caselaw that would have found an employer’s instructions to its supervisors to engage in

unlawful conduct was itself an unfair labor practice. See *Cannon Electric Co.*, 151 NLRB 1465, 1468–1469 (1965). In their view, the principles in *Cannon Electric* bear considering, and they would be open to reconsidering *Resistance Technology* in a future appropriate case.

⁶³ Because we dismiss this allegation on the merits, we find it unnecessary to address the Respondent’s argument that this allegation is barred by Sec. 10(b).

⁶⁴ The judge discredited McCurry’s testimony that he spoke only to drivers who approached him first. As stated above, we have found no basis for reversing the judge’s credibility findings.

on September 18. McCurry was the highest-ranking management official at the Louisville terminal at that time. See *Bannum Place of Saginaw, LLC*, 370 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 2 (2021) (finding that the fact that the interrogator was the highest-ranking individual at the facility weighed in favor of finding the interrogation unlawful), enfd. 41 F.4th 518 (6th Cir. 2022). The evidence establishes that McCurry approached drivers while the job action was occurring and asked them about their discussions with the union representatives conducting the job action. Since union Business Agent McCutcheon testified that a job action is intended to build support for the Union, McCurry not only questioned employees about their discussions with the Union almost immediately after those discussions occurred but interrogated them in a manner that would have required them to reveal their union sympathies if they answered truthfully. The coercive nature of these interrogations is undeniable given the background atmosphere of hostility toward the Union created by the Respondent's unfair labor practices during the union campaign and its other conduct that exhibited union animus. See *Seton Co.*, 332 NLRB 979, 982 (2000) (finding an interrogation unlawful where it "occurred against a background of numerous other unfair labor practices"), enfd. mem. 276 F.3d 579 (3d Cir. 2001). Accordingly, we affirm the judge's finding that the Respondent, through McCurry, violated Section 8(a)(1) on September 18 by interrogating employees about their union activities.

AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Respondent, Quickway Transportation, Inc., is an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. The Union, General Drivers, Warehousemen and Helpers, Local Union No. 89, affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters, is a labor organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. Since July 10, 2020, the Union has been the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of the following appropriate unit:

All full-time and regular part-time drivers employed by the Respondent at its 2827 S. English Station Road, Louisville, Kentucky facility and its sub-terminals located in Versailles and Franklin, Kentucky, excluding all office clerical employees, temporary employees, professional employees, guards and supervisors, as defined by the National Labor Relations Act (Act).

4. The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by engaging in the following conduct:

(a) Threatening employees with closure of the Louisville terminal if they selected the Union as their representative.

(b) Instructing employee Donald Hendricks to provide it with a list of employees who were involved in the Union's organizing campaign or who supported the Union.

(c) Threatening employees that it would lose its contract with The Kroger Company and be forced to discharge all the employees at the Louisville terminal if they selected the Union as their representative.

(d) Threatening to cease making contributions to employees' ESOP accounts if they selected the Union as their representative.

(e) Threatening to take legal action against employee Brent Wilson because he filed an unfair labor practice charge.

(f) Coercively interrogating employees about their union activities.

5. The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act by ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal and discharging all the employees in the bargaining unit described above for antiunion reasons and to chill unionism at its other terminals and at other affiliates of Paladin Capital, Inc. in circumstances where such a chilling effect was reasonably foreseeable.

6. The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(4) of the Act by threatening to take legal action against driver Brent Wilson because he filed an unfair labor practice charge.

7. The Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by failing to provide the Union notice and an opportunity to bargain regarding its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all the unit employees and the effects of that decision.

8. The above unfair labor practices affect commerce within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.

AMENDED REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent engaged in certain unfair labor practices, we shall order it to cease and desist and to take certain affirmative action designed to effectuate the policies of the Act.

When an employer has unlawfully closed one of its facilities and discharged all its employees at that facility for discriminatory reasons, "the Board's usual practice in such circumstances is to order a return to the status quo ante—that is, to require the employer to restore the operations as they existed before the discrimination, unless the employer can show that such a remedy would be unduly burdensome, and to reinstate the employees." *International Shipping Agency, Inc.*, 369 NLRB No. 79, slip op. at 7 (2020); see also *Lear Siegler, Inc.*, 295 NLRB 857, 861 (1989). As the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has recognized, "[t]he threshold to establishing [the employer's]

burden is high.” *Mid-South Bottling Co. v. NLRB*, 876 F.2d 458, 461 (5th Cir. 1989). This heavy burden on the employer in these circumstances is consistent with the Board’s policy that “the wrongdoer, rather than the innocent victim, should bear the hardships of the unlawful action.” *Mashkin Freight Lines, Inc.*, 272 NLRB 427, 428 (1984). In the present case, the Respondent has not argued in any of its briefs on exceptions that an order requiring it to restore its operations at the Louisville terminal would be unduly burdensome.⁶⁵ For the reasons discussed below, we find that the evidence before us does not establish that an order requiring the Respondent to restore its operations at the Louisville terminal would be unduly burdensome.

Initially, we note that the Respondent’s operations at the Louisville terminal were profitable. Thus, ordering the Respondent to restore its operations at the Louisville terminal would not “force the reestablishment of an unprofitable operation,” which the Board has been reluctant to do in the past. *Great Chinese American Sewing Co.*, 227 NLRB 1670, 1670 (1977), *enfd.* 578 F.2d 251 (9th Cir. 1978); see also *Purolator Armored, Inc.*, 268 NLRB 1268, 1269 & *fn.* 5 (1984), *enfd.* 764 F.2d 1423 (11th Cir. 1985).

Although the Respondent returned all the leased trucks at the Louisville terminal to fellow Paladin affiliate CCL after ceasing operations there, the Respondent has not shown that it would be unduly burdensome for it to reacquire a sufficient number of trucks to restore its operations at the Louisville terminal. CCL transferred most of those trucks (40 of 44) to the Respondent’s other terminals or other Paladin affiliates and can therefore transfer those trucks back to the Louisville terminal. The Board has previously found that restoration orders were not unduly burdensome in similar circumstances. See, e.g., *Joy Recovery Technology Corp.*, 320 NLRB 356, 356 *fn.* 4, 370 (1995) (restoration of an unlawfully closed transportation department was not unduly burdensome where the employer could “readily reacquire its leased out equipment”), *enfd.* 134 F.3d 1307 (7th Cir. 1998); *Electronic Data Systems Corp.*, 305 NLRB 219, 263 (1991) (restoration of an unlawfully closed courier operation was not unduly

burdensome where the employer could direct its wholly owned subsidiary to whom it had leased the vehicles previously used by the courier operation “to return the remaining vehicles . . . plus the additional vehicles [the subsidiary] ha[d] acquired”), *remanded in relevant part on other grounds* 985 F.2d 801 (5th Cir. 1993); *Mid-South Bottling Co.*, 287 NLRB 1333, 1349 (1988) (restoration of the unlawfully closed distribution facility was not unduly burdensome where “much of the equipment, including trucks . . . ha[d] been sent to other facilities and could be transferred back to the [unlawfully closed facility]”), *enfd.* 876 F.2d 458 (5th Cir. 1989); see also *B & P Trucking*, 279 NLRB 693, 703 (1986) (restoration of an unlawfully closed trucking operation was not unduly burdensome where the employer “had leased its tractors before and could do so again”), *affd. mem. sub nom. NLRB v. Strassburger*, 815 F.2d 713 (8th Cir. 1987). Moreover, the Respondent has not shown, or even asserted, what expenses it would incur if the trucks were transferred back to the Louisville terminal. See *Ferragon Corp.*, 318 NLRB 359, 362 *fn.* 16 (1995) (rejecting an employer’s argument that restoration of an unlawfully closed operation would be unduly burdensome because the employer “introduced no evidence as to the amounts of [income from rent and referrals] that it would lose if the [unlawfully closed] operation were restored and whether those amounts would be significant”), *enfd. mem.* 88 F.3d 1278 (D.C. Cir. 1996); see also *Power Inc. v. NLRB*, 40 F.3d 409, 425 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (finding that the employer did not establish that restoration of its drilling operations would have been unduly burdensome where it failed to “cite evidence of the cost of leasing or purchasing drills, or show that the cost, whatever it may be, would require a disproportionate capital outlay or cause undue financial hardship”).⁶⁶

Likewise, the Respondent has not shown that a restoration order would be unduly burdensome here because it has subleased the Louisville terminal building. When the Respondent subleased the building in September 2021, it was on notice from both the April 15, 2021 consolidated complaint and the May 25, 2021 second consolidated

⁶⁵ Nor did the Respondent make such an argument in its posthearing brief to the judge.

⁶⁶ The Respondent entered into evidence a 2021 capital expenditures budget that it had prepared prior to the closure of the Louisville terminal. This budget projected that Paladin would be able to defer almost \$5 million in capital expenditures through the transfer of equipment from the Louisville terminal to other Paladin facilities if Kroger did not renew the KDC agreement. Even assuming that this projection was ultimately accurate, the Respondent has not shown that such an investment in equipment resulting from a restoration order here would be out of line with Paladin’s typical capital expenditures, as Paladin budgeted more than \$31 million for capital expenditures in 2021. See *Mid-South Bottling*, 876 F.2d at 462 (finding that the cost to rehabilitate the unlawfully closed

facility did not make a restoration order unduly burdensome where “[t]he investment involved . . . [was] not shown to be out of line with the typical capital investments that the [employer made] for its facilities”). And, in any event, Paladin would not have been able to defer those capital expenditures if the Respondent had not unlawfully ceased operations at the Louisville terminal. See *Ferragon*, 318 NLRB at 362 *fn.* 16 (rejecting an employer’s claim that “it would be unduly burdensome to restore [its unlawfully closed] operation because it would have to hire a new manager and support staff, renew longterm leases, and redeposit \$30,000 with [the company from whom it leased trucks],” given that the employer “took these steps when it started up [that] operation and, but for its unlawful conduct, would not be required to repeat them now”).

complaint that the General Counsel was seeking restoration of the Respondent's operations at the Louisville terminal as they existed on December 9, 2020, to remedy the unfair labor practices alleged in the complaint. The Board has previously ordered restoration of an employer's operations at an unlawfully closed facility where the employer was on notice that the General Counsel was seeking a restoration order at the time that the employer entered into an agreement to sell the unlawfully closed facility because an employer "should not be able to knowingly benefit from its unlawful conduct." *Westchester Lace, Inc.*, 326 NLRB 1227, 1245 (1998); see also *Mid-South Bottling*, 876 F.2d at 462 fn. 5 (finding that where an unlawfully closed facility has deteriorated because of an employer's neglect, the employer "should not be allowed to profit from its failure to prevent further destruction during the delay brought about by its unsuccessful appeal"). We find that the same principle applies where, as here, an employer subleases an unlawfully closed facility when it is on notice that the General Counsel is seeking a restoration order. Moreover, the Respondent has not shown what the cost would be for it to break the sublease agreement or to lease a new facility. See *Ferragon Corp.*, 318 NLRB at 362 fn. 16.

In sum, while we do not claim that restoration of the operations at the Louisville terminal will be cost free, we find that the Respondent—which, as discussed above, has not specifically addressed this issue at any point in these proceedings—has simply failed to meet its burden of proving that those costs would be unduly burdensome. Thus, a restoration order is appropriate here, as "it is not inconsistent with the Respondent's burden to remedy the unfair labor practices found in this case for it to bear the cost or any hardship resulting from the restoration of the status quo, as long as the hardship is not unduly burdensome." *Joy Recovery Technology*, 320 NLRB at 356 fn. 4.

Aside from the potential costs to the Respondent associated with a restoration order, we recognize that the Louisville terminal exclusively serviced Kroger pursuant to the KDC agreement and that the Respondent has resigned from that agreement. We obviously cannot require Kroger to return to the Respondent the work that the Respondent previously performed under the KDC agreement. However, the Board has found that the loss of clients does not preclude a restoration order because "[w]hen the Board

orders the restoration of the status quo ante, it is understood that the order means as far as possible, given the economic realities faced by the employer at the time of compliance." *We Can, Inc.*, 315 NLRB 170, 175 (1994) (internal quotations omitted). In *We Can*, the Board recognized that, even after a good-faith effort, the employer might not have been able to attract enough clients to restore its collection network to its size before the employer unlawfully reduced it. See *id.* Thus, the Board specified that the employer would "be in compliance with [the] reinstatement order if it reinstate[d] as many of the discharged employees . . . as [were] needed to serve the clients it ha[d] been able to attract and retain." *Id.* For the sake of clarity during the compliance stage of these proceedings, we will similarly qualify the Respondent's reinstatement obligation below.⁶⁷

Accordingly, having found that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by ceasing operations at its Louisville terminal and discharging all its unit employees and violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to give the Union notice and an opportunity to bargain regarding its decision to do so, we shall order the Respondent to, within a reasonable period of time, reopen and restore its business operations at the Louisville terminal as they existed on December 9, 2020.⁶⁸ Further, we shall order the Respondent to offer full reinstatement to the unlawfully discharged unit employees to their former jobs, or, if those jobs no longer exist, to substantially equivalent positions, without prejudice to their seniority or any other rights or privileges previously enjoyed, to the extent that their services are needed at the Louisville terminal to perform the work that the Respondent is able to attract and retain from Kroger or new customers after a good-faith effort, giving preference to the unit employees in order of seniority. We shall require the Respondent to offer reinstatement to any remaining unit employees to any positions in its existing operations that they are capable of filling, with appropriate moving expenses, giving preference to the remaining unit employees in order of seniority. In the event of the unavailability of jobs sufficient to permit the reinstatement of all unit employees, the Respondent shall place any unit employees for whom jobs are not now available on a preferential hiring list for any future vacancies that may occur in positions in its existing operations that they are capable of filling.

⁶⁷ We do not think that it is unrealistic that the Respondent will be able to attract and retain at least some of the work that it previously performed at the KDC. The relationship between Kroger and the Respondent was not limited to the KDC, as the Quickway Group generates approximately 75 to 80 percent of its revenue from services provided to Kroger and uses nine of its terminals to service Kroger exclusively.

Further, at some terminals, Quickway Group affiliates service Kroger without a formal contract.

⁶⁸ At the compliance stage of these proceedings, the Respondent will have the opportunity to introduce evidence that was not available at the time of the unfair labor practice hearing to demonstrate that this restoration order would be unduly burdensome. See *Lear Siegler*, 295 NLRB at 861–862.

Additionally, we shall order the Respondent to make the unlawfully discharged unit employees whole for any loss of earnings and other benefits suffered as a result of their discharges. Backpay shall be computed in accordance with *F. W. Woolworth Co.*, 90 NLRB 289 (1950), with interest at the rate prescribed in *New Horizons*, 283 NLRB 1173 (1987), compounded daily as prescribed in *Kentucky River Medical Center*, 356 NLRB 6 (2010). In accordance with our decision in *Thryv, Inc.*, 372 NLRB No. 22 (2022), the Respondent shall also compensate these employees for any other direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms incurred as a result of the unlawful discharges, including reasonable search-for-work and interim employment expenses, if any, regardless of whether these expenses exceed interim earnings. Compensation for these harms shall be calculated separately from taxable net backpay, with interest at the rate prescribed in *New Horizons*, supra, compounded daily as prescribed in *Kentucky River Medical Center*, supra. Further, we shall order the Respondent to compensate the unlawfully discharged unit employees for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum backpay awards and to file with the Regional Director for Region 9, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report allocating the backpay awards to the appropriate calendar year(s). *AdvoServ of New Jersey, Inc.*, 363 NLRB 1324 (2016). In accordance with our decision in *Cascades Containerboard Packaging—Niagara*, 370 NLRB No. 76 (2021), as modified in 371 NLRB No. 25 (2021), we shall order the Respondent to file with the Regional Director for Region 9 copies of the unlawfully discharged unit employees' corresponding W-2 form(s) reflecting the backpay awards. We shall also order the Respondent to remove from its files any references to the unlawful discharges and to notify the employees in writing that this has been done and that the unlawful discharges will not be used against them in any way.

Because the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal before appropriate bargaining occurred with the newly certified Union and in order to ensure that the unit employees will be accorded the statutorily prescribed services of their selected bargaining agent for the period provided by law, we shall order a 12-month extension of the certification year from the time that the Respondent begins to bargain in good faith pursuant to *Mar-Jac Poultry Co.*, 136 NLRB 785 (1962). See *Lear Siegler*, 295 NLRB at 872 (ordering a 12-month extension of the certification year as part of a restoration order where an employer violated Section 8(a)(3) by ceasing production operations at one plant, transferring those operations to another plant, and laying off all its production employees); *Mid-South Bottling*, 287 NLRB at 1350 (ordering a 12-month extension of the

certification year as part of a restoration order where an employer violated Section 8(a)(3) by closing a facility and transferring that facility's operations elsewhere and Section 8(a)(5) by failing to bargain over that decision). "An extension of the certification year is warranted where an employer 'has refused to bargain with the elected bargaining representative during part or all of the year immediately following the certification' and as a result 'has taken from the Union the opportunity to bargain during the period when [u]nions are generally at their greatest strength.'" *Kitsap Tenant Support Services, Inc.*, 366 NLRB No. 98, slip op. at 23 (2018) (quoting *Northwest Graphics, Inc.*, 342 NLRB 1288, 1289 (2004), enfd. mem. per curiam 156 F. App'x 331 (D.C. Cir. 2005)) (alteration in original), enfd. mem. No. 18-1187 consolidated with 18-1217, 2019 U.S. App. LEXIS 13055 (D.C. Cir. Apr. 30, 2019). Given the circumstances here—where the Respondent recognized the Union as the Louisville drivers' exclusive collective-bargaining representative for less than 5 weeks before it unlawfully ceased operations at the Louisville terminal and had only one bargaining session with the Union—we find that a 12-month extension of the certification year is necessary to ensure that the Union receives the 1-year period of good-faith bargaining to which it is entitled. The parties simply did not have the opportunity to make meaningful progress toward a collective-bargaining agreement before the Respondent unlawfully closed the Louisville terminal and discharged the entire bargaining unit. See *Sunbelt Rentals, Inc.*, 370 NLRB No. 102, slip op. at 5 (2021) (ordering a 12-month extension of the certification year where the employer "effectively denied the [u]nion its full opportunity to bargain during the entirety of the certification year" even though "the parties seemed to make progress in negotiations during three meetings"); *Fallbrook Hospital*, 360 NLRB 644, 645 (2014) (ordering a 12-month extension of the certification year where an employer "effectively precluded any meaningful bargaining for virtually the entire certification year"), enfd. 785 F.3d 729 (D.C. Cir. 2015); see also *Glomac Plastics, Inc.*, 234 NLRB 1309, 1309 fn. 4 (1978) (holding that the Board may "order, under proper circumstances, a complete renewal of a certification year, even in cases where there has been good-faith bargaining in the prior certification year"), enfd. 592 F.2d 94 (2d Cir. 1979).

The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit has recognized that an extension of the certification year is "a standard remedy when an employer's refusal to bargain has consumed all or a substantial part of the original post-election certification year." *Veritas Health Services v. NLRB*, 895 F.3d 69, 80 (D.C. Cir. 2018); see also *Electrical Workers Local 2338 v. NLRB*, 499 F.2d 542, 544 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (explaining

that an extension of the certification year “is designed to make up to the union any opportunity lost by it to reach agreement during the certification year by reason of dilatory tactics on the part of the employer . . . and [has been] recognized by the courts as an appropriate addition to the Board’s arsenal of remedies”). However, another line of D.C. Circuit cases requires the Board to justify, on the facts of each case, the imposition of an affirmative bargaining order, which the D.C. Circuit views as an extraordinary remedy and has defined as an order to bargain for a reasonable period of time that is accompanied by a decertification bar. See, e.g., *Vincent Industrial Plastics, Inc. v. NLRB*, 209 F.3d 727, 738–739 (D.C. Cir. 2000); *Lee Lumber & Building Material Corp. v. NLRB*, 117 F.3d 1454, 1460–1462 (D.C. Cir. 1997); *Exxel/Atmos, Inc. v. NLRB*, 28 F.3d 1243, 1248–1249 (D.C. Cir. 1994). In *Vincent Industrial*, the court summarized its requirement that an affirmative bargaining order “must be justified by a reasoned analysis that includes an explicit balancing of three considerations: (1) the employees’ § 7 rights; (2) whether other purposes of the Act override the rights of employees to choose their bargaining representatives; and (3) whether alternative remedies are adequate to remedy the violations of the Act.” 209 F.3d at 738. Although we do not believe that this latter line of cases is applicable when the Board orders an extension of the certification year—and although we disagree with the D.C. Circuit’s requirement to justify, on the facts of each case, the imposition of an affirmative bargaining order for the reasons set forth in *Caterair International*, 322 NLRB 64 (1996)—we nevertheless have examined the particular facts of this case and find that a balancing of the three factors warrants extending the certification year by 12 months, which carries with it a decertification bar for that limited period.

(1) The 12-month extension of the certification year and its accompanying 12-month decertification bar in this case vindicate the Section 7 rights of the unit employees who were denied the benefits of collective bargaining during the initial certification year because of the Respondent’s unlawful cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal. As discussed above, the Respondent unlawfully closed the Louisville terminal and discharged all the unit employees less than 5 weeks after it first recognized the Union as the unit employees’ representative, and the parties held only one bargaining session during that brief period of recognition. By this unlawful conduct, the Respondent denied the Union the opportunity to bargain on behalf of the unit employees for most of the period during which unions are generally at their greatest strength and prevented the parties from making meaningful progress toward reaching a collective-bargaining agreement. The Respondent’s unlawful conduct completely undermined

the collective-bargaining process, defeating the policy behind the special status given to the Union during the certification year, a status meant to ensure that the parties’ bargaining relationship will be allowed to function free from distraction for the full certification year. Moreover, because of the ensuing litigation over the Respondent’s unfair labor practices—which to date has lasted more than 2 years—it would be unrealistic to think that the parties could pick up exactly where they left off when the Respondent ceased operations at the Louisville terminal in December 2020. Rather, the Union needs time to reestablish its representative status with the unit employees. Because the Union did not receive a 12-month opportunity to reach an overall collective-bargaining agreement with the Respondent, it is only by requiring the Respondent to bargain with the Union for 12 months—without the threat of decertification hanging over the Union—that the unit employees will be afforded the benefits of the 12 months of bargaining to which they were entitled by virtue of exercising their Section 7 rights to select the Union as their exclusive collective-bargaining representative.

At the same time, extending the certification year by 12 months, with its accompanying 12-month bar to raising a question concerning the Union’s continuing majority status, does not unduly prejudice the Section 7 rights of employees who may oppose continued representation by the Union because the duration of the order is no longer than is reasonably necessary to remedy the ill effects of the Respondent’s unfair labor practices. Indeed, if the Respondent had abided by the Act and refrained from committing any unfair labor practices, any employee who wished to remove the Union would have had to wait until after the expiration of the certification year to do so. Accordingly, the 12-month decertification bar that accompanies the 12-month extension of the certification year in this case does not put the employees in any worse position than they would have occupied had the Respondent not violated the Act. Moreover, it is only by restoring the status quo ante and requiring the Respondent to bargain in good faith with the Union for 12 months that the employees will be able to fairly assess the Union’s effectiveness as a bargaining representative in an atmosphere free of the Respondent’s unlawful conduct. The employees can then determine whether continued representation by the Union is in their best interest.

(2) The 12-month extension of the certification year and its accompanying 12-month decertification bar serve the purposes and policies of the Act by fostering meaningful collective bargaining and industrial peace and by removing the Respondent’s incentive to delay bargaining in the hope of discouraging support for the Union. Such an order ensures that the Union will be afforded the full 12-

month period to bargain to which it was entitled and will not be pressured by the prospect of a decertification petition or an imminent withdrawal of recognition to achieve immediate results at the bargaining table following the Board's resolution of its unfair labor practice charges and issuance of a cease-and-desist order. Without the 12-month extension of the certification year and its accompanying 12-month decertification bar, the Respondent's unlawful conduct will be rewarded and the purposes and policies underlying the certification-year rule will be undermined.

(3) A cease-and-desist order alone would be inadequate to remedy the Respondent's violations because it would not return the parties to the status quo. While a cease-and-desist order requires the offending employer to bargain, it does so in a context outside the protective range of the 1-year conclusive presumption afforded to the certified representative. Had the Respondent not unlawfully ceased operations at the Louisville terminal and discharged all the unit employees, it would have been precluded from questioning the Union's majority status and withdrawing recognition for 12 full months even if every unit employee had signed a disaffection petition. The 12-month decertification bar accompanying the extension of the certification year here simply affords the Union the same protection it should have rightfully enjoyed during its first year following certification. In other words, if we were to refrain from imposing the limited decertification bar, we would permit the Respondent to frustrate the core purpose of the protected period by ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal and discharging the entire unit. And this could encourage similar violations by employers that wish to rid themselves of the very unions that their employees have chosen to represent them for the purposes of collective bargaining through the congressionally sanctioned process of a secret-ballot election. Moreover, a cease-and-desist order alone would allow for a challenge to the Union's majority status before the taint of the Respondent's unlawful conduct has dissipated and before the unit employees have had a reasonable time to regroup and bargain through their chosen representative to reach an initial collective-bargaining agreement. The Respondent's unlawful cessation of operations at the Louisville terminal will likely have a continuing effect, thereby tainting any employee disaffection from the Union arising immediately following the Respondent's restoration of operations there. We find that these circumstances outweigh the temporary impact that the 12-month extension of the certification year and its accompanying 12-month decertification bar will have on the rights of employees who oppose continued union representation.

For all the foregoing reasons, we find that the 12-month extension of the certification year with its accompanying 12-month decertification bar is necessary to fully remedy the violations in this case.

Finally, to inform the affected employees of the outcome of these proceedings in a timely manner, we shall order that the Respondent, in addition to posting copies of the attached notice after the restoration of its operations at the Louisville terminal, mail a copy of that notice to the last known addresses of its former employees at the Louisville terminal who were employed by the Respondent at any time since July 27, 2019.

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the Respondent, Quickway Transportation, Inc., Louisville, Kentucky, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Threatening employees with closure of its terminal in Louisville, Kentucky (Louisville terminal) if they select General Drivers, Warehousemen and Helpers, Local Union No. 89, affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the Union) as their representative.

(b) Instructing employees to provide it with a list of employees who are involved in the Union's organizing campaign or who support the Union.

(c) Threatening employees that it will lose its contract with The Kroger Company and be forced to discharge all the employees at the Louisville terminal if employees select the Union as their representative.

(d) Threatening employees that it will cease making contributions to employees' ESOP accounts if they select the Union as their representative.

(e) Threatening employees with legal action because they file unfair labor practice charges.

(f) Coercively interrogating employees about their union activities.

(g) Ceasing operations at the Louisville terminal and discharging all the employees in the bargaining unit for antiunion reasons and to chill unionism at its other terminals and at other affiliates of Paladin Capital, Inc. in circumstances where such a chilling effect is reasonably foreseeable.

(h) Failing and refusing to provide the Union notice and an opportunity to bargain regarding its decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all the unit employees and the effects of that decision.

(i) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) Within a reasonable period of time, reopen and restore its business operations at the Louisville terminal as they existed on December 9, 2020.

(b) Following the restoration of its operations at the Louisville terminal, offer the unlawfully discharged unit employees full reinstatement to their former jobs, or, if those jobs no longer exist, to substantially equivalent positions, without prejudice to their seniority or any other rights or privileges previously enjoyed, to the extent that their services are needed at the Louisville terminal to perform the work that the Respondent is able to attract and retain from The Kroger Company or new customers after a good-faith effort, giving preference to the unit employees in order of seniority. Offer remaining unit employees reinstatement to any positions in its existing operations that they are capable of filling, with appropriate moving expenses, giving preference to the remaining unit employees in order of seniority. In the event of the unavailability of jobs sufficient to permit the reinstatement of all unit employees, place unit employees for whom jobs are not now available on a preferential hiring list for any future vacancies that may occur in positions in its existing operations that they are capable of filling.

(c) Make the unlawfully discharged unit employees whole for any loss of earnings and other benefits, and for any other direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms suffered as a result of the discrimination against them, in the manner set forth in the amended remedy section of this decision.

(d) Compensate affected employees for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum backpay awards, and file with the Regional Director for Region 9, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report allocating the backpay awards to the appropriate calendar year(s) for each employee.

(e) File with the Regional Director for Region 9, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed by agreement or Board order or such additional time as the Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a copy of each backpay recipient's corresponding W-2 form(s) reflecting the backpay award.

(f) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, remove from its files any reference to the unlawful discharges, and within 3 days thereafter, notify the employees in writing

that this has been done and that the discharges will not be used against them in any way.

(g) Recognize and, on request, bargain with the Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of the employees in the following appropriate unit concerning terms and conditions of employment and, if an understanding is reached, embody the understanding in a signed agreement:

All full-time and regular part-time drivers employed by the Respondent at its 2827 S. English Station Road, Louisville, Kentucky facility and its sub-terminals located in Versailles and Franklin, Kentucky, excluding all office clerical employees, temporary employees, professional employees, guards and supervisors, as defined by the National Labor Relations Act (Act).

The certification year is extended for an additional 12 months from the date that the Respondent begins to bargain in good faith.

(h) Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, or such additional time as the Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, provide at a reasonable place designated by the Board or its agents, all payroll records, social security payment records, timecards, personnel records and reports, and all other records, including an electronic copy of such records if stored in electronic form, necessary to analyze the amount of backpay due under the terms of this Order.

(i) Within 14 days after service by the Region, duplicate and mail, at its own expense and after being signed by the Respondent's authorized representative, copies of the attached notice marked "Appendix"⁶⁹ to the last known addresses of all employees who were employed by the Respondent at the Louisville terminal at any time since July 27, 2019. In addition to the mailing of paper notices, notices shall be distributed electronically, such as by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, and/or other electronic means, if the Respondent customarily communicates with its employees by such means.

(j) Following the restoration of its operations at the Louisville terminal, post at the Louisville terminal copies of the attached notice marked "Appendix."⁷⁰ Copies of the notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for Region 9, after being signed by the Respondent's authorized representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and

⁶⁹ If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notice reading "Mailed and Posted by Order of the National Labor Relations Board" shall read "Mailed and Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board."

⁷⁰ If the facility involved in these proceedings is open and staffed by a substantial complement of employees, the notice must be posted within 14 days after the restoration of operations at the Louisville terminal. If

the facility involved in these proceedings is closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of employees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, the notice must be posted within 14 days after the facility reopens and a substantial complement of employees have returned to work. If the notice to be physically posted was posted electronically more than 60 days before physical posting of the notice, the notice shall state at the bottom that "This notice is the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically on [date]."

maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places, including all places where notices to employees are customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other material.

(j) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the Regional Director for Region 9 a sworn certification of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the complaint is dismissed insofar as it alleges violations of the Act not specifically found.

Dated, Washington, D.C. August 25, 2023

Gwynne A. Wilcox, Member

David M. Prouty, Member

(SEAL) NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

MEMBER KAPLAN, dissenting in part.

The Respondent operates trucking terminals. At the time of the events in this case, the Respondent operated a terminal in Louisville, Kentucky, that serviced only one customer: Kroger. Under its Carrier Services Agreement with Kroger, the Respondent transported bulk groceries and perishable items from a large warehouse in Louisville—the Kroger Distribution Center—to hundreds of Kroger grocery stores across four states. In 2020, the Respondent’s Louisville drivers chose Teamsters Local 89 (Local 89 or the Union) as their collective-bargaining representative. Local 89 also represents drivers employed by Transervice Logistics, which also transports goods from the Kroger Distribution Center to Kroger stores, as well as the warehouse workers, employed by Zenith Logistics, who staff the Kroger Distribution Center. The collective-bargaining agreements covering Transervice Logistics’ drivers and Zenith Logistics’ warehouse workers give those employees the right to engage in sympathy strikes.

While negotiating in good faith with Local 89 for an initial collective-bargaining agreement covering its Louisville drivers, the Respondent received credible reports that

¹ Kroger demanded that the Respondent terminate the Carrier Services Agreement if it could not provide assurances of full performance, but that agreement did not give the Respondent the right to terminate it (except under contractually specified circumstances absent here). Only

Local 89 was planning to strike in three days if the Respondent did not accept its bargaining demands. One such report disclosed that if Local 89 struck the Respondent, Transervice Logistics’ drivers and Zenith Logistics’ warehouse workers would also strike, shutting down the Kroger Distribution Center. Kroger informed the Respondent that under no circumstances could the distribution center be shut down, and it issued the Respondent an ultimatum: either provide assurances that it would fulfill all its obligations under the Carrier Services Agreement, even if the Union struck, or terminate that agreement. Kroger gave the Respondent just 3 hours to respond. Because the Respondent could not provide Kroger those assurances, and because it had no choice, it asked Kroger to release it from the Carrier Services Agreement, and Kroger complied.¹ With no work for its Louisville drivers to perform, the Respondent closed its Louisville terminal and laid off the drivers.

The General Counsel alleged that by this conduct, the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3), (5), and (1) of the Act. The administrative law judge dismissed the 8(a)(3) allegation, finding that the Respondent’s conduct was lawful under *Textile Workers Union v. Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 380 U.S. 263 (1965). The judge also dismissed the 8(a)(5) allegation, as well as several 8(a)(1) allegations and an 8(a)(4) allegation that had been settled but were reinstated by the General Counsel on the basis of the alleged violations of Section 8(a)(3) and (5).

Under *Darlington*, an employer that closes part of its business for antiunion reasons violates Section 8(a)(3) if it is “motivated by a purpose to chill unionism in any of [its] remaining plants . . . and . . . the employer may reasonably have foreseen that such closing would likely have that effect.” 380 U.S. at 275. Accordingly, the threshold issue in this case under *Darlington* is whether the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons. It did not. The Respondent closed the terminal because it had no work for its Louisville drivers to perform once the Carrier Services Agreement had been terminated, and the Carrier Services Agreement was terminated because the Respondent could not assure Kroger that it would be able to meet its obligations under that agreement if the Union struck, and Kroger’s ultimatum left it no other choice. Accordingly, the Section 8(a)(3) claim fails at the very first step of the *Darlington* analysis. Although that analysis need proceed no further, I will also show that the closure of the Louisville terminal was not motivated by a purpose to chill unionism in any of the Respondent’s

Kroger had the right to terminate the Carrier Services Agreement. Accordingly, the Respondent needed Kroger’s cooperation to end their contractual relationship at the Kroger Distribution Center.

remaining terminals. It was not so motivated because the Respondent was unaware of ongoing union activity at any other terminal, nor did it believe that union organizing at any other terminal was imminently intended.² Furthermore, the Respondent's decisions to terminate the Carrier Services Agreement and close the Louisville terminal were exempt from bargaining under *First National Maintenance Corp. v. NLRB*, 452 U.S. 666 (1981), and therefore the Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(5) by making those decisions unilaterally. And because the Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(3) or (5), the settlement agreements that resolved the earlier 8(a)(1) and (4) allegations should not have been set aside and must be reinstated.

My colleagues reach opposite conclusions on each of these issues. They find that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) under *Darlington* and also Section 8(a)(5). They uphold the General Counsel's decision to set aside the settlement agreements, and they find merit in the previously settled 8(a)(1) and (4) allegations. They also find that the Respondent coercively interrogated employees about their union activities, even though the record is silent regarding what the Respondent asked those employees and the circumstances under which the allegedly unlawful questioning occurred. Because my colleagues' findings are neither supported by the record nor based on settled law, I respectfully dissent in relevant part.³

Facts

Respondent Quickway Transportation, Inc. (the Respondent or Quickway) is a commercial motor carrier. It is one of three trucking companies that together comprise the Quickway Group, the other two being Quickway Services, Inc. and Quickway Carriers, Inc. The Quickway Group operated 17 terminals nationwide, 13 of which—including the now-closed Louisville terminal—were operated by the Respondent. Seven of those 13 terminals serviced Kroger exclusively, and 75 to 80 percent of the Respondent's revenue is generated by its business with Kroger. The Quickway Group companies are affiliated with Paladin Capital, Inc. (Paladin). William Prevost is the chief executive officer of Paladin and each of its affiliates, including the Respondent. Joe Campbell is

Paladin's president and chief operating officer. Chris Cannon is vice president of operations for Quickway Group.

Various Teamsters locals represent drivers at four Quickway Group terminals: Quickway Services' terminal in Livonia, Michigan (Teamsters Local 164), Quickway Carriers' terminals in Lynchburg, Virginia (Teamsters Local 171), and Shelbyville, Indiana (Teamsters Local 135), and the Respondent's terminal in Landover, Maryland (Teamsters Local 639). At one time, the drivers at the Respondent's Indianapolis, Indiana terminal were represented by Teamsters Local 135, but the Indianapolis drivers decertified Local 135 in 2008. Local 135 subsequently mounted another organizing campaign among Quickway's Indianapolis drivers. That campaign culminated in a November 2019 election, which Local 135 lost.

The Respondent employed 60–70 drivers at its Louisville terminal. It leased trucks from Capital City Leasing (CCL), also a Paladin affiliate, with which it shared the Louisville terminal. The Respondent and CCL jointly leased the Louisville terminal from a third party. The lease has a 10-year term, ending August 31, 2024. CCL employed several mechanics, who maintained and repaired Quickway's leased trucks and performed similar services for other customers. As described more fully below, the Respondent ceased doing business at its Louisville terminal on December 9, 2020, and CCL closed its truck-repair business soon after.⁴ The terminal was sublet in September 2021.

Before it closed the Louisville terminal, Quickway provided outbound delivery of bulk grocery items, including frozen foods and perishable groceries, from the Kroger Distribution Center (KDC) in Louisville to 242 Kroger grocery stores across four states.⁵ It did so under the terms of the Dedicated Contract Carrier Services Agreement (CSA) by and between Kroger Limited Partnership I and Quickway Logistics, Inc., effective February 3, 2018, through February 3, 2021.⁶ The CSA obligated the Respondent to “transport and deliver” goods “to and between those points designated by” Kroger “as required by” Kroger. Under its terms, the Respondent guaranteed its capacity to meet Kroger's forecasted demand up to the Respondent's capacity limit, but the CSA permitted Kroger

² See *Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 165 NLRB 1074, 1084 (1967) (inferring a purpose to chill unionism at other plants absent ongoing union activity based on “a strong employer belief that the union [was] intending imminently to organize the employees in his other operations”), *enfd.* 397 F.2d 760 (4th Cir. 1968), *cert. denied* 393 U.S. 1023 (1969).

³ I join my colleagues in reversing the judge's finding that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(1) by condoning prior surveillance of employees' union activities and sanctioning further surveillance. In doing so, however, I do not join them in questioning the soundness of

Resistance Technology, 280 NLRB 1004 (1986), *affd. mem.* 830 F.2d 1188 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

⁴ All dates hereafter are in 2020 unless stated otherwise.

⁵ Quickway also provided limited inbound service to the KDC from Empire Meat Packing in Mason, Ohio.

⁶ Quickway Logistics is not part of the Quickway Group. It is a separate entity that brokers freight to various carriers. The Respondent contracts with Quickway Logistics, and through that contract it was bound to the CSA.

to order shipments in excess of that capacity limit.⁷ Quickway was Kroger's secondary dedicated carrier at the KDC. Transervice Logistics (Transervice) was Kroger's primary dedicated carrier, and an addendum to the CSA provided that "[e]very load" to be transported by Quickway from the Louisville KDC "is assigned by Transervice." Accordingly, Kroger directed its shipment orders to Transervice, which kept some for itself and assigned others to Quickway. Nothing in the CSA expressly limited the number of loads Transervice could assign to Quickway up to its capacity limit. The CSA made Quickway "responsible and liable for equipment security and cargo integrity at all times when cargo [was] in [Quickway's] possession." The CSA contained a *force majeure* clause, which released the parties from liability for any failure to meet contractual obligations resulting from causes beyond their control, such as "wars" or "civil disturbances," but the clause excluded from such causes "labor unrest or strikes." The CSA permitted Kroger to terminate the CSA without cause on 30 days' notice, but it allowed termination by Quickway only for certain stated causes, none of which was present during the events at issue here.

Zenith Logistics (Zenith) staffs the warehouse operations at the KDC. Teamsters Local 89 represents Transervice's drivers and Zenith's warehouse employees. Transervice and Zenith have separate collective-bargaining agreements with Local 89, covering approximately 120–140 drivers and approximately 600 warehouse employees, respectively. These agreements preserve the unit employees' right to engage in sympathy strikes. In June 2019, Local 89 began a campaign to organize the Respondent's Louisville drivers as well.

The Respondent operates a terminal in Murfreesboro, Tennessee, and its Murfreesboro drivers occasionally picked up loads at the KDC. On May 28, Quickway Group Vice President Cannon instructed several managers to "disconnect any and all Murfreesboro drivers from picking up loads from the KDC" because "[a]ny Murfreesboro driver that comes on the lot at the KDC is being approached by the union, and we certainly do not want the union to infect our Murfreesboro fleet." Local 89's geographical jurisdiction does not include Tennessee or any portion of Tennessee. The Respondent's Murfreesboro

terminal is within the geographical jurisdiction of Teamsters Local 480, which is headquartered in Nashville.⁸

Local 89's campaign among the Respondent's Louisville drivers culminated in a mail-ballot election that began in May and concluded in June. The ballots were opened and counted on June 22. That day, Kroger Vice President for Supply Chain Operations Joe Obermeier emailed Cannon to ask if there was "[a]ny news yet." Cannon replied: "We just finished the [teleconference] and the counting of the votes. There were 42 ballots cast. 17 NO votes and 25 YES votes. Our Louisville drivers have voted the union in." Obermeier asked Cannon about "potential next steps." Cannon answered: "The board agent (NLRB) will mail out the certifications within a week and either side has one week to challenge. Beyond that I will need to get with my counsel to address the next steps which should be nothing more than scheduling a time to start negotiations with local 89." Also on June 22, Paladin President and COO Campbell emailed CEO Prevost and Paladin Director of Human Resources Randy Harris concerning the results of the election. Campbell called the results a "[t]ough blow" and expressed surprise and disappointment at Local 89's margin of victory, but he went on to say that the Respondent would "establish the right process and engagement with the [Louisville] Teamsters/team members as we negotiate the contract." Anticipating the risk of a strike, Prevost emailed Cannon and Harris on June 23 to suggest the possibility of "get[ting] Kroger" to contract with a towing company to "shuttle our loads to our yard," i.e., from the KDC to the Louisville terminal. "That should prevent the ponies"—i.e., Teamsters Local 89—"from picketing at the [K]DC," Prevost opined.

The Respondent opened a new terminal in Hebron, Kentucky, in October.⁹ One month earlier, Donald Hendricks, a disgruntled former dispatcher at the Louisville terminal, sent an email to Cannon and two other managers with the subject line, "Teamsters is coming for Hebron!" in which he claimed that he would be "responsible for Hebron," i.e., for organizing Hebron's drivers. Hendricks was not employed by Local 89, and there is no evidence that he was acting as its agent when he sent this email.

Postelection Board proceedings in the representation case ended on October 26, when the Board denied the

⁷ An addendum to the CSA provided that "[s]hipments tendered in excess of the forecast or beyond the capacity limit may still be moved by the Carrier," i.e., by Quickway. Accordingly, the CSA contemplated that Kroger could place shipment orders that would exceed Quickway's capacity limit.

⁸ I take administrative notice of this fact and of the fact that Murfreesboro is 35 miles from Nashville.

Charges were filed alleging that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(1) and (4) during Local 89's organizing campaign among the Respondent's

Louisville drivers. Those charges were settled, and the settlement agreements contained non-admission clauses, which stated that the Respondent did not admit that it had violated the Act in any way. Because the settlement agreements contained non-admission clauses and should be reinstated, I will not repeat these 8(a)(1) and (4) allegations.

⁹ I take administrative notice that Hebron, Kentucky, is 95 miles from Louisville.

Respondent's request for review of the Regional Director's decision overruling Quickway's election objections. On October 27, the Union asked Quickway for available dates for collective bargaining. On November 6, Quickway responded with proposed dates. The Respondent and Local 89 held their first bargaining session on November 19, during which they reached tentative agreement on a number of issues. Although neither party presented a proposal on economics at their initial meeting, Local 89 President Fred Zuckerman said at that meeting that the Union intended to maintain the area standards already in place at the KDC. Specifically, Zuckerman told the Respondent's negotiators that he was "very adamant about the area standards." Previously, in August, CEO Prevost and Quickway Group Vice President Cannon told Kroger that they did not think the Respondent could agree to terms similar to those in Local 89's contract with Transervice. The next bargaining session between the Respondent and Local 89 was scheduled for December 10. In advance of that session, Local 89 requested certain information, which the Respondent promptly furnished.

While the Respondent was preparing for the December 10 bargaining session, Local 89—unbeknownst to the Respondent—was obtaining approval from the International Union to provide strike benefits, both for the Respondent's drivers and for Transervice drivers and Zenith warehouse employees who would choose to exercise their contractually protected right to engage in a sympathy strike in the event Quickway's drivers struck. On December 6, Local 89 convened a meeting of Quickway member drivers to hold a strike-authorization vote. The Union told the members that if there was a strike, Transervice's drivers and Zenith's warehouse workers would refuse to cross the picket line. All drivers present at the December 6 meeting voted to authorize Local 89 to call a strike. That same day, ex-dispatcher Hendricks sent emails to several media outlets, including Louisville television stations WHAS11 and WDRB, concerning a planned strike by the Respondent's Louisville drivers and a sympathy strike by Transervice's drivers and Zenith's warehouse employees.

The next morning, December 7, Cannon received a phone call from Tony Bruce, Kroger's Louisville supply chain manager. Bruce informed Cannon that Kroger had received a media inquiry regarding a planned strike by Quickway's Louisville drivers. After the call, Kroger forwarded to Cannon the email it had received from WHAS Channel 11 News, in which the TV station asked Kroger for a statement on a possible strike later that week if Quickway failed to reach a collective-bargaining agreement with Local 89. Cannon contacted Quickway's attorney, Michael Oesterle, and they discussed the possibility of establishing a reserved gate in case Quickway's drivers

struck so that Transervice drivers and Zenith warehouse employees would still have access to the KDC. At that time, Cannon and Oesterle had not yet seen the message that Hendricks had sent to the television stations, so they were unaware that the message also threatened a sympathy strike by Transervice and Zenith employees.

Early in the afternoon of December 7, Louisville TV station WDRB shared with Kroger the message it had received from Hendricks the day before, which is reproduced here verbatim:

On October 26, 2020, truck drivers for quickway Carriers, a contract carrier for Kroger grocery stores, located at 2827 S. English Station Rd., Louisville, KY had their majority vote to unionize with Teamsters local 89 as their representative was formally recognized. This was after a nearly a year of stalling and retaliatory practice implemented by Quickway Carriers against their employees.

To date the company has not negotiated in good faith and today a strike authorization was held with a unanimous decision of drivers present to strike on December 10th, 2020 if the company does not concede to the drivers negotiations efforts.

The next meeting between Teamsters Local 89, Drivers and company officials will be held at the Hilton Garden Inn 2735 Crittenden Dr. Louisville, KY starting at 0800 on December 10, 2020. At the conclusion of this meeting if company officials refuse to ratify a contract Quickway Carrier Truck Drivers in Louisville will strike.

In recognition, the Teamsters Local 89 Truck Drivers and Warehousemen who work for Transervice and Zenith Logistics which are responsible for the majority of the Kroger Transportation and 100% of warehouse operations will also strike in support of Quickway Carrier drivers.

THIS WILL SHUT DOWN KROGER DISTRIBUTION OPERATIONS IN THEIR ENTIRETY.

During a conference call involving, among others, Cannon, Paladin President and COO Campbell, and Kroger personnel, the participants discussed various mitigation measures in the event the Union struck on December 10. After this call, Kroger forwarded to Cannon a copy of the message it had received from WDRB, and Cannon shared it with Attorney Oesterle. Alarmed by specific and accurate details contained in the message, Cannon and Oesterle reviewed Local 89's contract with Transervice to determine whether there was a genuine risk of a sympathy strike. They learned that there was: the contract preserved Transervice drivers' right to refuse to cross a picket line. Cannon suspected and subsequently confirmed that

workers staffing the KDC had the same right under Local 89's contract with Zenith. Given these realities, Cannon and Oesterle concluded that it would be pointless to establish a reserved gate. Cannon then informed Prevost, Campbell, and Tony Bruce that the Union could shut down the KDC entirely, as the message sent by WDRB portended.

Another conference call with Kroger took place at 9 a.m. on December 8. This time, the discussion was led by Kroger Vice President of Supply Chain Operations Obermeier. Obermeier said that under no circumstances could the KDC be shut down, and that the situation was Quickway's problem and Quickway had to fix it. Cannon voiced his doubts about the effectiveness of any mitigation measures and suggested that an early termination of the CSA might be the only viable alternative. Obermeier replied that he did not expect to hear that. Someone on the call from Kroger said, "That might bring up joint employer."

After this call, Cannon and Campbell met with Prevost and discussed the Respondent's potential liabilities if the Louisville drivers struck and Transervice's drivers and Zenith's employees struck in sympathy, shutting down the KDC. They estimated that if those events transpired and Quickway remained bound to the CSA, it would incur losses running into the millions of dollars. Meanwhile, Paladin's line of credit with its then-current lender, Regions Bank, was expiring on December 31. Campbell and Prevost were working to secure a new and substantially larger line of credit to cover the day-to-day operating costs of Paladin and its affiliates and to do so by the end of December. Paladin had a tentative agreement with Truist Bank for that new line of credit, but the agreement had not been finalized. Campbell and Prevost believed that if the Respondent remained bound to the CSA and the threatened strike and KDC shutdown came to pass, the losses this would inflict on Quickway and Paladin would complicate if not doom Paladin's chances of finalizing that line-of-credit agreement. All things considered, the Respondent concluded that an early termination of the CSA was its best option.

What happened next forced the Respondent's hand. At 2:03 p.m. on December 8, Obermeier emailed Prevost the following letter:

Bill,

¹⁰ At the unfair labor practice hearing, counsel for the Respondent asked Obermeier whether Quickway had asked him to write this letter. "No, sir," Obermeier answered.

¹¹ As noted above, the CSA permitted termination by Quickway only for specified causes, none of which existed in December 2020. Only

On December 8, 2020 you informed Kroger Limited Partnership I that Quickway Logistics has serious doubts and concerns about Quickway's ability to meet its requirements and obligations under our non-exclusive February 3, 2018 carrier services [agreement] for any assignments of work made by Kroger in connection with the Louisville terminal.

As you know, continued supply and support operations are vital to Kroger. In the event that Quickway has not resolved its doubts and concerns, and to ensure continued support operations, Kroger is willing to consider waiving any applicable notice provisions for Quickway to terminate its carrier services agreement and Kroger can move forward. Please advise if you wish to pursue this alternative.

Otherwise, given the information you have provided us, Kroger is requesting that you immediately provide assurances that Quickway can and will meet all of its contractual commitments and obligations for any assignments Kroger may choose to make under the agreement.

Please advise on whether Quickway wishes to end the agreement or provide the requested assurances in writing by December 8, 2020 at 5:00 pm.

Sincerely,

Joe Obermeier

VP, Supply Chain Operations¹⁰

At the same time he emailed Prevost this letter, Obermeier telephoned Prevost. During their conversation, Prevost made it clear that the Respondent could not provide the assurances Obermeier was seeking. But Prevost also told Obermeier that the alternative Obermeier was proposing—that Kroger "waiv[e] any applicable notice provisions for Quickway to terminate" the CSA—was also impossible because the CSA did not give Quickway the right to terminate. Only Kroger could do so.¹¹ According to Prevost, Obermeier replied, "I'm not going to terminate you. You have to figure a way out."¹² Prevost asked why, and Obermeier said: "I don't want to be accused of being a joint employer in this situation."¹³ Prevost reiterated that Kroger needed to help Quickway find a solution.

The next day, Prevost and Obermeier continued to search for a way to reach the conclusion both desired: termination of the CSA. At 7:50 a.m., Cannon emailed Obermeier a letter from Prevost "confirm[ing]" that Kroger had

Kroger had the right to terminate the CSA without cause on 30 days' notice (which Quickway could agree to waive).

¹² Obermeier also testified that he refused to terminate the CSA.

¹³ Obermeier did not dispute Prevost's testimony in this regard.

decided not to renew the CSA expiring February 3, 2021, and requesting, “[u]nder the circumstances,” to be released from the CSA effective December 9 at 11 p.m. At 10:07 a.m., Obermeier emailed a letter in reply. The letter contradicted Prevost’s representation that Kroger had decided not to renew the CSA. “However,” Obermeier continued, “Kroger is willing to accept your resignation effective today (December 9) at 23:00 as stated in your letter, and Kroger agrees to release Quickway immediately from the Carrier Services Agreement currently in place.”¹⁴

That afternoon, Cannon informed Louisville Terminal Manager Jeff McCurry about the termination of the CSA and asked him to remove the Respondent’s equipment from the KDC property. At 10 p.m., the Respondent notified the Union that it was terminating the CSA and would “cease all operations associated with [the KDC] at 11:00 p.m. today.” The Respondent also emailed and texted the drivers that Louisville operations were ceasing.

The next day, December 10, the Respondent met with the Union as scheduled and informed it that, because operations had ceased at the Louisville terminal, it had permanently laid off the Louisville drivers as of 11 p.m. the evening before. The Respondent offered to bargain over the effects of its decision, but the Union declined and demanded that the parties continue negotiating a collective-bargaining agreement.

That same day, the Respondent dispatched a few drivers from its Indianapolis terminal to retrieve trailers from the KDC and from an overflow parking lot leased by Kroger at the Kentucky State Fairgrounds. Some of the laid-off Louisville drivers and a representative of Local 89 were picketing at the overflow lot. The picketers carried signs reading “Quickway on strike, Local 89.” One of the Indianapolis drivers asked, “What is going on?” A picketer replied, “We are on strike.”

One of the drivers dispatched from Indianapolis to the KDC was Lewis Johnston, a leader in Teamsters Local 135’s 2019 Indianapolis campaign.¹⁵ As noted above, that effort ended in a November 2019 election, which Local 135 lost. More than a year had passed since the 2019 election, and Johnston and a few other Indianapolis drivers were exploring the possibility of trying again. The credited evidence establishes that the Respondent was unaware of this nascent union activity at its Indianapolis terminal. Noticing that there were no Louisville drivers at the KDC, Johnston contacted one of them, who told him that Quickway had ceased operations in Louisville.

¹⁴ Although Quickway could not and did not terminate the CSA, this was, in effect, what happened. Accordingly, for ease of reference, I will refer to what happened at 11 p.m. on December 9 as Quickway’s termination of the CSA.

Also on December 10, Hendricks—the individual who had sent the KDC-shutdown threat to Louisville media outlets—exchanged text messages with Bryan Trafford, Local 89’s lead organizer at Quickway’s Louisville terminal. In the course of that exchange, Hendricks wrote Trafford: “I had already been in contact with the reporter when you asked me not to talk with them. The story was happening at that point”¹⁶

The Respondent returned its trucks to CCL. CCL sold four of them and leased the rest to other Paladin affiliates. CCL attempted but was unable to find sufficient customers to sustain its truck-repair business at the Louisville terminal. Consequently, it ceased operations at the Louisville terminal on February 12, 2021. On September 30, 2021, the Louisville terminal was sublet to another entity for the remainder of the lease term.

Discussion

*A. The Respondent’s closing of the Louisville terminal was lawful under *Darlington*.*

The General Counsel alleges, and my colleagues find, that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act by closing the Louisville terminal. They are mistaken. To violate Section 8(a)(3) and (1) under *Darlington*, a partial closing must be undertaken for antiunion reasons. Because the record establishes that the Respondent did not close the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons, the *Darlington* analysis ends there. But even where an employer closes part of its business for antiunion reasons, it does not violate Section 8(a)(3) unless it is “motivated by a purpose to chill unionism in any of [its] remaining plants” and it “may reasonably have foreseen that such closing would likely have that effect.” *Darlington*, 380 U.S. at 275. Even assuming, however, that it were necessary to proceed beyond the first step of the *Darlington* analysis, I would still find that the Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(3) because the evidence fails to support a reasonable inference that its decision to close the Louisville terminal was motivated by a purpose to chill unionism at any of its remaining terminals. Accordingly, the allegation that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) must be dismissed.

¹⁵ Again, Local 135 used to represent Quickway’s Indianapolis drivers, but it was decertified in 2008.

¹⁶ Hendricks was apparently referencing the “story” that Local 89 was planning to shut down the KDC.

1. The Louisville terminal was closed for nondiscriminatory reasons, not for antiunion reasons.¹⁷

In *Darlington*, the Supreme Court set forth the following standard for determining whether an employer violates Section 8(a)(3) by closing part of its business:

If the persons exercising control over a plant that is being closed for antiunion reasons (1) have an interest in another business, whether or not affiliated with or engaged in the same line of commercial activity as the closed plant, of sufficient substantiality to give promise of their reaping a benefit from the discouragement of unionization in that business; (2) act to close their plant with the purpose of producing such a result; and (3) occupy a relationship to the other business which makes it realistically foreseeable that its employees will fear that such business will also be closed down if they persist in organizational activities, we think that an unfair labor practice has been made out.

380 U.S. at 275–276. Accordingly, as a threshold matter, a partial closing does not violate Section 8(a)(3) of the Act under *Darlington* if it is not undertaken for “antiunion reasons.”

The Respondent did not close its Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons. As the facts set forth above plainly show, the decision to close the terminal was the inevitable consequence of its decision to terminate the CSA. And that decision, in turn, was driven by rapidly evolving events over the course of a few days in early December, beginning with a strike threat that portended a total shutdown of the KDC and culminating in an ultimatum from Kroger that left the Respondent no other viable choice.

Quickway and Local 89 had met for collective bargaining just once and had gotten off to a promising start when Kroger learned, and informed Quickway, that the local media had received a message indicating that unless Quickway accepted Local 89’s demands at the parties’ next bargaining session on December 10, Quickway’s Louisville drivers would strike, Transervice’s drivers and Zenith’s warehouse workers staffing the KDC would join them, and the KDC would be entirely shut down. The message included specific, accurate details, which suggested that whoever sent the message possessed inside knowledge of Local 89’s plans. That suggestion was confirmed by Quickway’s discovery that Local 89’s labor contracts with Transervice and Zenith gave the former’s drivers and the latter’s warehouse employees the right to refuse to cross picket lines. And, in fact, Local 89 had secured authorization from the International Union to

provide strike benefits, Quickway’s Louisville drivers had voted to authorize a strike, and Local 89 had informed those drivers that Transervice’s drivers and Zenith’s warehouse employees staffing the KDC would also strike.

Further increasing the likelihood that the threatened strike would take place was Local 89 President Zuckerman’s declaration, at the parties’ first bargaining session, that Local 89 was “very adamant” about maintaining “area standards.” In other words, Zuckerman intended to demand wages for Quickway’s Louisville drivers comparable to those Local 89 had secured for Transervice’s drivers. Cannon and Prevost had previously informed Kroger that they did not think Quickway could agree to such terms, so it was all but certain that Quickway and Local 89 would not reach a comprehensive agreement at their December 10 bargaining session. A KDC shutdown loomed, and with it, interruption of deliveries to 242 Kroger stores across four states on the very threshold of the holiday season.

This obviously created a significant problem for Kroger, and the crisis was promptly elevated from lower-level Supply Chain Manager Tony Bruce to Kroger Vice President for Supply Chain Operations Obermeier. During a 9 a.m. conference call on December 8, Obermeier told Quickway’s principals that under no circumstances could the KDC be shut down and that the problem was Quickway’s and Quickway had to solve it. Five hours later, Obermeier gave Quickway CEO Prevost an ultimatum: either provide assurances that Quickway will meet all its contractual obligations under the CSA or terminate that contract. And Obermeier gave Prevost just 3 hours to make up his mind.

Prevost did not need 3 hours. He knew immediately that terminating the CSA was the only viable option because he could not possibly give Obermeier the assurances he was demanding. The reasons why are obvious. If the threatened strike took place, the CSA’s *force majeure* clause would not apply. Although the clause released Quickway from liability in the event that certain causes beyond its control resulted in service disruptions, it expressly excluded from such causes “labor unrest or strikes.” Hiring a towing company to haul loads from the KDC to the Louisville terminal, as Prevost had casually suggested the day after Local 89’s election win, also would have been unavailing. The towing company would have been performing struck work and thus would have sacrificed its neutral status under the ally doctrine, permitting Local 89 to picket the KDC.¹⁸ And hiring

¹⁷ In one section of their decision, my colleagues contend that the Louisville terminal was closed for antiunion reasons. In another section, they contend that the terminal was not closed for nondiscriminatory

reasons. Because these arguments are closely related, I will address them together in this section. As I will show, both arguments are meritless.

¹⁸ My colleagues do not dispute that hiring a company to tow trailers from the KDC to the Louisville terminal would not have prevented Local

replacement drivers would have been pointless if, as was threatened, Zenith's employees refused to cross the picket line. The Respondent could not very well transport freight to Kroger stores without workers at the KDC to load that freight into its trucks. Confronted with these circumstances, Obermeier's ultimatum, and the reality that Quickway could not afford to risk its overall business relationship with a client that furnishes 75 to 80 percent of its revenues, Prevost made the only viable choice and asked Obermeier to release Quickway from the CSA. After some resistance prompted by joint-employer fears, Obermeier relented. Since the sole reason for the existence of the Louisville terminal was to service Kroger under the CSA, the closure of that terminal and the layoff of the Louisville drivers followed inevitably from the CSA's termination as a matter of course.

My colleagues nevertheless find that the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons. In support, they rely on statements made by low-level Quickway managers months earlier during Local 89's organizing campaign, plus the timing of the closure decision "just a few weeks after the Union insisted on maintaining area standards." I find their analysis unconvincing.

Turning first to the preelection statements made by Quickway managers during Local 89's campaign, I preliminarily observe that the unfair labor practice charges to which they gave rise were settled by way of agreements that contained non-admission clauses. But even assuming those statements were made and demonstrated antiunion animus during the organizing campaign, the Respondent's *postelection* statements and conduct manifested its intention to bargain with Local 89 in good faith.

After the union won the election, the Respondent did not commit any unfair labor practices and it gave every indication that it intended to fulfill its duty under the Act to bargain in good faith.¹⁹ With regard to the intent to bargain, when Obermeier, upon learning that the Union had won the election, asked Quickway Group Vice President Cannon about "potential next steps," Cannon replied: "The board agent (NLRB) will mail out the certifications within a week and either side has one week to challenge.

89 from picketing the KDC. They find, however, that Prevost's offhand comment, made in June, was not revisited in December. In support, they note that none of Quickway's principals testified that it was, but nobody testified that it was not. There is no evidence one way or the other, so the record does not support the majority's finding that it was not.

¹⁹ My colleagues find that Louisville Terminal Manager McCurry coercively interrogated drivers after the election. As explained below, I disagree.

²⁰ The majority notes that Quickway did not bargain immediately but filed objections to the election and a request for review from the Regional Director's denial of its objections. Quickway had the right to do so, and the fact that it exercised this right is not evidence of union animus. Moreover, it was eminently reasonable for Quickway to do so. The election

Beyond that I will need to get with my counsel to address the next steps *which should be nothing more than scheduling a time to start negotiations with local 89*" (emphasis added). That same day, although calling the Union's win a "[t]ough blow" and expressing surprise and disappointment at its margin of victory, Paladin COO Campbell said that the Respondent would "*establish the right process and engagement with the Lville Teamsters/team members as we negotiate the contract*" (emphasis added). Quickway's subsequent actions matched its words. On October 27, Local 89 asked Quickway to propose dates for collective bargaining, and Quickway did so the following week. When the parties met for their first bargaining session on November 19, they quickly reached tentative agreement on a number of issues, and they agreed to meet again for collective bargaining on December 10. The Union requested certain information in advance of the December 10 meeting, and the Respondent promptly provided it.

Minimizing this evidence, my colleagues find that antiunion reasons motivated the Louisville closure decision by reaching back in time to a handful of preelection statements. Even ignoring what happened in December, Quickway's *postelection* statements and conduct demonstrate that it had turned the page after the Union's win and was intent on negotiating in good faith for an initial collective-bargaining agreement.²⁰ But what happened in December cannot be ignored. The events that rapidly unfolded over the course of a few days that month, beginning with the strike and KDC-shutdown threat and culminating in Obermeier's ultimatum, severed any linkage (if any remained to be severed) between animus expressed in a handful of statements before the election and the closure of the Louisville terminal many months later. Obermeier demanded that Quickway either provide assurances of full performance or terminate the CSA. Quickway could not provide Obermeier, the representative of Quickway's biggest and most important client, those assurances, so it had no choice but to terminate the CSA. And since Kroger was Quickway's only customer in Louisville, closure of the Louisville terminal and layoff of the drivers necessarily followed.²¹

had been conducted by mail ballot, which Board law disfavors. See *San Diego Gas & Electric*, 325 NLRB 1143, 1144 (1998) (adhering to "the Board's long-standing policy . . . that representation elections should as a general rule be conducted manually").

²¹ The majority attempts to bolster their finding that the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons with three emails: one from Cannon to Prevost recommending that Quickway retain the services of a labor relations firm to help it oppose Local 89's campaign, one from a former Louisville terminal manager to Cannon attaching several photos of vehicles displaying union insignia, and one from Cannon to the terminal manager instructing him to tell a management-friendly employee to observe and take notes of drivers' union-related conversations but not to engage with or question the drivers. The first two emails were

I do not disagree with my colleagues that the initial suggestion about terminating the CSA came from Quickway—specifically, from Quickway Group Vice President Cannon. The majority, however, then places significant weight on this single fact, without any consideration of the context in which the suggestion was made, as evidence that the termination of the CSA was driven by Quickway rather than by Obermeier. The record fails to support that conclusion.

As already mentioned, Cannon suggested the termination of the CSA to Obermeier during the 9 a.m. conference call on the morning of December 8. It is abundantly clear, however, that he did so in response to Obermeier’s mandate that under no circumstances could the KDC be shut down. As explained above, it was all but certain that Quickway and Local 89 would not conclude a collective-bargaining agreement when they met (for only the second time) on December 10, and therefore it was also all but certain that the threatened strike and KDC-shutdown would take place—*unless*, of course, Quickway was removed from the property. Accordingly, when Obermeier announced that under no circumstances could the KDC be shut down, Cannon simply pointed out to him the one obvious way that a shutdown could be averted. Obermeier was initially unwilling to accept this option. “You have to figure a way out,” Obermeier told Prevost later that same day, because Obermeier “[didn’t] want [Kroger] to be accused of being a joint employer in this situation.” But the letter he emailed to Prevost at 2:03 that afternoon—a letter that Quickway did not ask him to send—reflected his acceptance of the fact that Cannon was correct.

It is important to note that when Obermeier announced that under no circumstances could the KDC be shut down, and Cannon responded that an early termination of the CSA was the only way to ensure that would not happen, Quickway’s principals had not yet met to estimate the potential economic consequences of a KDC shutdown for Quickway and Paladin. That meeting took place after the 9 a.m. conference call with Obermeier. My colleagues find that Quickway inflated that estimate, and that finding plays a crucial role in their analysis. But the estimate was

not alleged to violate the Act; the third email was, but my colleagues and I agree that it did not. In any event, any antiunion animus expressed in these emails had no bearing on Quickway’s decision to close the Louisville terminal. That decision was driven by the events of December 2020, as explained above.

The General Counsel’s burden under *Darlington* to prove that Quickway closed the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons is essentially the same as her burden under *Wright Line*, 251 NLRB 1083 (1980) (subsequent history omitted), to prove that antiunion animus was a motivating factor in an employer’s adverse employment action. Accordingly, the Board’s decision in *Tschiggfrie Properties, Ltd.*, 368 NLRB No. 120 (2019), should inform the determination of whether the General Counsel

arrived at after the conference call with Obermeier, so it could not have informed Cannon’s earlier statement to Obermeier. Accordingly, the fact that Cannon was the first to suggest terminating the CSA does not have the significance the majority ascribes to it.

I do not dispute that for reasons of their own—fears that a KDC shutdown would have devastating financial consequences for Quickway and Paladin—Quickway’s principals also wanted to be released from the CSA. But there is no evidence that Quickway’s financial concerns played any role in Obermeier’s decision to offer Prevost an either/or choice between two alternatives, only one of which—termination of the CSA—was viable. There is no evidence that Quickway communicated its financial concerns to Obermeier, and even if it had, there is no reason why Obermeier should care about those concerns. Quickway’s potential losses were Quickway’s problem, not Kroger’s. The record establishes that Obermeier was concerned about one thing and one thing only—averting a shutdown of the KDC—and that concern drove his decision to issue the ultimatum to Prevost. Accordingly, it does not matter whether Quickway inflated its projected losses because even if it did, there is no evidence that this affected Obermeier’s decision, and Obermeier was the real decision-maker.

As for the timing of the closure decision, it was obviously driven by the events of December: the all-too-credible strike and KDC-shutdown threat; Obermeier’s declaration that the KDC could not be shut down under any circumstances; Cannon’s truthful reply to Obermeier that terminating the CSA and getting Quickway off the property was the only way to ensure that would not happen; Obermeier’s grudging acceptance of the fact that Cannon was right and his consequent issuance of the ultimatum.

Moreover, the majority completely misunderstands the impact of Zuckerman’s “area standards” statement. They infer that Quickway closed the Louisville terminal “to avoid bargaining with the Union” because Zuckerman said he was adamant about maintaining area standards, and Quickway was unwilling to agree to those terms. This inference, however, ignores the just-summarized evidence

met her threshold burden under *Darlington*. In *Tschiggfrie Properties*, the Board observed that the General Counsel does not invariably sustain his or her burden of proof under *Wright Line* whenever, in addition to protected activity and employer knowledge thereof, “the record contains any evidence of the employer’s animus or hostility toward union or other protected activity.” 368 NLRB No. 120, slip op. at 7. Rather, “the evidence must be sufficient to establish that a causal relationship exists between the . . . protected activity and the employer’s adverse action . . .” *Id.*, slip op. at 8. Here, as explained above, the record evidence is insufficient to establish a causal link between the Respondent’s antiunion animus during the organizing campaign and its decision to close the Louisville terminal months later.

that Quickway fully intended to bargain in good faith. Cannon said so. Campbell said so. And the Respondent acted accordingly, quickly agreeing to meet for negotiations, proposing available dates, and bargaining in good faith during the November 19 session and also afterwards by promptly furnishing requested information. There is no evidence—*none*—that Quickway would not continue to bargain in good faith on December 10 and thereafter; the evidence only suggests that agreement would be harder to come by once negotiations turned to economics. Contrary to my colleagues, the reasonable, indeed, the *compelling* inference to be drawn from Zuckerman’s insistence on maintaining area standards and Quickway’s unwillingness to agree to those terms is that Quickway—and Kroger—knew that Quickway and Local 89 would not conclude a collective-bargaining agreement at their December 10 meeting, and therefore the threatened strike and shutdown of the KDC *was almost certainly going to happen*.²² Because Kroger could not accept that, Obermeier issued his ultimatum. And because Prevost could not assure Obermeier that Quickway would be able to meet its obligations under the CSA if the Union struck, that left no option but to terminate the CSA, with closure of the Louisville terminal and layoff of the drivers as the unavoidable consequence.²³

I turn now to the majority’s separate set of arguments, which they advance to dispute that the Louisville terminal was closed for nondiscriminatory reasons. These arguments fare no better than the ones I just addressed.

My colleagues disagree that Quickway had no other option but to close the terminal. They say that Quickway did not consider the possibility of hiring a towing company to haul loads from the KDC to the Louisville terminal. But there is no evidence Quickway did not consider this possibility,²⁴ and they do not dispute that a company performing that work would have sacrificed its neutral status under

the ally doctrine and been just as much a primary target of picketing as Quickway itself.

Second, the majority contends that Quickway did not reasonably believe that Local 89 would strike as threatened because the author of the threat was unknown, and Quickway did not ask Local 89 to verify the threat. But the message sent to local TV stations bore its own indicia of reliability. It included accurate details—the date the Board denied review of the Regional Director’s postelection decision in the representation case (October 26); the date, time, and location of the parties’ next bargaining session—indicating that its author had inside knowledge. In addition, Quickway soon learned that Transervice’s drivers and Zenith’s warehouse workers enjoyed a contractually protected right to engage in sympathy strikes, making the threat to shut down the KDC credible and further bolstering the message’s reliability.

As for not contacting Local 89 to verify the threat, Quickway had at least two good reasons not to do so. First, it would have assumed that the same TV stations that had contacted Kroger for comment had also contacted Local 89. An imminent strike that would shut down the KDC was newsworthy in the Louisville media market, but the stations could not run the story without seeking confirmation.²⁵ Of *course* Quickway reasonably believed that Local 89 knew of the threat as a result, yet the Union did not reach out to Quickway to deny it, suggesting that a strike was indeed imminent.²⁶ Second, there was no good reason for Quickway to believe that it would get a truthful answer from the Union even if it asked for one. A strike is a union’s ultimate economic weapon, and it is naïve to think that Local 89 would weaken its own leverage by sacrificing the element of surprise.²⁷ Indeed, there is evidence that Local 89 *did* want to keep its plans secret. On December 10, Hendricks, who sent the strike threat to the media, texted a message to Local 89 organizer Trafford that

²² The majority says this inference is contrary to the record, and they point to testimony by Prevost and Cannon that they never told Obermeier that Quickway could not agree to terms similar to those in Local 89’s contract with Transervice. The judge, however, credited Obermeier’s testimony that they did.

²³ *M. Yoseph Bag Co.*, 128 NLRB 211 (1960), enf. denied sub nom. *Retail, Wholesale & Department Store Union District 65 v. NLRB*, 294 F.3d 364 (3d Cir. 1961), cited by my colleagues, is not remotely similar to this case. There, the employer’s owner told his employees that if they chose what he termed “the Philadelphia Union,” i.e., the union that represented the employees of his competitors, he could stay in business, but if they selected the charging party union to represent them, he could not. “When . . . an employer ‘explains’ to his employees that if they select union A he can remain in business, but if they choose union B he cannot remain in business, and requests them to decide what they want to do,” the Board said, “we are drawn to the inevitable conclusion that he has thereby threatened to close the plant unless they select union A.” *Id.* at 215. Here, the Respondent never said it could not remain in business if Zuckerman demanded area standards. It said it was unlikely that it could

agree to those terms. There is no good reason to believe that anything but hard, good-faith bargaining would have ensued on Quickway’s side, if it were not for the KDC-shutdown threat and Obermeier’s ultimatum.

²⁴ See supra fn. 19.

²⁵ The majority notes that no station actually ran a story regarding the threatened strike until December 10. That fact, however, is not relevant here; what matters is what Quickway would have assumed on December 7 when it received the message that Hendricks sent to the TV stations.

²⁶ Record evidence supports inferring that the media *had* contacted Local 89 about the strike threat. Local 89 organizer Bryan Trafford admitted in his testimony that “we might have received some media inquiries,” although he claimed, implausibly, not to recall what they were about. Tr. 947.

²⁷ Cf. *Royal Packing Co.*, 198 NLRB 1060, 1067 (1972) (finding that employer “had good reason to believe that the union would strike” despite the union’s assurances to the contrary), enf. sub nom. *Amalgamated Meat Cutters & Butcher Workmen v. NLRB*, 495 F.2d 1075 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (per curiam).

reveals Trafford did not want news of the impending strike leaked: “I had already been in contact with the reporter *when you asked me not to talk with them*” (emphasis added).²⁸

Finally, the majority says that Quickway exaggerated the financial losses it would have suffered had the strike taken place and shut down the KDC.²⁹ As explained above, however, that contention is beside the point because the record evidence overwhelmingly establishes that

²⁸ The majority says that I “ha[ve] not explained how the Respondent could have reasonably believed that the Union informed local Louisville news media of its plan to strike while it simultaneously sought to maintain the element of surprise.” But I do *not* contend that Quickway believed that Local 89 had informed the media of its plan to strike. Quickway knew that someone had informed the media of the planned strike, and that whoever it was had inside information. It does not follow, however, that Quickway believed that Local 89 had sent the strike threat to the media or had authorized someone to do so. And in fact, Local 89 did not want to publicize the strike in advance, as Hendricks’s text message to Trafford reveals.

In support of their opinion that Quickway should have asked Local 89 to verify the strike and KDC-shutdown threat, my colleagues cite inapposite cases—*Alstyle Apparel*, 351 NLRB 1287 (2007), and *Midnight Rose Hotel & Casino*, 343 NLRB 1003 (2004), enfd. mem. 198 Fed. Appx. 752 (10th Cir. 2006)—involving employers that discharged employees without conducting a thorough investigation. Obviously, employees facing discharge have a compelling incentive to avoid that fate by exculpating themselves. Here, in contrast, Local 89’s incentive was to keep its plans secret, and Hendricks’s text message to Trafford discloses that it intended to do so.

²⁹ Regardless of whether the predicted losses may have been overestimated, the record establishes that Quickway’s and Paladin’s top executives had sound reasons to believe that a strike and KDC shutdown posed grave financial risks. An addendum to the CSA provided that “[e]very load” to be transported by Quickway “is assigned by Transervice,” and the CSA contained no language limiting the number of loads that Transervice could assign to Quickway up to its capacity limit. Under normal circumstances, this posed no problem for Quickway, since economic self-interest incentivized Transervice to keep as many loads for itself as it could successfully transport. But if Transervice’s drivers refused to cross Quickway’s drivers’ picket line, the incentives would flip, and Transervice would likely seek to minimize its own liability to Kroger by assigning as many loads as possible to Quickway. Moreover, there would be no one to load Quickway’s trucks if Zenith’s employees also refused to cross the picket line. If Zenith failed to hire replacements, Quickway might have to staff the KDC itself, adding substantial further costs. In addition, many of the goods Quickway transported to Kroger stores were perishable, and the CSA made it liable for the lost value of spoiled cargos. In the event of a strike, Quickway drivers en route to Kroger stores might abandon their loads or return them to the KDC undelivered, where nobody would be available to unload and refrigerate perishable items if Zenith employees also struck. And all this would be taking place only a few weeks before Paladin’s existing line of credit would terminate, just when Paladin was trying to finalize an agreement for a new and substantially larger line of credit with a new bank. Without that line of credit, Paladin would be unable to cover day-to-day operating expenses, putting the very survival of itself and its affiliates at risk. Accordingly, I disagree with the majority that Quickway’s concerns about the financial consequences of a KDC shutdown were pretextual.

The majority disputes that Quickway reasonably would have anticipated staffing the KDC itself if Zenith’s employees refused to cross the picket line. Pointing to language in paragraph 3.5 of the CSA, they

Quickway closed the Louisville terminal for nondiscriminatory reasons. The record is clear that what drove Quickway’s decision to close the Louisville terminal was Obermeier’s ultimatum to guarantee full performance of all obligations under the CSA or terminate the contract. Quickway could not guarantee full performance, so terminating the CSA was its only option, from which closure of the terminal followed as a matter of course.³⁰

conclude that Quickway would have had no duty to transport goods to Kroger stores if its trucks were not loaded. That conclusion might be correct. In relevant part, CSA paragraph 3.5 states that Quickway’s “duties and responsibilities under this Agreement will commence when [it] takes possession or control of [Kroger’s] . . . property.” On the other hand, the CSA also required Quickway to “transport and deliver” goods “to and between those points designated by” Kroger “as required by” Kroger. In estimating its *potential* losses, Quickway could have reasonably decided that paragraph 3.5 might not provide it a winning defense. More importantly, given Quickway’s economic dependency on Kroger, it strains belief to assume that Quickway would have envisioned a scenario under which it remained bound to the CSA and yet refused to make shipments “required by” Kroger, in doubtful reliance on paragraph 3.5. To do so might have risked its entire relationship with Kroger.

Finally, I note that to the extent that this description of Quickway’s potential losses could be viewed as speculative, I note that it is no more speculative than the majority’s view of Quickway’s potential losses.

³⁰ Contrary to the majority’s assertion, my position is that the record clearly demonstrates that Quickway *did* terminate the CSA and close the Louisville terminal for the reasons I have set forth, not that it could have done so for those reasons. The fact that Quickway does not make this argument is of no moment, as the Board’s rules do not limit the scope of the Board’s analyses to the arguments made by the parties in support of exceptions. See *Hilton Hotel Employer*, 372 NLRB No. 61, slip op. at 12 fn. 12 (2023) (Member Kaplan, dissenting) (discussing text of Board rules 102.46(a)(1)(i) and 102.46(a)(1)(ii) and finding that the rules do not establish that arguments in support of exceptions “may not be considered as part of the Board’s analysis when they are not raised by a party”); cf. *Local 58, IBEW, AFL–CIO (Paramount Industries, Inc.)*, 365 NLRB No. 30, slip op at 4 fn. 17 (2017) (collecting cases) (“The Board, with court approval, has repeatedly found violations for different reasons and on different *theories* from those of administrative law judges or the General Counsel, even in the absence of exceptions . . .”). Furthermore, the facts speak for themselves. The majority notes that Sec. 10(e) would prevent Quickway from relying on my rationale in a court of appeals, but courts have recognized that such a bar can be removed through a motion for reconsideration. See, e.g., *Woelke & Romero Framing, Inc. v. NLRB*, 456 U.S. 645, 665–666 (1982) (observing that, where the Board raises an issue *sua sponte*, an aggrieved party must seek reconsideration by the Board before advancing that argument on judicial review); see also *UFCW, Local 400 v. NLRB*, 989 F.3d 1034, 1038 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (“Even after the Board’s decision and [dissenting Member’s] discussion of a different theory, [the charging party] did not seek reconsideration. It raised the Board dissenter’s theory for the first time in this court. That was not enough [to satisfy Sec. 10(e)].”).

Although we cannot know with certainty why the Respondent’s litigation strategy was not to blame Kroger’s ultimatum for closing the Louisville terminal, we can make an educated guess. The record establishes that Obermeier was fearful of exposing Kroger to the risk of becoming a joint employer of Quickway’s drivers. He said so, and he acted accordingly by refusing at first to terminate the CSA and demanding that Quickway do so, even though the CSA’s terms made that impossible. Regardless of whether Obermeier’s joint-employer fear was well-founded, it

In sum, the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn from the evidence is that the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal because no work remained for its Louisville drivers once the CSA had been terminated, and the CSA was terminated because Obermeier's ultimatum left it no other option. The General Counsel bears the burden of proving that the terminal was closed for antiunion reasons. As I have shown, however, she failed to sustain this burden and therefore failed to clear the threshold hurdle of proving a partial-closing violation under *Darlington*. Without more, this mandates dismissal of the 8(a)(3) allegation.

2. The Respondent did not have a purpose to chill unionism elsewhere.

As I have shown, the General Counsel has not met her threshold burden under *Darlington* of proving that the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons. Although the 8(a)(3) analysis may end there, I would also find that the General Counsel failed to prove that the decision to close that terminal was "motivated by a purpose to chill unionism in any of [Quickway's] remaining plants." *Darlington*, 380 U.S. at 275. On this ground as well, I would dismiss the 8(a)(3) allegation.

As the wording of its *Darlington* decision shows, the Supreme Court took it for granted that a finding of purpose to chill unionism elsewhere requires ongoing organizational activity—and, of course, employer awareness of that activity—at the time the partial closing takes place. The Court stated that the employer must "occupy a relationship to the other business which makes it realistically foreseeable that its employees will fear that such business will also be closed down if they *persist* in organizational activities." 380 U.S. at 276 (emphasis added). On remand following the Court's decision, however, the Board held that a violation under *Darlington* also may lie "where the evidence establishes a strong employer belief that the union is intending imminently to organize the employees in his other operations." *Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 165 NLRB at 1084. The Board also held that proof that a partial closing was undertaken for antiunion reasons strengthens the probability of a purpose to chill unionism elsewhere. "Where one such directly causative antiunion motive is posited," the Board stated, "the probability of a second antiunion purpose, of wider gauge, becomes stronger." *Id.* Whether an employer, in carrying out a partial closing, had a proscribed chilling purpose, and whether such chilling

would have been a reasonably foreseeable effect of the partial closing, depends on several factors, including "contemporaneous union activity at the employer's remaining facilities, geographic proximity of the employer's facilities to the closed operation, the likelihood that employees will learn of the circumstances surrounding the employer's unlawful conduct through employee interchange or contact, and, of course, representations made by the employer's officials and supervisors to the other employees." *Bruce Duncan Co.*, 233 NLRB 1243, 1243 (1977), modified on other grounds 590 F.2d 1304 (4th Cir. 1979). For the following reasons, the evidence here does not support a reasonable inference that in closing the Louisville terminal, Quickway's purpose was to chill unionism at one or more of its remaining terminals—or, for that matter, at any facility operated by a Paladin-affiliated company.

To begin, because Quickway did not close the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons, there is no basis to infer a strengthened probability of "a second antiunion purpose, of wider gauge." *Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 165 NLRB at 1084. And, as my colleagues acknowledge, there is no credited evidence that the Respondent was aware of ongoing union activity at any other Quickway terminal or at any facility operated by a Paladin-affiliated enterprise. Nevertheless, the majority contends that a purpose to chill unionism may be inferred because Quickway believed that the Union intended imminently to organize employees at one or more of three other terminals: Indianapolis, Hebron, and Murfreesboro. This contention, however, is not supported by record evidence.

At the time the Respondent closed the Louisville terminal, there were stirrings of union activity at its Indianapolis terminal. Lewis Johnston and a few other drivers were discussing the possibility of launching another campaign, following the unsuccessful effort that culminated in Local 135's November 2019 defeat. But as my colleagues acknowledge, there is no credible evidence that the Respondent was aware of this nascent union activity when it closed the Louisville terminal.³¹ Nor does the evidence show that the Respondent believed a renewed organizing effort was imminent at its Indianapolis terminal. At most, it knew, at the time it closed the Louisville terminal, that another election among the Indianapolis drivers was no longer barred by Section 9(c)(3). This meant only that Local 135 *could* file a petition for another election. There is

was real, and with 75 to 80 percent of its revenue coming from its business with Kroger, Quickway had to take it seriously. Under the circumstances, blaming Kroger for the closure of the Louisville terminal would not have been wise. In any event, that Quickway did not make this argument does not prevent me from drawing inferences the facts of this case fairly compel.

³¹ Johnston testified that he told Indianapolis Terminal Manager Eric Rowe about plans for another union campaign and that he did so before the Louisville terminal closed, but Rowe denied this, and the judge discredited Johnston's testimony.

no evidence that Quickway believed this would happen. If the mere absence of a statutory bar on filing a representation petition were sufficient to infer a purpose to chill unionism elsewhere, the General Counsel's burden to prove a *Darlington* violation would be reduced to a mere speed bump.

Next, the majority points to an email Hendricks sent to Cannon and two other managers in September 2020 with the subject line, "Teamsters is coming for Hebron!" in which Hendricks claimed that he would be "responsible for Hebron." Donald Hendricks was a disgruntled ex-employee of Quickway.³² There is no evidence that he was employed by Local 89 in September 2020 (or at any other time) or that Quickway believed he was. Accordingly, Hendricks's email is insufficient to support a reasonable inference that Quickway believed Local 89 intended imminently to organize its Hebron drivers, let alone that it *strongly* believed as much, as the Board's *Darlington* opinion requires.

In May 2020, Quickway did act to prevent representatives of Local 89 from talking to drivers from its Murfreesboro terminal. There is, however, no evidence that organizing activity was ongoing at the Murfreesboro terminal in December 2020 when the Louisville terminal was closed. Unless the record supports a finding that Quickway strongly believed organizing activity at the Murfreesboro terminal was imminently intended at the time it closed the Louisville terminal, no purpose to chill unionism at Murfreesboro may be inferred. See *Darlington Mfg. Co.*, 165 NLRB at 1084. Since the General Counsel bears the burden to prove each and every element of a *Darlington* violation, she must establish that Quickway so believed.

The General Counsel did not sustain her burden in this regard. She showed only that Quickway acted to prevent representatives of Local 89 from talking to its Murfreesboro drivers. Even if Local 89 *could* organize a drivers

unit in Murfreesboro, the mere fact that Local 89 representatives were talking to drivers from that terminal in May falls far short of demonstrating that Quickway strongly believed that an organizing drive in Murfreesboro was imminently intended in December.³³

Turning to the *Bruce Duncan* factors, first, there was no "contemporaneous union activity at [Quickway's] remaining facilities" except Indianapolis, and Quickway was unaware of that activity. Second, none of Quickway's remaining terminals was geographically proximate to the Louisville terminal. The closest terminals to Louisville were the Hebron, Kentucky and Bloomington, Indiana terminals, each about 90 miles away. The Indianapolis terminal was about 110 miles away. The Louisville terminal was geographically proximate to CCL's truck-repair shop—it housed that shop—but this does not evince a purpose to chill unionism among CCL's Louisville mechanics because there is no evidence that they were engaged in, or intended imminently to engage in, union activity or that the Respondent believed they were or did. Moreover, the judge found that Quickway's Louisville operation was "highly profitable," and CCL employed just five mechanics. It is utterly implausible that Quickway would close a highly profitable operation to chill five mechanics from organizing.³⁴

Third, there was little likelihood that drivers at other terminals would learn of the circumstances surrounding the closure of the Louisville terminal through employee interchange or contact. The Respondent did dispatch drivers from its Indianapolis terminal to pick up trailers from the KDC and the overflow lot at the Kentucky State Fairgrounds, but there was little likelihood that these drivers would have contact with any Louisville drivers because the Louisville drivers had already been laid off. The only reason Johnston learned that the Louisville terminal had been closed was that he phoned a former Louisville driver

³² Hendricks's testimony at the unfair labor practice hearing left no doubt of his intractable hostility to the Respondent.

³³ In fact, Local 89 *could not and cannot* organize Quickway's Murfreesboro drivers. Local 89's geographic jurisdiction does not include Tennessee or any part of that state. The Murfreesboro terminal is within the geographic jurisdiction of Teamsters Local 480. See Locals Archive - International Brotherhood of Teamsters (last visited Mar. 10, 2023).

As explained above, the General Counsel failed to show that Quickway believed organizational activity was imminently intended at any of its terminals. And unlike in *Darlington*, there is no evidence that the Teamsters Union was "mounting a 'tremendous' campaign" throughout the region or that Quickway believed it was. 165 NLRB at 1080.

³⁴ The majority relies on the fact that Quickway and CCL shared the same terminal to infer a purpose to chill unionism among CCL's Louisville mechanics. That rationale would face a steep uphill climb—to put it mildly—in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit were Quickway to file a petition for review in that court. Recently, the D.C. Circuit was presented with a *Darlington* case

involving two related businesses that shared the same space. See *RAV Truck and Trailer Repairs, Inc. and Concrete Express of NY, LLC v. NLRB*, 997 F.3d 314 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (*RAV v. NLRB*). RAV Truck & Trailer Repairs, Inc. (RAV) and Concrete Express of NY, LLC (Concrete Express) were a single employer and shared the same facility. RAV went out of business. It did so for antiunion reasons, so the issue of "purpose to chill" was reached. At the time RAV closed, the employees of Concrete Express had recently voted against representation. However, Concrete Express had committed unfair labor practices prior to the election, including by threatening that it would close if the employees voted for the union, so there was a very real possibility that a rerun election would be held. Nevertheless, the D.C. Circuit concluded that the Board had not adequately explained its finding that the closure of RAV had a purpose to chill unionism among Concrete Express's employees. *RAV v. NLRB*, 997 F.3d at 327–328. If the D.C. Circuit was skeptical of the Board's "chilling purpose" finding in *RAV v. NLRB*, it is hard to fathom that the court would infer a purpose to chill unionism among CCL's employees based on nothing more than the fact that CCL and Quickway shared the same facility.

when he realized that none of them were at the KDC. Moreover, that driver told Johnston only that the Louisville terminal had been closed. From that bare news, Johnston learned nothing about the “circumstances surrounding” the terminal’s closure. *Bruce Duncan*, 233 NLRB at 1243.³⁵ Neither did the Indianapolis driver who was picketed at the overflow lot. Indeed, he did not even learn that the Louisville terminal had closed. He saw picket signs reading “Quickway on strike, Local 89,” and when he asked the picketers what was going on, the reply was simply, “We are on strike.” From that statement, the Indianapolis driver would have reasonably assumed that the Louisville terminal remained open, but the drivers were on strike. Moreover, there is no evidence that at the time it dispatched the Indianapolis drivers to Louisville, the Respondent knew that Louisville drivers would be picketing at the overflow lot. Absent that knowledge, the mere fact that an Indianapolis driver had contact with Louisville drivers at the overflow lot does not support an inference that in dispatching the Indianapolis drivers to Louisville, the Respondent’s *purpose* was to chill unionism at the Indianapolis terminal.

Finally, there is no evidence that any of the Respondent’s managers or supervisors discussed the closure of the Louisville terminal “with other employees or engaged in other unlawful conduct which might have established a coercive context . . . conducive to an inference of chilling intent.” *RAV v. NLRB*, 997 F.3d at 327.

Because the General Counsel failed to prove *either* that Quickway closed the Louisville terminal for antiunion reasons *or* that the decision to close that terminal was motivated by a purpose to chill unionism elsewhere, I would adopt the judge’s dismissal of the allegation that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) by closing the Louisville terminal.

B. The Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(5) by unilaterally deciding to terminate the CSA.

I would also dismiss the General Counsel’s allegation that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) of the Act when it decided, unilaterally, to terminate the CSA with Kroger, close the Louisville terminal, and permanently lay off its Louisville drivers. Contrary to my colleagues, the Supreme Court’s decision in *First National Maintenance Corp. v. NLRB*, 452 U.S. 666 (1981), compels a finding that the Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(5).

In *First National Maintenance*, the employer (FNM) provided housekeeping, maintenance, and related services to customers in the New York City area, including

Greenpark Care Center, a nursing home. Dissatisfied with the amount of the fee it was receiving from Greenpark, FNM decided to terminate the Greenpark contract, which resulted in the discharge of all 35 FNM employees who had worked under the contract. Before FNM terminated the Greenpark contract, its employees working at Greenpark selected a union to represent them. FNM refused to bargain with the union regarding its decision to terminate the contract. The Board found that FNM had thereby violated Section 8(a)(5), and the Second Circuit enforced the Board’s order. 452 U.S. at 667–672.

The issue, as defined by the Supreme Court, was whether an employer must “negotiate with the certified representative of its employees over its decision to close a part of its business.” 452 U.S. at 667. Observing that “[m]anagement must be free from the constraints of the bargaining process to the extent essential for the running of a profitable business,” the Court announced the following standard: “[B]argaining over management decisions that have a substantial impact on the continued availability of employment should be required only if the benefit, for labor-management relations and the collective-bargaining process, outweighs the burden placed on the conduct of the business.” *Id.* at 678–679, 679. With this framework in mind, the Court turned to the question presented: whether an employer has a duty to bargain over “an economically motivated decision to shut down part of a business.” *Id.* at 680.

The Court answered that question in the negative. “We conclude,” it said, “that the harm likely to be done to an employer’s need to operate freely in deciding whether to shut down part of its business purely for economic reasons outweighs the incremental benefit that might be gained through the union’s participation in making the decision, and we hold that the decision itself is *not* part of § 8 (d)’s ‘terms and conditions,’ over which Congress has mandated bargaining.” *Id.* at 686 (emphasis in original). In reaching this conclusion, the Court applied its just-announced balancing test, carefully considering the two sides’ respective needs and interests. It recognized that the union’s interest in participating in the decision “springs from its legitimate concern over job security.” *Id.* at 681. Invariably, however, the union’s “practical purpose” will be to “seek to delay or halt the closing. No doubt it will be impelled, in seeking these ends, to offer concessions, information, and alternatives that might be helpful to management or forestall or prevent the termination of jobs. It is unlikely, however, that requiring bargaining over the decision itself, as well as its effects, will

³⁵ Johnston learned more during a subsequent conference call with several Louisville drivers and a union agent, but there is no basis to infer that this call was likely to occur or that Quickway believed it was.

augment this flow of information and suggestions.” *Id.* Moreover, the union will still be able to further the interests of the employees it represents by bargaining over the effects of the closure decision, and Section 8(a)(3) affords the union direct protection against a partial closing motivated by antiunion animus. *Id.* at 681–682. The employer, on the other hand,

may have great need for speed, flexibility, and secrecy in meeting business opportunities and exigencies. It may face significant tax or securities consequences that hinge on confidentiality, the timing of a plant closing, or a reorganization of the corporate structure. The publicity incident to the normal process of bargaining may injure the possibility of a successful transition or increase the economic damage to the business. The employer also may have no feasible alternative to the closing, and even good-faith bargaining over it may both be futile and cause the employer additional loss.

Id. at 682–683.

The holding of *First National Maintenance v. NLRB* dictates dismissal of the Section 8(a)(5) allegation here. The Respondent’s decision to terminate the CSA and close the Louisville terminal was exactly the type of business decision the Court addressed in that case. And the Court’s rationale also applies here. Quickway could not provide the assurances Obermeier was demanding: if the threatened strike materialized, it could not guarantee that it would meet its obligations under the CSA, for all the reasons previously explained. The Respondent had no choice but to withdraw from the CSA, and the closing of the Louisville terminal followed inevitably. Thus, once Obermeier issued his ultimatum, Quickway “ha[d] no feasible alternative to the closing.” Moreover, Quickway had “great need for speed . . . in meeting . . . [the] exigencies” of the moment, since Obermeier gave CEO Prevost just three hours to respond to his ultimatum. Under these circumstances, bargaining over the decision to withdraw from the CSA would have been “futile.”

In addition, the Respondent believed that had it not terminated the CSA, the economic consequences could have been severe, not only for itself but also for its corporate parent Paladin, at a time when Paladin was seeking a new line of credit to finance its own and its affiliates’ day-to-day operations. The Respondent estimated that in the worst-case scenario, its losses in the short term could have run into the millions. Even if Quickway’s executives overestimated those losses, the financial consequences would have been grave. Faced with this risk, the

Respondent determined, in the judge’s words, “not to take chances on a strike by the Union if it failed to reach agreement with the Union” on December 10.

The majority does not take issue with the foregoing. They acknowledge that an economically motivated partial-closing decision is exempt from bargaining under *First National Maintenance*. They simply find that the decision to close the Louisville terminal was motivated by antiunion reasons, not economic ones. As explained at length above, I disagree.

Because the record as a whole clearly reflects that the Respondent’s decision to terminate the CSA was made for economic reasons, the Respondent had no obligation to bargain with the Union over its decision to terminate the CSA with Kroger and close the Louisville terminal. Accordingly, it did not violate Section 8(a)(5) by making those decisions unilaterally.

The majority also errs in finding that Quickway violated Section 8(a)(5) by failing to bargain over the effects of the closure decision. Quickway offered to bargain over those effects when it met with the Union on December 10, and the Union refused its offer. I recognize that as a general rule, an employer must provide the union notice of a decision before it is implemented in order to meet its effects-bargaining duty. See *800 River Road Operating Co., LLC d/b/a Care One at New Milford*, 369 NLRB No. 109, slip op. at 6 (2020) (effects-bargaining obligation “arises after the decision has been made but before it is implemented”) (emphasis in original), enfd. mem. 848 Fed. Appx. 443 (D.C. Cir. 2021). Here, however, this was not feasible. There was no decision to close the Louisville terminal until Obermeier accepted Quickway’s “resignation” from the CSA, and Obermeier did so the very day the Louisville terminal was closed. Under the circumstances, there was no time to engage in meaningful effects bargaining before the decision was implemented.³⁶ Moreover, Quickway proposed effects bargaining the very next day, and the Union plainly had no interest in bargaining over effects. My colleagues do not seriously dispute any of this. They base their finding of an effects-bargaining violation on their prior findings that Quickway’s nondiscriminatory reasons for closing the Louisville terminal were pretextual, and that Quickway violated Section 8(a)(5) by failing to bargain over the closure decision itself. For reasons already explained, those prior findings are meritless.

C. The settlement agreements must be reinstated.

I would adopt the judge’s dismissal of the allegations covered by the settlement agreements. As noted above,

³⁶ See *Raskin Packing Co.*, 246 NLRB 78, 84 (1979) (“[A]n employer is sometimes compelled by the exigencies of the situation to forthwith discontinue its business operations in a manner which precludes prior

notice and bargaining with the [u]nion regarding the effects of the decision.”).

those settlement agreements were set aside and the settled allegations reinstated on the ground that the Respondent's post-settlement closing of the Louisville terminal was unlawful. See *YMCA of Pikes Peak Region*, 291 NLRB 998, 1010 (1988) (“[A] settlement agreement may be set aside and unfair labor practices found based on [pre-settlement] conduct if there has been a failure to comply with the provisions of the settlement agreement or if [post-settlement] unfair labor practices are committed.”), *enfd.* 914 F.2d 1442 (10th Cir. 1990), *cert. denied* 500 U.S. 904 (1991). The judge found, and I agree, that the Regional Director was not justified in setting aside the settlement agreements because the Respondent's closing of the Louisville terminal was lawful. Accordingly, the settlement agreements must be reinstated, and the settled allegations dismissed.³⁷

D. The evidence is insufficient to support a finding that Terminal Manager McCurry coercively interrogated employees.

Contrary to the judge and my colleagues, I would dismiss the allegation that Louisville Terminal Manager Jeff McCurry coercively interrogated employees about their union activities. “The Act does not make it illegal per se for employers to question employees about union activity.” *Trinity Services Group, Inc.*, 368 NLRB No. 115, slip op. at 1 (2019), *enfd.* in relevant part 998 F.3d 978 (D.C. Cir. 2021). Rather, to establish a violation, the General Counsel must show that, under all the circumstances, the questioning reasonably tended to restrain, coerce, or interfere with employees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights. *Rossmore House*, 269 NLRB 1176 (1984), *affd. sub nom. Hotel Employees Local 11 v. NLRB*, 760 F.2d 1006 (9th Cir. 1985). The General Counsel simply failed to carry her burden.

The sole basis for the majority's 8(a)(1) finding here is McCurry's emails to Cannon and another manager on September 18, when agents of Local 89 were conducting a job action in front of the Louisville terminal. In his first email, McCurry stated that “union guys” were talking to the drivers and that he would “try to find out what the discussion is.” In his second email sent two hours later, McCurry stated: “As far as what [the union representatives] were discussing with drivers, all of the drivers I spoke with shut them down. The drivers that were coming in this morning were not interested in talking with the union.” McCurry's second email establishes that he spoke with drivers, but the General Counsel did not solicit any testimony from McCurry regarding what he asked or said. Likewise, no employees testified about the conversation

they had with McCurry or the circumstances surrounding the conversation. Based on such a limited record, I cannot conclude that McCurry was “seeking information upon which to take action against individual employees”³⁸ or that the totality of the circumstances supports an inference that the conversations reasonably tended to restrain, coerce, or interfere with the drivers in the exercise of rights protected by the Act. See *Hackensack Hospital Association*, 264 NLRB 1360, 1360 fn. 2 (1982) (dismissing allegation that the employer coercively questioned an employee about union literature because the question alone, “without more record evidence regarding the time and circumstances of the questioning, was insufficient to show an unlawful purpose to restrain or coerce the employee”); see also *Rossmore House*, 269 NLRB at 1177 (“To hold that any instance of casual questioning concerning union sympathies violates the Act ignores the realities of the workplace.”) (quoting *Graham Architectural Products v. NLRB*, 697 F.2d 534, 541 (3d Cir. 1983)). Accordingly, I would dismiss this allegation as well.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent made a business decision to seek release from its contract with Kroger because the ultimatum issued to it by Kroger, its main customer, left it no other choice, especially in light of its reasonable fear that a strike and resulting shutdown of the KDC could impose unacceptable costs as well as its likely fear of risking its relationship with Kroger, which was the source of 75 to 80 percent of the Respondent's revenue. Because Kroger was the only customer the Respondent serviced out of its Louisville terminal, the termination of that contract resulted, inevitably, in the closure of that terminal and the layoff of the Respondent's Louisville drivers. Under *Darlington* and *First National Maintenance*, such a decision violated neither Section 8(a)(3) nor Section 8(a)(5). Accordingly, the settled 8(a)(1) and (4) allegations, erroneously reinstated on the basis of the General Counsel's incorrect belief that Quickway committed postsettlement violations, must also be dismissed. And the evidence is insufficient to support a finding that Quickway, by Terminal Manager McCurry, coercively interrogated employees in violation of Section 8(a)(1). Because I would dismiss the complaint in its entirety, I respectfully dissent.

³⁷ Unlike my colleagues, therefore, I find it unnecessary to consider the allegations that were resolved by the settlement agreements.

³⁸ *John W. Hancock Jr., Inc.*, 337 NLRB 1223, 1224 (2002) (citing *Bourne v. NLRB*, 332 F.2d 47, 48 (2d Cir. 1964)), *enfd.* 73 Fed. Appx. 617 (4th Cir. 2003).

Dated, Washington, D.C. August 25, 2023

Marvin E Kaplan, Member

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

MAILED AND POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf

Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities.

WE WILL NOT threaten you with closure of our terminal in Louisville, Kentucky (Louisville terminal) if you select General Drivers, Warehousemen and Helpers, Local Union No. 89, affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the Union) as your representative.

WE WILL NOT instruct you to provide us with a list of employees who are involved in the Union's organizing campaign or who support the Union.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that we will lose our contract with The Kroger Company and be forced to discharge all the employees at the Louisville terminal if you select the Union as your representative.

WE WILL NOT threaten you that we will cease making contributions to your ESOP account if you select the Union as your representative.

WE WILL NOT threaten you with legal action because you file unfair labor practice charges.

WE WILL NOT coercively question you about your union activities.

WE WILL NOT cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge our employees in the bargaining unit for anti-union reasons and to chill unionism at our other terminals and at other affiliates of Paladin Capital, Inc. in circumstances where such a chilling effect is reasonably foreseeable.

WE WILL NOT fail and refuse to provide the Union notice and an opportunity to bargain regarding our decision to cease operations at the Louisville terminal and discharge all our unit employees and the effects of that decision.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights listed above.

WE WILL, within a reasonable period of time, reopen and restore our business operations at the Louisville terminal as they existed on December 9, 2020.

WE WILL, following the restoration of our operations at the Louisville terminal, offer unit employees full reinstatement to their former jobs, or, if those jobs no longer exist, to substantially equivalent positions, without prejudice to their seniority or any other rights or privileges previously enjoyed, to the extent that their services are needed at the Louisville terminal to perform the work that we are able to attract and retain from The Kroger Company or new customers after a good-faith effort, giving preference to the unit employees in order of seniority. WE WILL offer remaining unit employees reinstatement to any positions in our existing operations that they are capable of filling, with appropriate moving expenses, giving preference to the remaining unit employees in order of seniority. WE WILL, in the event of the unavailability of jobs sufficient to permit the reinstatement of all unit employees, place unit employees for whom jobs are not now available on a preferential hiring list for any future vacancies that may occur in positions in our existing operations that they are capable of filling.

WE WILL make the unlawfully discharged unit employees whole for any loss of earnings and other benefits resulting from their discharges, less any net interim earnings, plus interest, and WE WILL also make such employees whole for any other direct and foreseeable pecuniary harms suffered as a result of their discharges, including reasonable search-for-work and interim employment expenses, plus interest.

WE WILL compensate affected employees for the adverse tax consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum backpay awards, and WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region 9, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report allocating the backpay awards to the appropriate calendar year(s) for each employee.

WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region 9, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed by agreement or Board order or such additional time as the Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a copy of each backpay recipient's corresponding W-2 form(s) reflecting the backpay award.

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board's Order, remove from our files any reference to the unlawful discharges, and WE WILL, within 3 days thereafter, notify each of the employees in writing that this has been done and that the discharges will not be used against them in any way.

WE WILL, on request, bargain with the Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of employees in the following appropriate unit concerning terms and conditions of employment and, if an understanding is reached, embody the understanding in a signed agreement:

All full-time and regular part-time drivers employed by us at our 2827 S. English Station Road, Louisville, Kentucky facility and our sub-terminals located in Versailles and Franklin, Kentucky, excluding all office clerical employees, temporary employees, professional employees, guards and supervisors, as defined by the National Labor Relations Act (Act).

The certification year is extended for an additional 12 months from the date that we begin to bargain in good faith.

QUICKWAY TRANSPORTATION, INC.

The Board's decision can be found at www.nlr.gov/case/09-CA-251857 or by using the QR code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.



¹ Technically Kroger's contract was with a sister company, Quickway Logistics, which had a contract with Quickway Transportation, Inc. Both companies are affiliates of Paladin Capital.

² The Acting Regional Director approved the settlement on September 16, 2020, Jt. Exh. 5.

³ Tr. 339, line 21 should be Wayland, not Gleason.
Tr. 383, line 12, mutual should be neutral.
Tr. 406, line 12: If should be unless.

Daniel Goode, Esq., for the General Counsel.

Eddie Wayland, Seth Granda, and Stephen Stovall, Esqs. (King & Barlow), of Nashville, Tennessee, and *Keith D. Frazier, and Darius Walker, Jr., Esqs. (Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak, & Stewart, PC)*, of Nashville, Tennessee, for the Respondent.

Ed Gleason, Esq. (Branstetter, Stranch & Jennings, PLLC), of Cincinnati, Ohio, for the Charging Party.

DECISION

STATEMENT (OVERVIEW) OF THE CASE

ARTHUR J. AMCHAN, Administrative Law Judge. This case was tried via Zoom video technology on August 16, September 13-15, 16 and October 1, 27 and 28, 2021. The first charge in this matter was filed by Geoffrey Brummett on November 15, 2019. The charges related to the closing of Respondent's Louisville operations on December 9, 2020, were filed by Brent Wilson on December 15, 2020, and by the Union on February 12, 2021. The General Counsel issued a consolidated complaint on May 25, 2021.

The heart of this case involves events culminating on December 9, 2020, when Respondent, Quickway Transportation, Inc., voluntarily resigned from its carrier services agreement with the Kroger Supermarket Company for performance of services at Kroger's Louisville (KY) Distribution Center (the KDC).¹ It then discharged or laid off all its employees at the KDC and at satellite facilities in Versailles and Franklin, Kentucky. The General Counsel alleges that Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (3) and (1) in doing so. For the reasons stated below, I conclude that this complaint item must be dismissed pursuant to the U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Textile Workers Union of America v. Darlington Manufacturing Co.*, 380 U.S. 263 (1965).

The case also involves a number of alleged Section 8(a)(1) violations that occurred in 2019 and earlier in 2020. These were settled in September 2020, Jt. Exh. 5.² In light of the alleged violations committed in December 2020, the General Counsel set aside the settlement of the 2019 and earlier 2020 allegations and reinstated its allegations that Respondent's conduct violated Section 8(a)(1) and in one case Section 8(a)(4) and (1). Since the Region set aside the settlement on the basis of the alleged violation in withdrawing from Louisville, I find that the Region was not justified in setting aside the settlement and dismiss these complaint allegations as well.

However, there were several violations which emanated from materials produced by Respondent to the General Counsel pursuant to subpoenas issued in preparation for this hearing. For reasons also discussed herein I find 8(a)(1) violations that were not covered by the settlement agreement.

On the entire record,³ including my observation of the demeanor of the witnesses,⁴ and after considering the briefs filed

Tr. 898, line 22 "the president" should be "those present."

⁴ While I have considered witness demeanor, I have not relied upon it in making any credibility determinations. Instead, I have credited conflicting testimony based upon the weight of the evidence, established or admitted facts, inherent probabilities, and reasonable inferences drawn from the record as a whole. *Panelrama Centers*, 296 NLRB 711, fn. 1 (1989).

by the General Counsel, Respondent,⁵ and Charging Party Union, I make the following:

FINDINGS OF FACT

I. JURISDICTION

Respondent, a corporation with headquarters in Nashville, Tennessee, transports grocery products from facilities in many different states, including Kentucky, Indiana, Tennessee, Ohio and Michigan. Quickway Transportation, Inc. is one of several affiliates of Paladin Capital, a holding company. In the year prior to May 1, 2021,⁶ Quickway Transportation, Inc. performed services valued in excess of \$50,000 for customers outside of Kentucky. Respondent admits, and I find, that it is an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act and that the Union, Local 89 of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters, is a labor organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

II. ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES

As stated previously, Quickway Transportation, Inc. is an affiliate of Paladin Capital. It and/or other Paladin affiliates have contracts to haul groceries from Kroger facilities, as well as other companies, in various states. At some Kroger facilities, such as the one at Shelbyville, Indiana, Respondent performs services for Kroger without a contract. At some Kroger facilities, the Paladin affiliate is the primary carrier; at others it is a secondary carrier. It may also be a dedicated carrier, meaning it services only Kroger at this facility.

At the Kentucky Distribution Center (KDC) in Louisville, Quickway was a secondary carrier to Transerv [or Transervice], whose drivers were also represented by Teamsters Local 89. At most of its unionized terminals, Quickway is the primary trucking carrier. At the KDC, Quickway received orders to carry Kroger products from Transerv. JB Hunt trucking company also delivered Kroger products from the Louisville terminal. Transerv transported 50–60 percent of the Kroger product from KDC, employing about 100 drivers. Quickway employed about 60–63 drivers to transport most of the rest of the KDC product.⁷ These drivers occasionally transported Kroger product from other Quickway terminals. Local 89 also represents about 600 warehouse employees at the KDC who work for Zenith Logistics.

William Prevost, who is Chief Executive Officer of the Quickway companies and Paladin Capital, started with Respondent in 2004, as did Chris Cannon, the current vice-president of

operations. When Prevost and Cannon took over Respondent, employees at 4 of its current terminals were represented by Teamster Union locals.⁸ Respondent has maintained a relationship with those locals up to the present day, except the one in Indianapolis which was decertified in 2008.⁹ With the exception of the Louisville and Landover, Maryland terminals, none of Respondent's terminals have been organized during the tenures of Prevost and Cannon.

Quickway began servicing Kroger in Louisville in 2014. The most recent Carrier Services Agreement between Kroger and Quickway regarding the Louisville terminal was set to expire on February 3, 2021. In 2014, Quickway purchased the business of Mala Trucking company from Ed Marcellino. Marcellino stayed with Quickway as a vice-president until January 2020, when Respondent terminated him.

Quickway operated out of a facility on English Station Road which was about 9 miles from the main KDC warehouse, where the Transervice trucks were parked. The KDC warehouse employees worked for Zenith Logistics, which has a collective-bargaining agreement with Local 89, as does Transervice.

The English Station Road property was jointly leased from Lamar Properties, by Respondent and Paladin affiliate Capital City Leasing per a lease that runs from 2014 to 2024. Mechanics employed by Capital City Leasing worked out of the same facility as the Quickway drivers until February 2021, 2 months after Respondent withdrew from its agreement with Kroger and laid off all of its Louisville employees. Respondent began to attempt to sublease this property in February 2021 and succeeded in doing so in September 2021.¹⁰

Local 89 began an organizing drive at Quickway's KDC operation in the summer of 2019. Quickway's Vice President of Operations, Chris Cannon, became aware of this no later than August 2019 and most likely earlier. He instructed VP Ed Marcellino, then Quickway's senior on-site representative at KDC, that Respondent needed to find out if the Quickway drivers were being pushed to sign union authorization cards, G.C. Exh. 48.¹¹ 2019 and 2020 allegations that were settled and then vacated by the General Counsel and other evidence bearing on antiunion animus or violative conduct occurring prior to December 2020

Warren Tooley, a prounion former Quickway driver, testified about statements made on July 27, 2019, in the dispatcher's office at the KDC. Kerry Evola, then the Respondent's operations manager,¹² stated in front of several employees, that if Quickway

⁵ Respondent filed 2 posttrial briefs by different law firms. One brief addressed the allegations that were settled and in which the settlement was set aside by the Region. The other addressed the events in late 2020 leading to Respondent's withdrawal from its contract with Kroger.

⁶ Other affiliates within the Paladin Group are Quickway Carriers, Quickway Services, Quickway Logistics, which enters into contracts with companies such as Kroger to provide transportation services, Capital City Leasing (CCL) which owns the truck cabs and other equipment used by the transportation affiliates.

⁷ The KDC services 242 Kroger stores in various states.

⁸ The unionized terminals are in Livonia, Michigan (Teamsters Local 164), Lynchburg, VA (Local 171), Shelbyville, Indiana (Local 135) and Landover, MD (Local 639). The Landover terminal, which does not service Kroger, was organized in 2006. In connection with the Landover campaign, Respondent was found to have violated the Act by engaging

in the surveillance of employees' union activities, coercively interrogating employees, refusing to reinstate unfair labor practice strikers, locking out employees, engaging in direct dealing and transferring bargaining unit work by unilaterally removing employees from the bargaining unit, *Quickway Transportation, Inc.*, 354 NLRB 560 (No. 80), (2009); reaffid. 355 NLRB 678 (2010).

⁹ Teamsters Local 135 tried unsuccessfully to organize the Indianapolis terminal again in 2019.

¹⁰ Whether and under what terms Respondent could cancel the sublease are not reflected in this record.

¹¹ Marcellino reported to Cannon.

¹² Respondent either terminated Evola in June 2020 or he resigned because he expected to be terminated. Tooley currently works as a driver at the KDC for another employer.

at the KDC were to go union, that Bill Prevost, the CEO of Paladin Capital and Quickway, would shut the facility down. Evola testified that he did not make such a statement.¹³

Given his commission of documented unfair labor practices, which he could not deny, I discredit Evola's testimony and credit Tooley. Moreover, regardless of whether he heard from Prevost that Respondent would not tolerate another unionized terminal, such a statement is not inconsistent with Respondent's history. In addition to the violations alleged in the complaint, Evola photographed union stickers on the personal trucks of Quickway drivers at some point in time, Tr. 677–678.

Donald Hendricks, a former dispatcher for Quickway, testified that in August 2019, Ed Marcellino, then Quickway's vice-president of Operations,¹⁴ asked him to give Marcellino a list of union supporters at the KDC, and that he intended to put a stop to the union organizing. Marcellino denies this.¹⁵ I credit Hendricks to the extent that Marcellino asked him for a list indicating which employees were inclined to vote for unionization. This is consistent with Respondent's conduct with regard to the 2019 Indianapolis representation election. It is also consistent with Marcellino's email of August 12, 2019, in which he indicates that he is having his son spy on union activity, G.C. Exh. 48.

Warren Tooley also testified that sometime in 2019, then terminal manager Chris Higgins told employees that if Quickway employees unionized, the company would have to raise its prices and might lose its contract with Kroger. Higgins, who Respondent fired in June 2020, denies this allegation.¹⁶ I credit Tooley. Higgins' total lack of familiarity or total disregard of employee rights is evident from his interrogation of dispatcher Michael Jenkins and other dispatchers about how they intended to vote in a representation election for a bargaining unit of dispatchers, G.C. Exh. 31.

On October 10, 2019, Chris Cannon sent an email to Ed Marcellino and others which reads in part, "In recent days and weeks I have asked about any union talk and the reply has been "no talk about union". It is very apparent we still have union talk in our Louisville terminal and this needs to be addressed very quickly." G.C. Exh. 11.

On November 1, 2019, Cannon emailed other managers with regard to the representation election in Indianapolis which was scheduled later that month involving Teamsters Local 135. That email establishes that Respondent was keeping a list of each drivers' likely vote.

In a conversation secretly recorded by driver Brent Wilson, Kerry Evola told employees on January 24, 2020, that if they selected the Union as their bargaining representative, Respondent would cease making contribution to the employee stock plan (ESOP).¹⁷

Chris Higgins sent an email to Chris Cannon and HR Director Randy Harris on January 31, 2000, which attached photos of employees' private vehicles which displayed Local 89 stickers, G.C. Exh. 14. Higgins was the Quickway terminal manager in Louisville at this time. Thus, Kerry Evola was not the only

Quickway manager engaging in surveillance of employees' union activities. Since there is no evidence that either Cannon or Harris expressed disapproval of this spying, I infer they approved of it and may have authorized it.

In February 2000, Respondent considered and may have implemented discipline less severe on a driver because he "is one of the few drivers at the Louisville terminal who is not supporting the union cause." Eric Hill, a Quickway manager, wrote that "Perhaps in light of the circumstances only a written warning for this offense with probationary period and if this happens again a three day suspension followed by termination if it happens a third time. In light of the unusual circumstances with the Union." G.C. Exh. 16.

The complaint alleges that on about March 9, 2020, Operations Manager Kerry Evola told employee Brent Wilson that he was going to file a lawsuit against him. In February 2020, Wilson had filed an NLRB unfair labor practice charge alleging that Respondent, by Evola, had violated the Act. In March, Wilson recorded a conversation with Evola in which Evola told him "You said I was gonna, uh, retaliate against you if you said something to the Union, you went to the Labor Board about it, yeah you did, so, when it's all over, make sure you've got an attorney, because I'm coming back..."¹⁸

On March 11, 2020, Chris Cannon sent an email to William Prevost recommending that Quickway hire the Labor Relations Institute. Prevost approved engaging this firm. In his email, Cannon set forth the reasons for this engagement, R. Exhs. 67 and 68:

Both companies [Labor Relations Institute and another] are considered as "union busters" and have a 90% win vote for the company during the election.

The advantage of using these companies is they have the legal right to say what our company cannot say during a union campaign. During a union campaign, Quickway is restricted to not talk about the negative effects if the drivers form a union such as decreased pay and benefits, loss of business, drivers rights being taken away, any fees or penalties a driver can face from the union, etc. ... They also educate our office staff on what to say and what not to say during campaigns so we can avoid additional ULP charges.... Considering the force of the union, Randy [Harris, Paladin's HR director] and I would like the allowance to use either of the two companies to help keep our Louisville terminal non-union.

This email not only evidences anti-union animus, but indicates a willingness to violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act through the agency of LRI.

On March 22, 2020, Lori Brown, Respondent's office manager in Louisville, took notes of a conversation amongst 3 Quickway drivers about whether there were any advantages to being represented by the Union. Brown sent her notes to Chris Higgins, then the terminal manager and operations vice-president

¹³ This is alleged to be a violation of Sec. 8(a)(1) in complaint paragraph 5(a).

¹⁴ Respondent terminated Marcellino in January 2020.

¹⁵ Complaint par. 6.

¹⁶ Complaint par. 7 (a).

¹⁷ Complaint par. 7(b).

¹⁸ Complaint par. 8.

Chris Cannon. Cannon instructed Higgins as follows: “Let Lori know to observe and take notes of the conversations. She does not need to engage and ask questions as she did.” G.C. Exh. 22. At trial, the General Counsel moved to conform the pleadings to the evidence by alleging illegal surveillance on the part of Cannon.

On May 28, 2020, Chris Cannon advised subordinates as follows:

I’d like to disconnect any and all Murfreesboro drivers from picking up loads from the KDC. Any Murfreesboro driver that comes on the lot at the KDC is being approached by the union, and we certainly do not want the union to infect our Murfreesboro fleet.

G.C. Exh. 25, pg. 3.

Quickway drivers from the Kroger facility in Murfreesboro, Tennessee, as well as from Indianapolis picked up loads from the KDC, Tr. 290–292. In May 2020 Respondent shifted work from its Murfreesboro drivers to the Louisville drivers precisely for the purpose of avoiding a union campaign in Murfreesboro, G.C. 25, Tr. 1717–1718.

In June 2020, Bill Prevost suggested to Chris Cannon and Randy Harris, the Paladin HR director, that Kroger could have loads towed from the KDC to the Quickway yard in order to prevent the Teamsters from picketing at the KDC. There is no evidence whether this was explored in December 2020, as a means of limiting the impact of a strike against Quickway, G.C. Exh. 30.

On September 14, 2020, 2 drivers asked terminal manager Jeff McCurry¹⁹ if the terminal would close if the Union was voted in. McCurry responded by saying that he could not speak for Kroger but that he was unaware of any location where there were 2 union carriers at a Kroger distribution center. R. Exh. 76.

On September 18, 2020, the Union demonstrated in front of the Quickway facility at the Kentucky State Fairgrounds. The Union displayed a “Fat Cat” balloon at the site. Interim terminal manager Jeff McCurry went outside the terminal and photographed the Union representatives and the “Fat Cat.” McCurry informed his superiors, including Chris Cannon, the VP of Operations, that he would attempt to find out what the union representatives were discussing with Quickway drivers, G.C. Exh. 34.

A few hours later, McCurry reported, “as far as what they were discussing with drivers, all of the drivers I spoke with shut them down. The drivers that were coming in this morning were not interested in talking with the union,” G.C. Exh. 35. At trial, the General Counsel moved to conform the pleadings to the evidence by alleging illegal surveillance and interrogation on the part of Respondent.

On September 30, 2020, McCurry photographed the Union activity across the street from the Quickway facility again.

In October 2020, Respondent opened a new facility in Hebron, Kentucky, which is adjacent to the Greater Cincinnati airport, about a 2-hour drive from Louisville.

Events leading up to Respondent’s closure of its Louisville operations

After unsuccessfully seeking voluntary recognition on January 22, 2020, Teamsters Local 89 filed a petition to represent Quickway’s drivers on May 6, 2020, The Union won the Board mail-ballot election conducted between May 22 and June 19, 2020, by a vote of 25–17.²⁰ Respondent requested review of the election results on July 23, 2020. The Board denied the request for review on October 26, 2020, Jt. Exh. 7.

On October 27, 2020, Local 89 requested that Quickway provide dates for collective bargaining.

On November 19, 2020, Quickway and the Union had their first bargaining session. The parties reached several tentative agreements. There was no discussion of economic issues, such as wages. However, at some point, Union President Fred Zuckerman told the Quickway bargaining committee that he was “very adamant about the area standards.” Tr. 501, 510. A second bargaining session was scheduled for December 10, 2020.

The events of December 6–10, 2020

On December 6, 2020, the Union held a meeting for its members. At this meeting, the members present voted to authorize a strike by Local 89, if necessary, R. Exh. 219. Business agents Brian Trafford and David Thornsberry told employees that if there was a strike, the picket line would be honored by Transerv and Zenith employees who were represented by Local 89, Tr. 923. Trafford testified that nothing was said about when a strike might occur or that it would occur on December 10. There is no evidence to the contrary in part because I did not allow Respondent to delve into matters of which it was not aware when it terminated its contract with Kroger.

Section 17.2 of Local 89’s collective-bargaining agreement with Transervice provides:

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement, and it shall not be cause for discharge, disciplinary action or permanent replacement in the event an employee refuses to enter upon any property involved in a primary labor dispute, or refuses to go through or work behind any primary picket line, including the primary picket lines at the Employer’s places of business.

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement and it shall not be cause for discharge, disciplinary action or permanent replacement if any employee refuses to perform any service which his/her Employer undertakes to perform as an ally of an Employer or person whose employees are on strike and which service, but for such strikes, would be performed by the employees of the Employer or person on strike.

R. Ex. 22.

However, there is no evidence that any unit employee is **required** to honor a picket line. Indeed, Local 89’s proposal to Respondent specifically stated that each employee had the right to determine as an individual whether he shall refuse to go through bona fide picket line, and no employee shall be disciplined or discharged for exercising this right.

¹⁹ McCurry replaced Chris Higgins as Respondent’s Louisville terminal manager.

²⁰ Quickway was obviously very surprised at this result, R. Exh. 71.

R. Exh. 33, Article 23.

Strike benefits were authorized for Quickway employees if they went on strike and for Transerve and Zenith employees if they did not work due to their refusal to cross a Local 89 picket line.

On December 7, 2020, several television stations, WHAS11 and WDRB in Louisville received an anonymous text message. Andy Russell, an employee of WDRB advised Kroger that he could not “confirm whether the sender was involved with “the organization” just because of his email is an icloud.com email.” The communication was almost certainly sent by Donald Hendricks, a former dispatcher for Quickway. It read:

On October 26, 2020 truck drivers for Quickway Carriers, a contract carrier for Kroger grocery stores, located at 2827 S. English Station Rd., Louisville, KY had their majority vote to unionize with Teamsters local 89 as their representative was formally recognized. This was after a nearly a year of stalling and retaliatory practice implemented by Quickway Carriers against their employees.

To date the company has not negotiated in good faith and today a strike authorization was held with a unanimous decision of drivers present to strike on December 10th, 2020 if the company does not concede to the drivers negotiations efforts.

The next meeting between Teamsters Local 89, Drivers and company officials will be held at the Hilton Garden Inn 2735 Crittenden Dr. Louisville, KY starting at 0800 on December 10, 2020. At the conclusion of this meeting if company officials refuse to ratify a contract Quickway Carrier Truck Drivers in Louisville will strike.

In recognition, the Teamsters Local 89 Truck Drivers and Warehousemen who work for Transervice and Zenith Logistics which are responsible for the majority of the Kroger Transportation and 100% of warehouse operations will also strike in support of Quickway Carrier drivers.

THIS WILL SHUT DOWN KROGER DISTRIBUTION OPERATIONS IN THEIR ENTIRETY.

At least one TV station contacted Kroger about this message. Joe Obermeier,²¹ Kroger’s Vice-President of Supply Chain Operations then called Chris Cannon, Respondent’s Vice President

of Operations, about the message. There is no evidence that any news organization contacted the Union or when, or even if, the Union was aware of Hendrick’s text messages.

At 4 p.m. Central time on December 7, 2020, Chris Cannon and Joe Campbell, President and Chief Operating Officer of Paladin Capital, participated in a conference call with representatives of Kroger and Eddie Byers, the Regional Manager for Zenith Logistics. According to Campbell, Daniel Vasser of Kroger asked Byers to reach out to the Local 89 business agent for Zenith to determine whether a reserve gate could be established for Quickway at the KDC. Byers did not testify in this proceeding and there is no credible evidence that either Zenith, Transerve, Kroger or Quickway seriously explored the possibility of establishing a reserve gate at KDC in order to avoid enmeshing Zenith, Transerve and Kroger in any strike that Local 89 might call against Quickway.²²

In a December 7 or 8, conversation, Cannon and/or Prevost told Obermeier that if the Union insisted on the same terms that were contained in its collective-bargaining agreement with Transerv, that would be a problem for Quickway.²³ In that event, Cannon stated Quickway might want to be relieved of its obligations under its contract with Kroger.

On December 8, 2020, Cannon asked Obermeier to cancel Kroger’s contract with Quickway. Obermeier refused to do so, Tr. 373.

Obermeier told Cannon that Kroger would not cancel the contract and that it expected continued good service from Quickway. Ultimately, Kroger allowed Quickway to cancel its contract.²⁴

Obermeier and Cannon also discussed whether Quickway would respond to Kroger’s Request for Proposal for the contract term beginning in February 2021. Obermeier understood that a Paladin entity, other than Quickway, would respond to the RFP.

On December 9, 2009, Respondent resigned from its carrier services agreement with the Kroger supermarket chain at the Kentucky Distribution Center (KDC).²⁵ It then discharged or laid off the employees belonging to a bargaining unit of all full-time and regular part-time drivers at the KDC and the Versailles and Franklin, Kentucky sub-terminals.²⁶ Quickway continues to lease property at KDC. The vast majority of cabs Quickway used at Louisville were distributed to other Paladin affiliated

²¹ Mr. Obermeier’s name is mistranscribed as Overmeier at some places in the transcript.

²² Chris Cannon testified that he discussed the possibility of a reserved gate with Quickway counsel Mike Osterle on the morning of December 7, Tr. 1764. Zenith appears to have established a reserve gate for Quickway drivers as of 11 p.m. on December 9, after Quickway’s contract with Kroger had expired, Tr. 55.

I give no weight to the unsigned letter from Zenith counsel, A. Dennis Miller, dated December 9 for the proposition that attorney Miller discussed a strike with Local 89 business agent Trey McCutcheon. Miller did not testify. The letter is rank hearsay as I stated on the record at, Tr. 1819–1820. Moreover, it does not indicate when Miller may have spoken to McCutcheon and says nothing about Zenith employees going on strike.

²³ It is possible that Obermeier was wrong about talking to Cannon on December 7. However, I credit his testimony that Cannon and/or Prevost told him that it would be a challenge for Quickway to agree to the same terms as were contained in L89’s agreement with Transerve,

Tr. 371–372. Cannon’s testimony at Tr. 1879–1883 is consistent with Obermeier’s testimony. Cannon testified that the Transerve agreement did not fit Quickway’s business model and that it was “a far stretch” from any collective-bargaining agreement to which Quickway was a party.

²⁴ Respondent’s witnesses contradicted Obermeier’s testimony in several respects. I credit Obermeier since I see no incentive for him to fabricate his testimony and plenty of incentives for Respondent to contradict it. Moreover, the differences in the testimony of Obermeier and Respondent’s witnesses are for the most part inconsequential. It is uncontested that the initiative for cancellation of Respondent’s contract at the KDC came from Respondent, not Kroger.

If Obermeier told Prevost that Kroger would not renew its contract with Quickway, he did so after being informed that Quickway was seeking to get out of its current contract. Tr. 1332.

²⁵ This agreement was effective on February 3, 2018, and was to expire in February 2021.

²⁶ The bargaining unit consisted of about 60–70 employees.

terminals or sold if they were near the end of their shelf-life, R. Exh. 62.

Respondent met with the Union on December 10, 2020, at about 8 a.m. Respondent offered to bargain about the effects of the closing of the Quickway operation at KDC; the Union refused. The Union insisted on continuing negotiations for a collective-bargaining agreement; Respondent refused. At about noon several union business representatives picketed Quickway near the property it leased at the Kentucky State Fairgrounds. They also temporarily blocked 2 Quickway drivers from Indianapolis from leaving the Quickway facility at the Fairgrounds.

Teamster organizing activity in Indianapolis

Teamsters Local 135 conducted an organizing campaign of Quickway employees working at Kroger's Indianapolis terminal in 2019. A representation election was conducted in November 2019, which the Union lost. The Union did not file any unfair labor practice charges relating to this campaign.

On December 10, 2020, Quickway's Indianapolis terminal manager Eric Rowe dispatched 2 drivers to the KDC to pick up Quickway trailers. The drivers learned that Quickway had shut down its Louisville facility. Quickway employees at other terminals may have become aware of the shutdown, when vehicles used at Louisville were transferred to their terminals.

According to Lewis Johnston, a prounion driver at Indianapolis, this knowledge put an end to plans by Indianapolis drivers to start another organizing campaign. Johnston testified that he told Rowe, who no longer works for Quickway, about the plans for a second union campaign prior to December 9. Rowe denies this conversation took place. Johnston's conversation with Rowe is not mentioned in Johnston's June 3, 2021 affidavit. Thus, I do not credit this testimony.

Respondent's version of the events leading to the closure of its operations in Louisville

According to Respondent, only 3 people were involved in the decision to cease its operations in Louisville: Paladin/Quickway CEO Bill Prevost, Joe Campbell, President and Chief Operating Officer of Paladin Capital and Quickway Chief Operating Officer Chris Cannon. Their version of events is that Respondent did not consider ceasing operations in Louisville until Kroger advised Respondent of an inquiry from Louisville television stations regarding a strike. Kroger forwarded to Respondent the emails it had received and quoted above indicating that Local 89 would strike Quickway, and that Transerv and Zenith employees would also strike and shut down the Kroger Kentucky Distribution Center.

Up until that time, according to Respondent, it intended to negotiate with Local 89 and reach a collective-bargaining agreement. However, Respondent submits that unless it ceased operations in Louisville, it would be liable for any damage to Kroger's business and this liability would ruin not only Quickway, but all of Paladin Capital.

Respondent made no effort to contact Local 89 about the alleged strike threat. Quickway counsel Mike Osterle contacted Local 89 President Fred Zuckerman on the morning of December 8, but did not inquire about a strike threat or the information Quickway had received from Kroger regarding media inquiries, G.C. Exh. 25. Instead Respondent made, according to its

witnesses, a number of assumptions: 1) that Local 89 would go on strike on December 10; 2) that all Transerve and Zenith employees would go on strike and 3) that it would be responsible for hiring replacement workers for Transerve and Zenith and that it would be responsible for any damage to Kroger's business. Among the more radical assumptions testified to by Respondent witnesses are that they expected all drivers employed by Quickway and Transerve to pull off the road when the strike started which would allow the cargo to rot, that Respondent would lose its line of credit and insurance and that the consequences of a strike would ruin Paladin, as well as Quickway.

These assumptions were unwarranted and unreasonable for a number of reasons. The Transerv and Zenith collective-bargaining agreements did not require unit employees to honor a picket line. Article 23 of the Transerve agreement provides:

Each employee covered by this Agreement shall have the right to determine as an individual whether he shall refuse to go through [a] bona fide picket line, and no employee shall be disciplined or discharged for exercising this right.

R. Exh. 233.

Article 18.2 of the Zenith Agreement provides:

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement, and it shall not be cause for discharge, disciplinary action or permanent replacement in the event an employee refuses to enter upon any property involve in a primary labor dispute, or refuses to go through or work behind any primary picket line, including the primary picket lines at the Employer's places of business.

It shall not be a violation of the Agreement and is shall not be cause for discharge, disciplinary action or permanent replacement if any employee refuses to perform any service which his/her Employer undertakes to perform as an ally of an Employer or person whose employees are on strike and such service, but for such strikes, would be performed by the employees of the Employer or person on strike.

R. Exh. 234.

There is no reason to assume that all Quickway employees, would have gone on strike had the Union gone on strike. They certainly weren't required to do so and only 25 of Quickway's 60 employees voted to be represented by the Union; 17 voted against such representation. Similarly, there is no evidence on which to assume that all or even a substantial number of Transerve or Zenith employees would have honored a Local 89 picket line.

Secondly, Respondent has not established that Transerve and Zenith could not have avoided the impact of a strike against Quickway by establishing a reserve gate. In June 2020, Respondent contemplated having product towed from the KDC to its English Station Road facility for loading onto its trucks. There is no evidence as to why this was not feasible in December or why Respondent did not explore it. Finally, Kroger was unconcerned that a Local 89 strike against Quickway would shut down the KDC, Tr. 429-431. Kroger would have found other avenues to ensure that its stores were serviced.

Whether or not Respondent decided to terminate its contract with Kroger prior to December 8, I infer that receipt of the media

inquiry through Kroger presented Quickway with an opportunity to do what it preferred to do in any event; withdraw its recognition of the Union, terminate its contract with Kroger and lay-off all of its Louisville drivers. I infer that Respondent strongly desired not to have another unionized terminal and would have tolerated another one, if at all, only if Local 89 accepted a collective-bargaining agreement such as it had in Lynchburg, Virginia, which did not contain the area standards that Local 89 was seeking.

Finally, no credible evidence in this record supports a conclusion that Quickway's departure from Louisville was necessarily permanent., Jt. Exh. 13.²⁷ The equipment needed to service KDC is still owned by a Paladin affiliate and Quickway continues to lease the property on English Station Road.

Analysis

The starting point for analysis of a plant closure is the U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Textile Workers Union of America v. Darlington Manufacturing Co.*, 380 U.S. 263 (1965). The Court held that closing an entire business does not violate the Act, even if done for discriminatory reasons. However, a partial closing may violate the Act if motivated by a desire to chill unionism in the remaining parts of the enterprise and if the employer may reasonably have foreseen that such closing would likely have that effect.

Darlington is distinguishable from the instant case in that the Board of directors of the parent company voted to liquidate the corporation and sell all the plant's machinery and equipment. In contrast, there is nothing necessarily permanent about Respondent's withdrawal from the Carrier Services Agreement with Kroger. Respondent did not liquidate anything-other than getting rid of some trailer cabs that were at the end of their shelf life. Much of this equipment was transferred to other Quickway or Paladin operations. There is nothing to prevent Respondent from bidding on the Louisville work again or for Kroger to award the Louisville work to it again, with or without a contract.

Finally, if Respondent took or were to take more permanent steps after December 9, 2020, that preclude its return to the KDC, that would be irrelevant to whether it violated the Act. Whether its conduct violated the NLRA depends on the situation that existed on that date. Thus, the sublease of the English Station Road property is irrelevant to the resolution of this case.

Respondent's operation at Louisville was highly profitable. Respondent had hoped that with its business model it could capture the work currently done by Transervice. There is no

²⁷ On the basis of Obermeier's December 9, 2020 letter, Jt. Exh. 13, I discredit Bill Prevost's testimony that Obermeier told him that Kroger would not renew its Carrier Services Agreement with Quickway. Moreover, as demonstrated by its operations at Shelbyville, Respondent could have continued servicing the KDC without such a renewal, and even now could return to KDC without such a contract.

²⁸ Of lesser importance is the fact that Respondent did not terminate Jeff McCurry, its Louisville terminal manager, it merely reassigned him to other relatively near-by locations.

²⁹ This case is distinguishable from *First National Maintenance Corp v. NLRB*, 452 U.S. 666 (1981). In that case the employer closed part of its business because its contract with a nursing home was not profitable. That was not the situation in this case. Moreover, here the issues for which Respondent shut down its Louisville operation were amenable to

evidence that Respondent has abandoned this goal. It still holds the lease on its Louisville property until 2024.²⁸ In the absence of a Board Order finding its December 2020 conduct illegal, there is substantial incentive for Respondent to return to Louisville without any obligation to honor its former employees' organizational rights.²⁹

Despite the above, the holding in *Darlington*, which specifically allows an employer to close part of its business even if motivated by anti-union animus cannot be materially distinguished. Thus, I conclude Respondent's withdrawal from the Carrier Services Agreement did not violate the Act, *RAV Truck and Trailer Repairs, Inc. v. NLRB*, 997 F. 3d 314 (D.C. Cir. 2021).³⁰

The Board addressed the "chilling effect" exception to the Darlington rule in *George Lithograph Co.*, 204 NLRB 431 (1973). There, the Board held that the General Counsel must only prove the foreseeability of a "chilling effect" on unionization and not necessarily that the partial closing had a "chilling effect:" on the remaining employees. She must also prove that the partial closing was motivated at least in part by a desire to chill unionization in any remaining part of its business, *Bruce Duncan Co., Inc.*, 233 NLRB 1243 (1977).

Respondent's withdrawal of recognition would most clearly have a chilling effect on employees at other Paladin companies considering unionization. However, I do not think the record is sufficient to establish that this was Respondent's motivation. This record only establishes Respondent's determination not to bargain with the Union in Louisville and a determination not to take chances on a strike by Local 89 if it failed to reach agreement with the Union.

Applying the test enunciated in *Wright Line* 250 NLRB 1083 (1980), were it not for *Darlington*, I would find that Respondent violated Section 8(3) and (1) by withdrawing its services from the KDC and laying off all its Louisville unit employees. Respondent knew of the employees' union activity, bore animus towards it³¹ and took these actions to avoid bargaining further with the Union and to cease recognizing it as the authorized collective bargaining representative of these employees, *Century Air Freight*, 284 NLRB 730, 732 (1987).

Respondent does not even advance a non-discriminatory motive. Were it not for *Darlington*, I would also find that Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by not negotiating with the Union to impasse. Respondent did what it did to avoid collective bargaining, or even on the best interpretation of its motives, to avoid a perfectly legal strike. There is no credible evidence that

resolution through the collective bargaining process. Respondent left Louisville due to a concern about higher labor costs. Finally, Respondent's decision was in large part motivated by anti-union animus.

³⁰ I conclude also that the Supreme Court decision in *NLRB v. Great Dane Trailers, Inc.*, 388 U.S. 26 (1967) does not lead to a different result. First of all, I find that Respondent's withdrawal from Louisville was motivated by anti-union animus. However, under *Darlington* Respondent's conduct did not violate the Act despite its anti-union motivation and despite the fact that what it did is inherently destructive of the Section 7 rights not only of the Louisville employees, but also of the employees working for any of the Paladin affiliated companies.

³¹ As evidenced by its illegal surveillance of employees' union activities; unlawful interrogations, threats and hiring of a "union-buster" to thwart organization.

Respondent could not have addressed its concerns through perfectly legal measures, such as establishing a reserve gate at KDC, having products ferried to its facility from the KDC and hiring replacements if there was a strike.

8(a)(1) allegations covered by the September 2020 settlement agreement

As a general rule a settlement agreement with which the parties have complied bars subsequent litigation of the settlement conduct alleged to constitute unfair labor practices, *Hollywood Roosevelt Hotel Co.*, 235 NLRB 1397 (1978). However, there is an exception to the settlement bar rule where the “prior violations were unknown to the General Counsel and not readily discoverable by investigation, *Leeward Nursing Home*, 278 NLRB 1058 (1986). Since I dismiss the allegations that led the Region to set aside the settlement, I must also dismiss the complaint allegations covered by the settlement. Nevertheless, in the event that I am reversed, I am setting forth my view as to whether the General Counsel would have otherwise established these violations.

Complaint paragraph 5(a)

Respondent, by Kerry Evola, violated Section 8(a)(1) as alleged in telling employees that Respondent would close the Louisville facility if they unionized. His comments meet the test for a statutory violation set forth in *Rossmore House*, 269 NLRB 1176 (1984).

Complaint paragraph 6(b)

Respondent, by Ed Marcelino, violated Section 8(a)(1) by asking Donald Hendricks to create a list of union supporters. Asking an employee for a list of union supporters violates Section 8(a)(1), *Key Electronics*, 167 NLRB 1104 (1967).

Complaint paragraph 7

Respondent, by Chris Higgins, violated Section 8(a)(1) by telling Warren Tooley that if employees unionized, Respondent would have to raise its prices and might lose Kroger as its main customer.

Complaint paragraph 8

Respondent, by Kerry Evola, violated Sections 8(a)(4) and (1) of the Act by indicating that he was going to sue Brent Wilson for filing a unfair labor practice charge alleging retaliation by Evola and suggesting that Wilson may need a lawyer.

8(a)(1) allegations not covered by the settlement agreement

In determining whether or not an interrogation violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, the Board looks to whether under all the circumstances the interrogation reasonably tends to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights. The total circumstances of the conversation must be considered in determining whether any questioning was coercive in nature. See *Rossmore House*, 269 NLRB 1176 (1984).

I find that Jeff McCurry’s questioning of employees on September 18, 2020, violated the Act. There is no evidence that McCurry interrogated only known union supporters. In fact, I

infer he was talking to employees of whose sympathies he was unaware. Known union supporters were unlikely to provide him with the information he was seeking. The fact that the employees who spoke to McCurry disavowed interest in the Union is compelling evidence that his inquiries were coercive. Given the substantial number of employees who voted for union representation, it is highly likely that McCurry spoke to some of those employees, who gave him untruthful answers because they felt coerced.

This allegation was not plead as a violation by the General Counsel until September 15, 2021. Respondent submits that it has been prejudiced by the General Counsel’s motion on that date to conform the evidence to the pleadings regarding this allegation. Section 102.17 of the Board’s Rules give a judge wide discretion to grant or deny motions to amend complaints. The factors to be evaluated in determining whether an amendment should be allowed are (1) whether there was surprise or lack of notice, (2) whether there was a valid excuse for the delay in moving to amend, and (3) whether the matter was fully litigated, *Stagehands Referral Service*, 347 NLRB 1167, 1171–1172 (2006).

Respondent was not prejudiced by the General Counsel’s motion to amend regarding these events on September 15, 2021, Tr. 650–653. The General Counsel stated that he had not moved to amend earlier because he was unaware of the instances until he received the subpoenaed documents. I granted the amendment but stated that if Respondent could demonstrate prejudice, I would reverse my ruling. Respondent called Jeff McCurry as a witness on September 17, 2021. Tr. 986. Respondent examined McCurry about the events of September 18, 2020, Tr. 1013–1018. Respondent specifically questioned him about G.C. Exh. 35, in which McCurry indicated that he would find out what the union representatives were discussing with Quickway employees. Later, he stated that he had spoken to drivers about union activity. I have previously discredited McCurry’s testimony that he only spoke to drivers who approached him. Respondent thus had ample evidence to introduce any exculpatory evidence.³² Moreover, the violation is established by Respondent’s documentation of the interrogations.

Similarly, I find that Respondent violated the Act by Chris Cannon’s approval of Lori Brown’s documentation of employees’ conversations about the Union in March 2020 and his encouragement for her to continue doing so. The General Counsel moved to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence with regard to this conduct as well. G.C. Exh. 22. This establishes an 8(a)(1) violation on its face and was introduced into the record on September 13, 2021, Tr. 282–283. Respondent objected to the introduction of the document only on relevance grounds. Immediately after receipt of the document into the record, the General Counsel called Chris Cannon as an adverse witness. Respondent called Cannon as its witness on October 28, 2021, Tr. 1695. This was a month and a half after the General Counsel moved to amend the pleadings to allege that Cannon had violated the Act by engaging in surveillance on March 18, 2020, Tr. 650–653. Thus, Respondent had ample opportunity to elicit evidence to show that Cannon did not violate the Act as alleged.

³² The trial continued well into October.

These violations were fully litigated, *Williams Pipeline Co.*, 315 NLRB 630 (1994); *Casino Ready Mix, Inc. v. NLRB*, 321 F.3d 1190, 2000 (D.C. Cir. 2003). Thus, Respondent suffered no prejudice by virtue of the motion to conform the pleadings. Given the circumstances, I conclude that whether or not the General Counsel could have plead these violations earlier is immaterial.

The March 2020 and September 18, 2020 allegations are not covered by the settlement bar rule

While the above 2 allegations were not covered by the September 2020 settlement agreement, neither would have come to light had not the Region set aside the settlement agreement. I do not find this to be a reason for precluding a finding that Respondent violated the Act as alleged. This is particularly so since Respondent appears to have a penchant for spying on employees' union activities. It did so, as found by the Board in the Landover, Maryland case, a matter that also involved Chris Cannon and in Indianapolis as well as in Louisville.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Respondent, by Jeff McCurry violated the Act on September 18, 2020, by interrogating employees about their union activities.

Respondent, by Chris Cannon, in March 2020 violated Section 8(a)(1) by condoning prior surveillance of employees' union activities and sanctioning further surveillance.

Respondent did not violate the Act in any other respect alleged by the General Counsel.

REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in certain unfair labor practices, I shall order it to cease and desist therefrom and to take certain affirmative action designed to effectuate the policies of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent, Quickway Transportation, Inc., Nashville, Tennessee, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from
 - (a) Interrogating employees about their union activities.
 - (b) Engaging in the surveillance of employees' union activities.
 - (c) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, or coercing its employees in the exercise of their rights under Section 7 of the Act.
2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effectuate the policies of the Act.
 - (a) Within 14 days after service by the Region, Respondent shall duplicate and mail, to all current employees and former employees employed by the Respondent in or related to its Louisville, Kentucky operations on December 9, 2020, at its own expense, a copy of the attached notice marked "Appendix." on

forms provided by the Regional Director for Region 9. It shall be mailed after being signed by the Respondent's authorized representative.³³

(b) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the Regional Director a sworn certification of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

- Form, join, or assist a union
- Choose representatives to bargain with us on your behalf
- Act together with other employees for your benefit and protection
- Choose not to engage in any of these protected activities.

WE WILL NOT interrogate you about your union activities or the union activities of other employees.

WE WILL NOT engage in surveillance of your union activities or create the impression that we are doing so.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights guaranteed you by Section 7 of the Act.

QUICKWAY TRANSPORTATION, INC.

The Administrative Law Judge's decision can be found at www.nlr.gov/case/09-CA-251857 or by using the QR code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.



³³ If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notice reading "Posted by Order of the National Labor Relations Board" shall read "Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the

United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board."